

A Qualitative Exploration of Children and Young People's Experiences of the Secondary Relationships and Sex Education Curriculum

By

Sophie Nicole Cave

Thesis submitted to the University of Nottingham for the degree of Doctor of Applied Educational Psychology (DAEP)

May 2023

Word Count: 39,948

Contents

List of Tables
List of Figures
List of Acronyms7
Abstract
Acknowledgements
Chapter 1 – Introduction
1.1 Positioning and aims of the current study10
1.2 Personal and professional interest in the research10
1.3 Overview of the current study11
Chapter 2 – Context of the Literature Review
2.1 A brief history of Sex and Relationship Education (SRE)12
2.1.1 SRE in England from the late 1800s to 200012
2.1.2 Stagnation of SRE: 2000-2017 15
2.1.3 Summary of the history of SRE until 201717
2.2 Time for change 2017 – Relationships and Sex Education18
2.2.1 Working with parents and carers19
2.2.2 Role of teachers in delivering RSE
2.2.3 RSE curriculum content
2.2.4 Teaching sexual consent as part of the RSE curriculum
2.2.5 Summary of the secondary RSE curriculum in 2023
2.3 CYP views of RSE
2.3.1 Worldwide findings of school based RSE23
2.3.2 Qualitative SLR
2.4 CYP's experiences of sexual consent in schools
2.4.1 Barriers in communicating consent40
2.4.2 Effective sexual consent education
2.5 Working with adolescents – the Role of an Educational Psychologist (EP)
2.5.1 Theories of adolescent development 43
2.5.2 Advocating for the voice of CYP45
2.6 Rationale for present study
2.6.1 Research questions
Chapter 3 – Methodology
3.1 Theoretical paradigms
3.1.1 Ontological and epistemological positions48
3.1.2 Ontological and epistemology stance adopted by the researcher

3.	2 Theoretical positioning of RTA	51
	3.2.1 Alternative methodologies rejected by the researcher	53
3.	3 Evaluating the quality of qualitative research	54
	3.3.1 Researcher reflexivity	55
3.4	4. Stakeholder engagement	58
3.	5 Design – participants	58
	3.5.1 Participant inclusion criteria	58
	3.5.2 Participant recruitment	59
	3.5.3 Description of the youth group settings	59
	3.5.4 Description of participants	60
3.	6 Qualitative data collection measures	62
	3.6.1 Justification for interviews and focus groups	62
	3.6.2 Developing the interview schedule	63
	3.6.3 Carrying out the semi-structured interviews and focus groups	63
	3.6.4 Transcribing the data	65
3.	7 Ethical considerations	65
	3.7.1 Informed consent	65
	3.7.2 Confidentiality	66
	3.7.3 Anonymity	66
	3.7.4 Debriefing	67
	3.7.5 Participant protection from harm	67
	3.7.6 Right to withdraw	67
	3.7.7 Power imbalances	67
3.	8 Data analysis	68
	3.8.1 Reflexive Thematic Analysis	68
	3.8.2 Braun and Clarke's 15-point checklist	70
Chap	oter 4 – Analysis and Interpretation	72
4.	1 Chapter overview	72
4.	2 Overview of themes	72
4.	3 Research question: What are CYP's experiences of the RSE curriculum?	.74
	4.3.1 Theme 1: A conflict of interest between espoused practice and policy and a curriculum important to CYP	.74
	4.3.2 Theme 2: Current teaching practices do not align with CYP's preferred methods	80
	4.3.3 Theme 3: A perceived lack of trust, confidentiality and positive student-teacher relationships	. 85
	4.3.4 Theme 4: The classroom environment does not enable feelings of safety or comfort	89

4.4 Sub-question: How do CYP experience the teaching of consent as part of the RSE curricul	um?
	94
4.4.1 Theme 5: Do children and young people really understand consent?	94
Chapter 5 - Discussion	105
5.1 Summary of main research findings	105
5.1.1 What does the qualitative data and analytical interpretations tell us about CYP's experiences of the RSE curriculum?	105
5.1.2 What does the qualitative data and analytical interpretations tell us about CYP's experiences of teaching around sexual consent?	107
5.2 Evaluation of the current study	107
5.2.1 The researcher's positionality	107
5.2.2. Critical reflection of the participant sample	108
5.2.3. Critical reflection of the research methodology	109
5.2.4 Additional qualitative considerations for the reader	110
5.2.5 Quality of research summary	111
5.3 Implications for school staff, educators and policy makers: How can the research inform RSE pedagogy practice?	
5.3.1 When do CYP want to be taught about RSE and sexual consent?	112
5.3.2 What do CYP want to be taught as part of the RSE curriculum?	114
5.3.3 Who do CYP want to teach the RSE curriculum?	119
5.3.4 How do CYP want to be taught about RSE and sexual consent?	121
5.4 Implications for EPs: How can the research be used by EPs?	126
5.4.1 Working with individual young people	126
5.4.2 Working with parents, carers, and school staff	127
5.4.3 Working systemically at a whole school level	127
Chapter 6 – Conclusion	129
6.1 Original contributions	130
6.2 Implications for future research	131
6.3 Dissemination of findings	131
References	133
Appendices	164
Appendix 1. Rational for Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria of the Systematic Literature Review (Chapter Two – Page 24)	164
Appendix 2. Rational for Excluded Studies at Full Screening Phase of the Systematic Literature Review (Chapter Two – Page 25)	165
Appendix 3. Rational for CASP Scoring of Studies Included in the Systematic Literature Review (Chapter Two – Page 26)	167

Appendix 4. Thematic Synthesis of Descriptive and Analytical Themes Generated During the Systematic Literature Review (Chapter Two – Page 28)168
Appendix 5. Example Extract from the Researcher's Reflexive Log (Chapter Three – Page 55) 169
Appendix 6. Introductory Email Sent to Potential Youth Groups (Chapter Three – page 58) 170
Appendix 7. Introductory Letter Sent to Potential Youth Groups (Chapter Three – page 58) 171
Appendix 8. Introductory Letter Sent to Parents and Carers Outlining the Research Project (with attached privacy statement) (Chapter Three – page 58)
Appendix 9. Recruitment Poster Placed in the Youth Group Settings (Chapter Three – page 58) 174
Appendix 10. Information Sheet Given to Potential Participants Outlining the Research Project (Chapter Three – page 58)
Appendix 11. Demographic Information Gathered from Participants (the template was constructed using categories from the Office for National Statistics) (Chapter Three – page 59) 176
Appendix 12. Semi-Structured Interview Schedule Used to Guide Discussions During the Focus Groups and Interviews (Chapter Three – page 62)
Appendix 13. Written Debrief Given to All Participants After Data Collection (Chapter Three – page 64)
Appendix 14. Written Consent Form Completed by All Parents and Carers of Participant Under the Age of 16, Prior to Data Collection (Chapter Three – page 64) 180
Appendix 15. Written Consent Form Completed by All Participants Prior to Data Collection (Chapter Three – page 64)
Appendix 16. Approval of Ethics Dated 5 th May 2022 (comments were addressed) (Chapter Three – page 64) 182
Appendix 17. An Example of a Group Confidentiality Agreement Produced by Participants of Focus Group One (Chapter Three – page 65)
Appendix 18. An example extract of unannotated transcript (Chapter Three – page 70) 184
Appendix 19. Stage one: 'Familiarising yourself with the data - examples of transcribed interviews and focus groups with initial comments (Chapter Three – page 70)
Appendix 20. Stage two: ' <i>Coding'</i> – extract of codes from focus group two (Chapter Three – page 70) 191
Appendix 21. Stage two: 'Coding' – list of all initial codes (Chapter Three – page 70) 193
Appendix 22. Stage three: 'Generating initial themes' (Chapter Three – page 70) 196
Appendix 23. Stage four: 'Developing and reviewing themes' (Chapter Three – page 70) 200
Appendix 24. Stage five ' <i>Refining, defining, and naming themes</i> ' (Chapter Three – page 70) 203
Appendix 25. Dissemination letter sent to the youth group staff to distribute to parents and guardians of the young people who took part in the study

List of Tables

Table	Title	Page
1	A table to show the Critical Appraisal of Studies (2007) and Weight of	28
	Evidence A (Gough, 2007)	
2	A table to show the studies Weight of Evidence (Gough, 2007) from A-D	29
3	Overview of studies included in the Systematic Literature Review	31
4	An example of Reflexive Questions (Langdridge, 2007) captured in the	57
	researcher's reflexive log	
5	Descriptive information of the 15 participants who took part in the study	61
6	A table detailing the dates and composition of focus groups and individual	64
	interviews	
7	Six stages of Reflexive Thematic Analysis as defined by Braun & Clarke	69
	(2021)	
8	Utilising Braun and Clarke's (2021) 15-point checklist for good quality	71
	research	

List of Figures

Figure	Title	Page
1	A figure detailing the PRISMA (Moher et al., 2009) flowchart	26
2	A thematic map detailing analytical and descriptive themes	33
3	Ecological Framework of Development (adapted from Bronfenbrenner &	45
	Ceci, 1994)	
4	A thematic map of CYP's experiences of the RSE curriculum	73
5	Continuum of consent developed by Whittington (2019) as part of a	123
	participatory action study	

List of Acronyms

Acronym	Description
BPS	British Psychological Society
CASP	Critical Appraisal Skills Programme
СҮР	Children and Young People
DAEP	Doctorate of Applied Educational Psychology
DfE	Department for Education
EP	Educational Psychologist
EPS	Educational Psychology Service
GDPR	General Data Protection Regulations
LA	Local Authority
MPs	Members of Parliament
OFSTED	Office for Standards in Education, Children's Services and Skills
PRISMA	Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta Analyses
PSHE	Personal, Social and Health Education
RSE	Relationships and Sex Education
RTA	Reflexive Thematic Analysis
SEF	Sex Education Forum
SEND	Special Educational Needs and Disability
SLR	Systematic Literature Review
SRE	Sex and Relationships Education
TEP	Trainee Educational Psychologist
UNCRC	United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child
WOE	Weight of Evidence

Abstract

Over the past decade numerous concerns have been raised about the effectiveness, appropriateness and standard of secondary school-based Sex and Relationships Education (SRE) in England (Greening, 2017; Ofsted, 2013). In March 2017, then Education Secretary, Justine Greening, announced statutory Relationships and Sex Education (RSE) for all secondary school pupils (Greening, 2017). The curriculum became constitutional on 1st of September 2020 (DfE, 2019).

In view of this curriculum change, it is important to acknowledge previous literature that has recognised the importance of listening and advocating for the voice of children and young people (CYP) to promote positive sexual knowledge (Aggleton et al., 2000; Strange et al., 2006). At the time of writing this thesis, the researcher was unaware of any qualitative studies in England which had explored CYP's experiences of the RSE curriculum post reforms. As such, the researcher aimed to explore CYP's (aged 11-16) experiences of school based RSE, with an additional focus on how CYP experience the teaching of consent, as part of the RSE curriculum.

A Reflexive Thematic Analysis (RTA) (Braun & Clarke, 2006; 2021) was conducted on transcripts of three individual interviews and three small focus groups. The researcher identified five themes: A conflict of interest between espoused practice and policy and a curriculum important to CYP; Current teaching practices do not align with CYP's preferred methods; A perceived lack of trust, confidentiality and lack of positive student-teacher relationships; The classroom environment does not enable feelings of safety and comfort; and finally, Do CYP really understand consent?

Overall, findings suggested that CYP perceived current RSE pedagogy as unsatisfactory. The research has relevance for professionals working with CYP, including Educators, Health Care Professionals, Educational Psychologists (EPs) and Government Officials. The thesis concludes by discussing implications around individual and systemic support, alongside limitations and potential areas for future research.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank the wonderful DAEP tutor team at the University of Nottingham for all your support on my TEP journey. A special thank you to my academic supervisor Dr Russell Hounslow for all your guidance, supervision, and support over the last three years.

Thank you to my placement supervisors, Dr Harriet Cooper, Dr Claire Elsdon and Dr Marcos Lemos for your kind words, reassurance, and encouragement; without you my placement experience would not have been the same. I feel so lucky to have been on placement at such wonderful services and to have secured a job with a fantastic team in September. I also want to say a big thank you to Dr Catherine McKenna for offering me the opportunity to pursue research in a topic I am so passionate about.

Thank you to the youth group staff and the young people who have made this work possible. Thank you for being so honest and for sharing so many personal reflections. I hope your voices feel valued and listened too.

A huge thank you to all the brilliant ladies in my cohort. You are all amazing and I am so proud of each and every one of you. I have made friends for life and cannot wait to see what life holds for you all; from the bottom of my heart, I wish you all the best.

Finally, this journey would not have been possible without the unconditional support, love and encouragement from my family and partner. You have kept me sane, just about! Thank you for believing in me and reminding me that even when times are hard, to 'just keep swimming'.

Chapter 1 – Introduction

1.1 Positioning and aims of the current study

The current research was undertaken within the professional training for the Doctorate in Applied Educational Psychology (DAEP) at the University of Nottingham. To date, there have been very few qualitative studies in England which have explored CYP's experiences of school-based RSE. Previous studies which have attempted to obtain the views of CYP either predate the reformed statutory RSE curriculum or focus heavily on sexual health and sexual violence.

Through a critical realist paradigm, the current research aimed to explore CYP's (aged 11-16) experiences of school-based RSE in England, with an additional focus on how CYP experience the teaching of consent, as part of the RSE curriculum. The study reflects current legislation and national policy around RSE, and is believed to be the first to explore CYP's experiences post-reforms (DfE, 2019a).

1.2 Personal and professional interest in the research

RSE has become an area of interest to the researcher since working as a Trainee Educational Psychologist (TEP). As a TEP the researcher has had numerous conversations with schools around how the curriculum is offered to young people, particularly those who may find school attendance challenging. Ensuring CYP have access to comprehensive RSE, has been at the forefront of many of the researcher's consultations and systemic tasks as a TEP.

Within a wider societal context, there appear to be increasing discussions around RSE in schools. The RSE curriculum has received increased media attention due to concerns held by anti-RSE lobbyists, concerned adults and some politicians. As such, the curriculum has received increased attention from the Department for Education (DfE), who have called for a review of RSE in 2023.

The literature recognises that young people often feel disconnected from policy makers because they are rarely given the opportunity to share their views about topics pertinent to them. As a TEP, whose role is to empower and advocate for the voice of young people, the researcher felt the thesis would allow the voice of the child to be heard by a wealth of educators and professionals. Throughout the process the researcher has engaged in reflexive journaling. Reflexive comments have been presented throughout the study in line with a critical realistic positioning. Reflexivity has enabled the researcher to share her own personal experiences, while acknowledging how her own preconceptions may have informed the way in which she understood and interpreted the young people's stories.

1.3 Overview of the current study

Chapter One: presents a contextual summary of the research and provides the reader with an overview of the chapters to follow.

Chapter Two: presents a summary of the historical background of the RSE curriculum, dating from the late 1800s to current day practice. Contextual information demonstrates how the current curriculum has been shaped by legislation and policy. A qualitative systematic literature review then follows. The chapter concludes by discussing the importance of working with CYP.

Chapter Three: provides a methodological account of the researcher's ontological and epistemological positioning which informed the research design. The researcher provides a description of the qualitative methods and measures adopted to ensure a high-quality, ethical, research study. Details of data collection and analysis using Braun and Clarke's (2006, 2021) RTA are presented.

Chapter Four: presents the researcher's analytical interpretations of the data gathered during three individual interviews and three small focus groups. The researcher presents an analytical account of the findings, where themes and subthemes are presented alongside literature presented in Chapter Two.

Chapter Five: concludes by presenting a summary of the research findings within a wider discussion. The thesis concludes by outlining limitations of the current study, as well as potential implications for practice, and recommendations for future research.

Chapter 2 - Context of the Literature Review

The chapter will begin by providing a summary of the historical background of the RSE curriculum. The researcher has chosen to summarise the development of the curriculum in order to ensure the reader has a comprehensive understanding of how RSE is situated within Government legislation and policy. The chapter will discuss the reformed RSE curriculum introduced to England in September 2020, (DfE, 2019a) and explain how 'sexual consent' and 'healthy sexual relationships' are now an integral part of RSE. The historical background will contextualise the aims and research questions of the current study.

A qualitative systematic literature review will be presented, which answers the question: What can the literature tell us about secondary aged CYP's (11-16 years old) experiences of school based RSE in England? The synthesis includes findings from four relevant studies and presents discussions within wider literature. A qualitative literature review was favoured as qualitative data has been previously successful in providing detailed first-hand accounts of what CYP find helpful about school based RSE (Blake, 2008).

The chapter will conclude by summarising what is already known within existing research while outlining where additional research is required. This will allow the researcher to situate the current study within a wider contextual stance, while drawing on theories of adolescence and highlighting the importance of working with, and advocating for, the voice of young people.

2.1 A brief history of Sex and Relationship Education (SRE)

The following section will provide a narrative of the timeline of SRE. The purpose of this section is to situate the development of the SRE curriculum within a Government agenda by considering how CYP have previously received school based SRE.

2.1.1 SRE in England from the late 1800s to 2000

As it was first termed, 'Sex Education', became part of the political agenda in the late 19th and early 20th century. At the time, Sex Education programmes focused primarily on physical sexual hygiene (Mort, 2002; Weeks, 1986) following concerns around poor public health and safety (Pilcher, 2004). One of the earliest calls for school based SRE was recorded in the 1870's (Hall, 2004).

During World War One (1914-1918), then Government encouraged parents and carers to take responsibility for providing Sex Education as there was a lack of funding to run comprehensive educational schemes (Hall, 2004). Within schools, Sex Education was solely delivered as part of the biology curriculum, with content focusing on preparing CYP for marriage and parenthood (Pilcher, 2004).

World War Two (1939-1945) further delayed a formalised SRE curriculum (Pilcher, 2004). Although lack of funding halted the implementation of an SRE curriculum, the importance of such a curriculum was beginning to gain attention (Thomson, 1994). In response to a soaring number of sexually transmitted diseases (Jones, 2011a), the Government published guidance on '*Sex Education in Schools and Youth Organisations*' (Board of Education, 1943). The document shifted the narrative from parental responsibility to school responsibility. It outlined that teachers must deliver age appropriate SRE, with a focus on mutually respectful relationships and sex once married.

Unfortunately plans to reform SRE were halted in 1947 when the Labour Government dissolved and the funding body required to support the reforms (The Central Council for Health Education) redacted responsibility.

In the 1950's and 1960's attitudes to Sex Education began to change and there was a greater emphasis on schools taking responsibility for providing specific sex education. Documentation including the 'Handbook of Health Education' (Ministry of Education, 1956) and the 'Health Education Handbook' (Department of Health and Science, 1968) were published. The documents emphasised the importance of educating CYP about reproduction, puberty and contraception. The documentation also began to destigmatise premarital sex and encouraged CYP to discuss the social and emotional investment of sex.

The 1970's saw a surge in sexual health campaigns. Sex Education lessons were delivered by the UK Family Planning Association, commissioned by the Government, (Hall, 2004; Carabine, 2004) and CYP were taught in same sex classes. A particularly progressive curriculum was proposed in '*Health Education in Schools*' (Department of Education and Science, 1977). The document included themes of masturbation and same-sex relationships, and recognised the importance of sex being for pleasure as well as for reproduction. Parents

were discouraged from withdrawing CYP from Sex Education in a bid to prevent misinformation.

The 1980's saw educators and parents divided over the teaching of Sex Education. Some political groups lobbied for increased parental rights to withdraw CYP from SRE lessons, while liberal factions fought for a statutory SRE curriculum (Hall, 2004). The 1986 Education Act (DfE, 1986) positioned school staff and governors as responsible for outlining individual school's SRE curriculum (Haberland & Rogow, 2015). While there were greater opportunities for CYP to be taught more liberal ideas, schools were unable to offer a comprehensive Sex Education programme, as the Conservative Government passed legislation banning the 'promotion' of same-sex relationships (Section 28).

In the 1990s, the DfE the Sex Education Forum (SEF) to explore how SRE was being delivered in schools. The DfE found widespread uncertainty amongst school staff and governors as to how SRE should be positioned within the National Curriculum (Jones, 2011b). The report concluded that there were inconsistencies across schools resulting in CYP receiving SRE lessons of differing quality and quantity (Scott & Thomson, 1992). For many the SRE was deemed to be marginalised (Jones, 2011b).

In an endeavour to resolve these discrepancies, in 1996 a comprehensive formalised Sex Education programme was brought to the National Curriculum (DfE, 1996). Biological elements of Sex Education were made obligatory in secondary schools (DfE, 1993; Jones, 2015), while science lessons taught CYP about sexually transmitted diseases. Whilst the curriculum was being formalised, parental capacity to withdraw CYP from SRE lessons was reinstated (Denman et al., 1994).

In 2000, the Labour Government published the 'Sex and Relationship Education Guidance' (Department for Education and Employment, 2000), which proposed that schools should provide SRE within the non-statutory Personal, Social and Health Education (PSHE) curriculum. The guidance recommended that schools teach not only biological elements of sex, but also provide information relating to relationships, sexual health and sexuality (Alldred & David, 2007). The curriculum's four main goals included: (1) supporting CYP to develop confidence and responsibility; (2) preparing CYP to become active citizens; (3) ensuring CYP have safe and happy lifestyles; (4) supporting CYP to develop relationship skills

14

and to respect individual differences. The document proposed that '*effective sex and* relationships education is essential if young people are to make responsible and wellinformed decisions about their lives' (DfEE, 2000:2).

The Labour Government suggested that effective SRE was to be delivered through a 'whole school approach' (DfEE, 2000:9). The role of parents and carers was emphasised, while the Government acknowledged that teachers and educators needed appropriate support and training to ensure the curriculum was responsive to CYP's individual needs. For the first time, cultural appropriation was noted, acknowledging that CYP should be taught about a wealth of diverse family backgrounds (DfEE, 2000:12). The guidance also complimented media campaigns at the time, by aiming to address high levels of teenage relationship abuse, by teaching CYP how to maintain healthy relationships.

2.1.2 Stagnation of SRE: 2000-2017

Over the following 17 years, developments in the SRE curriculum appeared to stagnate. While there were no revolutionary reforms to constitutionalise SRE, there were several legislative and policy developments which may have impacted upon how SRE was taught in schools.

Children's safeguarding became a prominent part of the education agenda in the early 2000s. The Education Act 2002 (Education Act, 2002) and the document '*Keeping Children Safe in Education*' (DfE, 2016) demonstrated the need for schools to take on greater safeguarding responsibilities. An extensive restructure of children's services took place at a national and local level because of the '*Every Child Matters*' green paper (Chief Secretary to the Treasury, 2003) and in 2003, schools were deemed 'allowed' to teach same sex relationships. CYP rights around sexual orientation were later protected by the 2010 Equality Act (DfE, 2014b); these reforms felt progressive and pertinent.

2.1.2.1 Issues with positioning SRE within PSHE

Towards the end of 2008, a '*Review of Sex and Relationships Education in Schools*' was published (External Steering Group for the DfE, 2008). While the report was welcomed by the Government, it failed to make SRE or PSHE a statutory part of the education curriculum. The review highlighted that educators felt it was difficult to position SRE in schools, as content had to be integrated into the wider PSHE curriculum. Teachers felt limited by the time and resources that could be spent on delivering important content which would help to upskill and protect CYP (Macdonald, 2009). The Children, Schools and Families Act (DfE, 2010), continued to highlight the importance of SRE as a standalone part of the curriculum. The Act suggested that CYP should receive a minimum of one year's taught SRE, before leaving school.

In 2013, the DFE commissioned a consultation on PSHE (DFE, 2013a). The commission highlighted inconsistencies in the pedagogy of PSHE and SRE across school settings. Disparities across schools were noted within the wider literature, with a lack of mutual understanding by teaching staff regarding the purpose of PSHE and SRE (Formby et al., 2011). In an attempt to address differing levels of education, the PSHE Association was provided with funding to upskill teachers and ensure high quality pedagogy practices. While funding was available, the DFE continued to suggest that SRE should be non-statutory, to allow for a flexible teaching programme (DFE, 2013a). At the time, these recommendations reflected the views of many parents, who argued that they had a primary responsibility for providing their children with information on sex and relationships.

2.1.2.2 2013 Ofsted Report – 'Not Good Enough Yet'

In July 2013, the Office for Standards in Education, Children's Services and Skills, conducted a report titled '*Not Yet Good Enough*' (Ofsted, 2013). The article evaluated the quality of school based SRE in England. The report concluded that a third of school based SRE was 'inadequate'. Inconsistencies across schools were found, which many proposed was due to a lack of structure in the SRE curriculum. Ofsted determined that CYP were unprepared for emotional and physiological changes. They reported that in secondary schools, the curriculum failed to acknowledge topics such as 'healthy sexual relationships' and 'staying safe', and unlike other academic subjects, there was no method of tracking CYP's progress in school based SRE.

2.1.2.3 Inadequate SRE

Similar conclusions about the quality of SRE have been drawn by academics and researchers. Jackson and Scott (2004) and Welling and Johnson (2013) concluded that the quality of SRE varies across the United Kingdom, with CYP in the most vulnerable areas of the country receiving the poorest education. It has been suggested that financial constraints are a limiting factor for CYP accessing appropriate education (Alldred & David, 2007; McGeeney, 2013). In 2013, Coy and colleagues (Coy et al., 2013) concluded that SRE failed

to provide CYP with a safe and reflective space to discuss thoughts around sex and relationships.

The quality of SRE was discussed in Parliament by Baroness Gould of Potternewton (Children, Schools and Family Bill, 2010). The debate highlighted that the current provision failed to provide age appropriate, high quality SRE. It was felt that CYP were excluded from discussions around curriculum content, and Baroness Gould suggested that a new curriculum was needed to address issues that CYP felt were pertinent to their lives. Over the next few years, the Home Affairs Committee lobbied to make PSHE compulsory, while the SEF campaigned for statutory SRE.

In a bid to try and offer support on how to teach topics including, but not limited to, sexual abuse, sexual consent and healthy relationships, the PSHE Association published guidance titled '*Sex and Relationship Education for the 21st Century*' (Brook et al., 2014). The guidance emphasised that further work was needed to ensure SRE was inclusive for all CYP, including those with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) (Murphy, 2016). This felt pertinent as it had been suggested that some CYP with SEND may have less knowledge about sexual issues (Murphy & O'Callaghan, 2004) and as such may need additional education to ensure they can navigate appropriate relationships in adulthood (Martinello, 2015; Westminster Education Forum, 2018). The guidance also suggested that SRE should enable CYP to develop 'positive vocabulary' and skills to stay healthy and safe. For SRE to be successful the guidance recommended that teaching of SRE should be part of a whole school agenda and wider curriculum.

2.1.3 Summary of the history of SRE until 2017

Thus far, the researcher of the current study has attempted to outline the historical background of SRE up until 2017. While external steering groups for the DfE, academics, researchers and professional bodies such as Ofsted and the SEF have recommended the need for an inclusive and comprehensive SRE delivered by educated professionals, in partnership with parents, thus far the responsibility and monitoring of such a curriculum has been left to individual schools. It is understood by the researcher of the current study, that such flexibility has left school staff uncertain as to how SRE is situated within PSHE and the wider school curriculum.

Some academics and policy makers have suggested there are benefits to constitutionalising the SRE curriculum. Arguments for a statutory SRE curriculum have included streamlining the curriculum content and teaching practices to ensure all children receive an education of high quality. Those who have argued against constitutionalising the SRE curriculum have instead suggested that educators should continue to have autonomy in defining what is taught as part of the curriculum and how it is taught.

In a bid to clarify whether the SRE curriculum should be statutory, an inspection of school based SRE was conducted by the Conservative Government in 2017. Members of Parliament (MPs) were invited to vote on whether SRE should become compulsory in schools in England. The reforms were announced by Education Secretary Justine Greening in March 2017 (Greening, 2017). The vote enforced statutory 'Relationship Education' in primary and secondary schools, and statutory 'Relationships and Sex Education' in all secondary schools.

The following section of this chapter will therefore present an outline of the reformed 'Relationships and Sex Education' curriculum. To reflect the reforms, the researcher has adopted the acronym 'RSE' throughout the rest of the study. The section will begin by contextualising the new reforms within legislation and policy. The researcher will discuss the rights of parents and carers, as well as the role of teachers in delivering the RSE curriculum. The researcher will begin to discuss the RSE curriculum while drawing the reader's attention to teaching on sexual consent (an integral part of reforms). The researcher has chosen to present the literature in this way to introduce the reader to key topics explored as part of the aims of the current study. In brief, the current study aims to explore CYP's experiences of school based RSE and the teaching of consent as part of this curriculum. The study's aims and rationale will be discussed further in section 2.6.1.

2.2 Time for change 2017 – Relationships and Sex Education

In 2017 MPs voted for or against constitutionalising the RSE curriculum; those in favour of statutory RSE won the vote. '*The Relationships Education, Relationships and Sex Education and Health Education (England) Regulations 2019*' were expected to be made constitutional in September 2019, however as Government advisors did not meet the timescales outlined, legalities were delayed until 1st September 2020 (DfE, 2021)

The Government aligned RSE as part of the broader PSHE curriculum under the '2017 *Children and Social Work Act*' (2017). The reforms aimed to set out a 'comprehensive programme of engagement', which included 'age-appropriate subject content' through 'high-quality teaching' (Greening, 2017). The reforms were supported by medical and health care professionals, teaching unions and the Police (PSHE Association Strategic Partners Group, 2018). The reforms aimed to address societal pressures and reflect timely world issues. Academics and policy makers hoped that statutory RSE would; (1) ensure teachers received appropriate training to deliver a comprehensive RSE curriculum (a minimum of 10 hours initial training); (2) allow appropriate time to be allocated for the delivery of RSE in schools; (3) standardise the consistency of pedagogy practices though regulatory systems such the Ofsted inspection framework (World Health Organisation, 2010).

2.2.1 Working with parents and carers

The reforms outlined parents' and carers' rights within their child's education. The new reforms stipulated that parents and carers are unable to remove CYP from statutory subjects (Health or Relationship Education) or from topics covered in Biology (e.g., reproduction) (DfE, 2019a). Within the primary school setting, children can be withdrawn from Sex Education, however in secondary schools, consent for removing CYP requires agreement from the Headteacher until three school terms before the YP turns 16. When the YP turns 16, it is their right to decide whether they wish to take part in Sex Education.

The new reforms have resulted in some backlash from parents and carers, particularly those whose children attend primary school settings. Within the media there have been reports that parents are concerned around the content of the curriculum, suggesting it is not age appropriate (BBC News, 2023). While the reforms have received critique from some parents and MPs (BBC News, 2023) academic research supports the new reforms, highlighting that good quality RSE encourages safe and healthy relationships, as well as reducing risky behaviours in teenagers (Blake & Jolly, 2002) (see section 2.5.1). In response to such concerns, the DfE have published guidance for teachers on how to explain the new reforms to parents and carers and have suggested that parents should be involved in the creation of school RSE policy documents (DfE, 2019b).

2.2.2 Role of teachers in delivering RSE

Over the years, RSE has been delivered by a wealth of professionals, including those in education and health (Pilcher, 2004), leaving Government officials questioning who should take responsibility for delivering RSE (Hampshire, 2005). Alldred (2018) suggested that youth workers, instead of teacher and health professionals, hold a unique position as they can offer informative, youth-centred conversations about sex and relationships. Although research exists which suggests external educators are preferable, the current reforms place the onus on teachers to deliver statutory school-based curriculum content.

To support teachers and educators, the DfE have published guidance on how to plan and structure lessons (DfE, 2020) and have produced materials for senior leadership staff on how to train teachers to deliver the curriculum (DfE, 2021a). Additional resources and guidance have also been made available for teachers through the PSHE Association (PSHE, 2018) and the NSPCC. Example resources include: 'It's Not OK' - a resource to support CYP aged 11 years and older to identify elements of both positive and unhealthy relationships; 'Love Life' - a differentiated resource for CYP with SEND; and 'AGENDA' - a campaign based on principles including social justice, inclusivity, equality and children's rights.

2.2.3 RSE curriculum content

As alluded to in the literature above, there has been, and continues to be, contention around what is deemed 'appropriate' and 'moral' to teach CYP as part of RSE. Some academics suggest that RSE should encourage abstinence by teaching CYP to deny sexual impulses (Hirst, 2004) while others argue that RSE should provide a safe environment for CYP to acquire sexual knowledge (Hottois & Milner, 1975; Pilcher, 2004; Thomson, 1994).

It could be inferred from the literature and policy guidance, that up until 2017, the curriculum content for secondary aged pupils adopted a moralistic stance in which abstinence was encouraged. This is evidenced by documentation published in 2000 (DfEE, 2000) which repeatedly emphasised marriage as a 'building block for community and society' and suggested that delayed sexual intercourse may prevent unplanned pregnancies.

Conversely, the reformed curriculum appears to be more progressive, aligning closer to the Education Act (Education Act, 2011). The reformed curriculum covers five main themes: 'Families and people who care for me', 'Caring friendships', 'Respectful relationships', 'Online relationships', and 'Being safe'. The curriculum aims to educate CYP about; (1) family life, raising children, marriage, and civil partnerships; (2) establishing and preserving relationships; (3) elements of healthy and safe relationships; (4) how relationships may impact on wellbeing, mental and physical health. The curriculum has been designed sequentially, with key themes and messages taught in primary schools later developed in secondary school. The sequential nature of the curriculum reflects wider literature which recognises the importance of providing an education which reflects the age and maturity of CYP, so CYP can make educated and informed sexual decisions (Thomas & Aggleton, 2016).

The new curriculum also appears to be sensitive to the individual needs of a greater number of CYP. The guidance reflects the 2010 Equality Act (DfE, 2014b), emphasising that schools should deliver age-appropriate content which is sensitive to the individuals needs of CYP. It encourages teachers and educators to use resources which reflect a range of cultures, races, disabilities, gender identities and sexualities. Unlike previous legislation, it appreciates and celebrates different family compositions, such as adoptive parents, foster carers and same sex parents (DfE, 2019a).

2.2.4 Teaching sexual consent as part of the RSE curriculum

As part of the new RSE curriculum, it is now mandatory to teach consent and healthy sexual relationships to secondary aged CYP (Greening, 2017). The integration of consent within the curriculum feels timely, as it reflects the social and sexual landscape of CYP, and recent movements such as #MeToo and #Timesup, which have placed issues such as sexual harassment and consent in the political and public eye (Whittington, 2019b).

Teaching consent as part of the RSE curriculum has been recognised as a progressive step although its' importance and relevance has been raised by researchers, academics and professional bodies for several years (Carmody, 2015; Gilbert, 2018). In 2014, the PSHE Association, Brook (a charity who support CYP with sexual health and wellbeing), and the SEF published guidance which suggested that CYP should be 'taught all aspects of the law and sexual consent' (Brook et al., 2014). The document proposed that CYP should 'get' rather than 'give' consent, and that 'mutual consent' should be sought through 'positive and active communication'. Within schools, teaching should go beyond consent as a binary 'yes' or 'no' and instead explore the nuances and ambiguity around the process of sexual negotiation (these themes will be explored further in section 2.4.1). Recommendations to teach about consent were also raised by Coy and colleagues (Coy et al., 2013). Their study gathered information from CYP through individual interviews, focus groups and online surveys. Their report published specific recommendations on how to improve CYP's understanding of sexual consent by: (1) ensuring CYP understand the meaning of consent through the RSE curriculum; (2) understanding that consent goes further than saying 'yes' or 'no', (3) working with adolescents around boundaries of consent, and (4) working with CYP to understand the consequences of sharing sexual images without consent.

The reformed RSE curriculum attempts to address these recommendations by ensuring secondary aged CYP have a comprehensive understanding of how to communicate consent, interpret consent, and navigate sexual situations (Brady & Lowe 2020; Bragg et al., 2020; DfE, 2019a; Harris, 2018; Whittington, 2021). The RSE curriculum is considered to play a significant role in CYP's understanding of consent (Setty, 2021). Consent will be explored further within section 2.4.

2.2.5 Summary of the secondary RSE curriculum in 2023

Within this section of the chapter, the researcher has presented information on the reformed RSE curriculum. Teaching of RSE is now a statutory requirement for secondary schools as part of the wider PSHE curriculum. By situating RSE within PSHE, the ambiguity of the curriculum recognised within the first section of the chapter (pre-2017) has been addressed. The statutory reforms have recognised and outlined the responsibility of teachers in delivering a comprehensive and inclusive curriculum which should teach timely topics such as sexual consent and healthy relationships. The reforms have also clarified the rights of parents, carers and YP over the age of 16 in accessing RSE.

Thus far the chapter has provided a historical overview of the development of RSE. The voice of educators, advocates, researchers, policy makers and parents has been captured within these sections, however thus far, there has been little recognition of the voice of CYP. The following section will therefore aim to give a voice to the CYP who are in receipt of school based RSE.

2.3 CYP views of RSE

The follow section of this chapter will give voice to the CYP who are in receipt of school based RSE. Understanding the experiences of CYP is important when attempting to inform

good quality RSE (Elia, 2000). The section will begin by summarising two worldwide syntheses in the literature, to contextualise CYP's voices within a global setting. A qualitative, Systematic Literature Review (SLR) will then follow answering, 'What can the literature tell us about secondary aged CYP's (11-16 years old) experiences of school based RSE in England?'

2.3.1 Worldwide findings of school based RSE

In 2016, Pound and colleagues (Pound et al., 2016) conducted a synthesis of 55 qualitative studies from around the world. The synthesis included studies from the UK and Ireland, as well as Australia, New Zealand, the USA, Canada, Japan, Sweden, Brazil and Iran. Participants included those in full time education (4-19 years old) as well as young adults under the age of 25. By undertaking an inductive, interpretive meta-ethnography, the researchers arrived at two overarching conclusions. Firstly, they concluded that schools failed to recognise the unique and complex nature of RSE. Secondly, they concluded that educators denied that some CYP were sexually active. In line with findings from the Ofsted 2013 report, CYP voiced that the curriculum content did not reflect their lived experiences. CYP voiced that the curriculum content was often gendered, heterosexist and negative, with few opportunities to discuss consensual, healthy relationships and positive sexual experiences. Male students appeared to feel that they had to conceal a lack of sexual experiences, while females were at risk of sexual harassment if they participated in lessons. CYP generally felt unable to speak to staff due to lack of anonymity. CYP favoured delivery of RSE by 'experts'. Non-teaching staff were preferable as they could set clear boundaries and address 'embarrassing' topics that school staff appeared hesitant to deliver. Largely CYP also felt their teachers were 'unskilled'.

In 2019, McCann and colleagues (2019) conducted a review of papers which had focused specifically on the experiences of CYP with SEND. Their review included 1 paper from the UK, as well as papers from the USA, Australia, Ireland and Sweden. They concluded that in general, CYP with SEND benefited from RSE. However, while some CYP felt that RSE improved their knowledge and decision-making capacities, for some, the abstract nature of RSE meant accessing already complex and sensitive topics became increasingly challenging. Similarly, to Pound and colleagues (2016), the review highlighted that there were few opportunities for CYP to explore the fundamentals of positive and meaningful relationships,

and few opportunities for educators to measure outcomes and the improvement of knowledge.

The findings from these two worldwide syntheses highlight the importance of school based RSE in supporting CYP to acquire sexual knowledge. As schools are uniquely positioned to provide a safe and supportive environment, the school setting is thought to be the ideal place to support CYP to navigate their sexual views and preferences (Mercer et al., 2013). However, the findings from these syntheses suggest that current provision regarding RSE across the globe requires some improvement (Department of Health, 2013; Martinez & de Meza, 2007). It is important CYP receive a comprehensive RSE education, so they are able to make well informed and responsible sexual decisions (DfEE, 2000).

While there have been several worldwide systematic reviews which have summarised the views of CYP regarding their RSE, to date, the researcher of the current study is unaware of any systematic reviews which have focused explicitly on the experience of secondary age students (aged 11-16) in England. The researcher conducted scoping searches of the literature, using commonly accepted psychology and education databases to validate this conclusion. To inform the aims and research questions of the current study, the researcher has chosen to summarise what is already known about this unique population by conducting a qualitative SLR. As the current study will explore the experiences of secondary aged pupils, literature gathered within this review will be used to inform the current research findings.

2.3.2 Qualitative SLR

2.3.2.1 Objectives

A SLR was conducted to better understand CYP's (aged 11-16) perceptions and experiences of school based RSE in England. Qualitative studies were favoured for the review as qualitative data has been previously successful in providing detailed first-hand accounts of what CYP find helpful about school based RSE (Blake, 2008). Qualitative studies were also favoured as they offer a platform for CYP to be heard; advocating and empowering for the voice of CYP within RSE research is particularly important as CYP's voices are often thought to be marginalised within this area of research (Aggleton et al., 2000; Strange et al., 2006). The importance of CYP's voices will be discussed later in the chapter (see section 2.5.2).

2.3.2.2 Research Question

The researcher aimed to address to following research question: What can the literature tell us about secondary aged CYP's (11-16 years old) experiences of school based RSE in England?

2.3.2.3 Methods

A systematic review of the literature was undertaken, following the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) guidelines (Moher et al., 2009). The researcher searched four main databases in July 2022. The four databases were selected as they offered journals within the fields of Psychology and Education. The databases were: Education Resources Information Centre (ERIC), Web of Science, PsycINFO and Sociological Abstracts. An additional hand search was conducted using the 55 papers included in Pound and colleagues' (2016) review.

2.3.2.4 Inclusion Criteria

The inclusion criteria required:

- I. primary research published between 2000 and 2022 within peer-reviewed journals
- II. studies conducted in England and written in English
- III. studies which focused on CYP's (secondary school aged, 11-16 years) perceptions of the school based RSE
- IV. qualitative data collected directly from CYP

Rationale for the inclusion and exclusion criteria can be found in Appendix 1.

2.3.2.5 Search Strategy

The following search terms were applied to address the range of terminology used to describe school based RSE. Studies were selected by combining terms using the 'AND' or 'OR' operator. An asterisk was used to retrieve words with alternative endings. Since the initial search brought many unrelated studies, search terms were also grouped using speech marks. Papers were limited to include search terms identified within the abstracts and/or title of the articles.

"sex* and relationship* education" OR "relationship* and sex* education" OR "sex* education" OR "relationship* education" OR "sex* health education"

AND "child*" or "young people*" or "adolescen*" or "teenager*"

AND "UK" or "Engl*" or "Brit*"

2.3.2.6 Data Extraction

The search criteria followed the PRISMA flowchart, see Figure 1. A total of 481 articles were identified from four databases and from the hand search. Once duplicates were removed using the referencing software EndNote, 370 articles remained. Titles and abstracts were screened based upon the predefined inclusion criteria. A further 334 articles were excluded, leaving 36 for full text screening. Studies were excluded if they:

- focused explicitly on RSE in relation to sexual activities, intimate relationships, teenage pregnancy, sexual health behaviours, sexual violence, consent or HIV/AIDS
- II. evaluated an RSE intervention or programme
- III. explored teacher, parent, peer or school nurse perceptions
- IV. included CYP under 11 years and over 16 years (e.g., studies where participants were aged 13-18 and data could not be separated by age were also excluded)
- V. did not generate qualitative data
- VI. used data collected from the same data set

An additional 32 articles were excluded (for rationale see Appendix 2), leaving four papers which met the inclusion criteria.

Figure 1. A figure detailing the PRISMA (Moher et al., 2009) flowchart.



2.3.2.7 Quality Appraisal

A quality appraisal tool was used to evaluate the four studies' strengths and weaknesses. The quality of the four research studies was assessed using Gough's (2007) Weight of Evidence (WoE). WoE is used to assess how much weight should be given to the evidence of a study within a systematic review. The terms will be discussed in turn below. All papers received a WoE score from A to C; overall scores were then used to calculate WoE D.

WoE A – CASP

WoE A involves an assessment of the internal quality, trustworthiness and coherence of a study in relation to a specific quality criterion. Within this review the four studies were assessed using the Critical Appraisal Skills Programme (CASP, 2017) to provide a WoE A score. The CASP is a tool commonly used in reviews of qualitative evidence. The framework consisted of 10 questions with additional prompts (see Appendix 3). No adaptations were made to the CASP. Studies were scored: Yes (+), Cannot tell (?) or No (-). To calculate a numeric figure for WoE A, initial codes were transformed using guidance outlined by

Kanavaki and colleagues (2016). Studies were rated high quality (3) if they met 8 of the 10 criteria; medium quality (2) if they met 5-7 of the criteria; and low quality (1) if they met 4 or fewer of the criteria. The CASP and WoE A scores can be found in Table 1.

Table 1. A Table to show the Critical Appraisal of Studies (2007) and Weight of Evidence A
(Gough, 2007)

CASP Checklist	Strange	Forrest et	Hirst	Sundaram
	et al.	al. (2004)	(2004)	& Sauntson
	(2003)			(2016)
Was there a clear statement of the aims	+	-	-	+
of the research?				
Is a qualitative methodology	+	+	+	+
appropriate?				
Was the research design appropriate to	?	+	+	+
address the aims of the research?				
Was the recruitment strategy	-	-	+	+
appropriate to the aims of the research?				
Was the data collected in a way that	+	?	+	+
addressed the research issue?				
Has the relationship between researcher	-	-	-	?
and participants been adequately				
considered?				
Have ethical issues been taken into	+	-	-	+
consideration?				
Was the data analysis sufficiently	?	?	-	?
rigorous?				
Is there a clear statement of findings?	+	+	+	+
How valuable is the research?	+	+	+	+
Weight of Evidence A	2	1	2	3

WoE B – Appropriateness of Method

The four studies were assessed for the appropriateness of their method in relation to answering the SLR research question (Gough, 2007). Based on the inclusion criteria applied, only studies which collected the voice of CYP directly in the form of a qualitative measure were selected. Studies were rated high (3) if they solely used in-depth interviews or focus groups; medium (2) if they used an additional method of data collection (e.g., quantitative questionnaire data - excluded for the purpose of this review) in addition to interviews or focus groups; and low (1) if they used a method of data collection other than interviews or focus groups to elicit qualitative data.

WoE C - Appropriateness of Review Question

The four studies were assessed for the appropriateness of their study topic in relation to answering the SLR research question (Gough, 2007). The studies were evaluated in relation to the following criteria: 'the extent to which the focus of the study was on CYP's perceptions of school based RSE'. Studies were rated high (3) if they focused entirely on school based RSE, medium (2) if most of the focus was on school based RSE; and low (1) if they had a limited focus on school based RSE.

WoE D – Overall Score

The overall scores for WoE A- C were combined to give a mean judgement score used as a quality measure. Studies were rated high quality (3) if they scored 3 or above; medium quality (2) if they scored between 2 and 3; and low quality (1) if they scored 1.99 or below. Overall scores can be found in Table 2.

Authors & Date	WoE A	WoE B	WoE C	WoE D
Strange et al. (2003)	2	2	3	2.33
Forrest et al. (2004)	1	1	3	1.67
Hirst (2004)	2	3	2	2.33
Sundaram & Sauntson (2016)	3	2	2	2.33

Table 2. A table to show the studies Weight of Evidence (Gough, 2007) from A-D

2.3.2.8 Data Synthesis

Since the review was exploratory, an interpretive approach was taken, allowing data patterns to be explored (Gough et al., 2013). Thematic synthesis was adopted to analyse and synthesise the data (Thomas & Harden, 2008). The three stage research process began by coding the four result sections. Each line of the results section was applied a code based on its content and semantic (surface level) meaning. This process created a total of 51 initial codes. The codes generated were then grouped into seven descriptive themes which expressed similar concepts. The researcher took an indicative approach to data analysis, whereby themes were generated by data rather than a deductive approach which would have involved using pre-existing theory to organise the data. The third step of the synthesis involved organising the seven descriptive themes into two higher order analytical categories. A copy of the thematic synthesis can be found in Appendix 4. A detailed description of the analytical and descriptive themes can be found in section 2.3.2.10.

2.3.2.9 Summary of the studies included in the SLR

Four papers published in peer review journals, dating from 2003 to 2016, were included in the SLR. Table 3 details the characteristics of the studies. All but one study (Sundaram & Sauntson, 2016) included male and female participants. Participants ranged from 13-16 years of age. One of the studies was qualitative and three were mixed methods in design; qualitative data was extracted from the mixed methods studies.

Author and year	Paper title	Research aims	Participant characteristics	Country	Methodology	Data analysis	Outcomes and key themes
Strange et al. (2003)	Mixed-sex or single-sex sex education: how would young people like their sex education and why?	RQ1: Preferences for single-sex or mixed-sex classes RQ2: How perceptions of SRE content influences responses to lessons RQ3: How interactions about sexual health differs in single and mixed groups	A sample of 3347 young people 1595 females 1752 males Aged 15 to 16	England	15 semi structured focus groups	Themes independently categorised and jointly interpreted	Single and mixed sex classes, teacher characteristics, curriculum content, teaching methods, influence of age, language used by students
Forrest et al. (2004)	What do young people want from sex education? The results of a needs assessment from a peer-led sex education programme.	RO: To improve the evidence base for effective sexual health education	A sample of 4353 young people 2155 females 2198 males Aged 13 to 14	England	2259 questions collected via a 'suggestion box'	Questions collated under questionnaire headers, developed into categories, and jointly interpreted	More content needed on: STD, HIV & AIDS, act of sex, emotional aspects of sex, medical advice, pregnancy, contraception, biological development, sexual pressures, LGBT+ relationships

Table 3. Overview of studies included in the Systematic Literature Review

Hirst	Researching young	RO: To understand the	15 young	England	4 focus groups	No	Experiences differ
(2004)	people's sexuality	context and diversity of	people			information	from content,
	and learning about	young people's sexual			15	given	connotations of risky
	sex: experience,	practice	11 females		unstructured		behaviour, lack of
	need, and sex and		4 males		small group		sexual terminology,
	relationship				and individual		differentiation of
	education.		Aged 15–16		conversations		content, valuing
			years		lasting 60		students'
					minutes		knowledge, pleasure
Sundaram	Discursive silences:	RO: Views on SRE	4 females	England	3 semi	Narrative	Pleasure, sexual
&	using critical	provision			structured	analysis	performance,
Sauntson	linguistic and		Aged 14 years		focus groups		gender
(2016)	qualitative analysis				held over 5		expectations,
	to explore the				months		experiences of
	continued absence						sexual assault,
	of pleasure in sex						pressure on females,
	and relationships						language used by
	education in						students and
	England						teachers, curriculum
							content, teaching
							styles

2.3.2.10 Thematic Synthesis

Through a SLR the researcher aimed to address to following research question: *What can the literature tell us about secondary aged CYP's (11-16 years old) experiences of school based RSE in England?* Four papers were included in the thematic synthesis, detailing the experiences of CYP aged 13-16 years. The thematic synthesis identified two analytical themes and several descriptive themes. The overarching analytical themes were: 'Pressures *on CYP'* and '*Teaching Pedagogies*'. Figure 2 demonstrates themes within a thematic map. The following section will present the thematic synthesis alongside additional literature, to allow experiences to be situated within a wider contextual understanding of CYP experiences.



Figure 2. A thematic map detailing analytical and descriptive themes.

Main theme: Pressures on CYP

The first analytical theme evidenced within the SLR was termed '*Pressures on CYP*'. The theme captured CYP's experiences of pressures within RSE lessons, shaped by curriculum content and peer influences. Pressures extended to contexts outside the learning environment, whereby CYP reflected on pressures within the wider school community and society. Pressures appeared to have a detrimental impact on engagement with learning as well as CYP's confidence to discuss topics and seek support around healthy, consensual sex and relationships.

Derogatory language

Derogatory and discriminatory language was used by male and female students within the review, and wider literature (Endendijk et al., 2020; Haggis & Mulholland, 2014; Measor et al., 2000). The synthesis demonstrated that females who showed a positive interest in sex during RSE lessons were often termed 'slags', 'stupid', 'tarts', 'slappers', 'dirty' and 'sluts' (Strange et al, 2003; Sundaram & Sauntson, 2016). Such terminology was also used to describe sexually active females and was furthermore used in comments relating to clothing and appearance (Strange et al, 2003; Sundaram & Sauntson, 2016).

The language used to describe female students within RSE lessons also appeared to impact on their reputation outside lessons and within the wider school community. One participant reported 'they'll sort of get stuck with whatever they're saying for the rest of their life' (Strange et al, 2003). Some females also shared frustrations around terminology being used inaccurately, with one young person quoting 'they don't really know what it (slut) means, so that really annoys me' (Sundaram & Sauntson, 2016).

The wider literature recognises that RSE may be the ideal platform to challenge such derogatory language, also termed 'slut-shaming' (Gillander Gådin & Stein, 2019). This is important as both male and female students asked for information on how to deal with derogatory name calling in school settings (Forrest et al., 2004). RSE has been deemed an appropriate lesson to address issues of power and gender inequality (Gillander Gådin & Stein, 2019). Addressing such language is important as negative experiences have been linked to poor school performance, depressive symptoms and a decreased sense of school belonging (Hatchel et al., 2018; Kaltiala-Heino et al., 2018). To address 'slut shaming', research has suggested that RSE lessons should promote a safe learning environment in which teachers take responsibility for challenging such issues (Gillander Gådin & Stein, 2019).

Confidence to participate in lessons

The review highlighted that CYP lack confidence to participate in RSE lessons, a finding supported by Van Teijlingen and colleagues (2007). Within RSE lessons it was noted that females who voiced an overt interest in the RSE curriculum were often vulnerable to negative sexual status in school (Strange et al, 2003; Sundaram & Sauntson, 2016). In

response, females were understood to tailor their sexual identity and behaviours so as not to be branded 'ready' for sex or 'the right ones' (Sundaram & Sauntson, 2016).

Female students also felt hesitant to contribute and participate in RSE lessons due to a risk of being ridiculed and teased particularly by male peers (Strange et al, 2003). One female student questioned 'Why do boys laugh when you talk about sex?' (Forrest et al., 2004). Confidence to participate appeared to be linked to maturity. Less 'academically able' students were deemed as immature, 'see the bottom set is less mature about things and they mess about' while older students were deemed sensible enough to talk openly about sex (Strange et al., 2003). The wider literature recognises that teachers of RSE should be aware and sensitive to students' increasing maturity (Unis & Sällström, 2020) and as such adapt provisions and materials accordingly (Löfgren-Mårtenson, 2012).

The wider literature recognises that RSE can elicit strong emotional reactions in students, including feelings of embarrassment, vulnerability and anxieties relating to participation (Pound et al., 2016). If not managed appropriately by teachers, emotions may manifest into disengagement (Buston et al., 2002). The synthesis highlights the importance of supporting engagement and participation. Within the classroom this could be achieved by creating an environment in which students feel emotionally safe and supported (Blake, 2004).

Sexual harassment and objectification

Students discussed their experiences of sexual harassment and objectification, something the wider literature has noted students are experiencing more frequently within school settings (Hatchel et al., 2018). Within the review it was understood that females felt pressured by male peers to act on sexual advances (Strange et al., 2003; Sundaram & Sauntson, 2016). Female students discussed sexual harassment during RSE lessons with one student voicing 'the boys start touching ya... like trying to get your bra undone' (Strange et al., 2003). Several students also recalled experiences of sexual harassment outside of RSE lessons. One student voiced 'it's part of their everyday school experience' (Strange et al, 2003) while another explained 'I have been forced to touch my lover even if I didn't want to' (Forrest et al., 2004).

Within RSE lessons students asked for information on sexual consent, rape, sexual assaults and healthy relationships (Hirst, 2004). The experiences of students within the review are

not unique, with Coleman and Testa (2007) noting a greater need for information on consent and healthy sexual relationships. Students also asked for information on how to cope with pressure from a partner and how to manage societal and peer pressure, particularly when alcohol is involved (Forrest et al., 2004; Hirst, 2004; Strange et al., 2003; Sundaram & Sauntson, 2016).

There was a narrative held by female students suggesting it was their responsibility to protect themselves from unsafe sex and non-consensual sex. One student voiced, 'if they touch, I just turn round and hit them' (Strange et al., 2003). In response to this, girls expressed views that male students should receive greater levels of RSE. Another student voiced 'it is the guys essentially raping the girls, so they should be taught not to do it' (Sundaram & Sauntson, 2016). The synthesis highlights the need to tackle sexual harassment within the school setting; some students felt this may be achieved by offering single sex rather than mixed sex RSE classes (Strange et al, 2003).

Role of women in providing pleasure

Within RSE lessons female students highlighted a gender discourse around pleasure and the role of women in providing pleasure to male partners (Hirst, 2004; Sundaram & Sauntson, 2016). Female students associated pleasure with words such as 'performing' and 'doing' to seek 'approval' (Sundaram & Sauntson, 2016). Students described a gender curriculum in which pleasure was perceived as 'natural' for males (Sundaram & Sauntson, 2016). Male students appeared confident to discuss pleasure, while female students were left feeling anxious (Hirst, 2004; Sundaram & Sauntson, 2016). One female student voiced, 'How are you meant to admit ya like it? Teachers would think you're a slag' (Hirst, 2004).

There was an agreement by students that pleasure was absent from the RSE curriculum, particularly in relation to females (Hirst, 2004; Sundaram & Sauntson, 2016). Across the four studies students asked for more information on mutual masturbation, female pleasure and foreplay (Forrest et al., 2004; Hirst, 2004; Strange et al., 2003; Sundaram & Sauntson, 2016).

Main theme: Teaching Pedagogies

The second analytical theme evidenced within the SLR was termed '*Teaching Pedagogies*'. The theme captured CYP's experiences of a curriculum which for many did not feel 'fit for purpose'. CYP spoke about teaching content, teaching delivery and the role of educators in facilitating successful RSE lessons.
Unsatisfactory content

RSE curriculum content was described by many students as 'irrelevant' and 'repetitive' (Strange et al., 2003; Sundaram & Sauntson, 2016). Students expressed concerns that teaching content differed across schools and classes (Sundaram & Sauntson, 2016) and many felt the quality of lessons did not provide them with adequate sexual knowledge or the skills required to navigate sexual situations (Forrest et al., 2004; Hirst, 2004; Strange et al., 2003). Some students expressed a need for earlier teaching of RSE (Hirst 2004; Strange et al., 2003), a finding recognised within the wider literature (Alldred, 2007; Hilton, 2007; Pound et al., 2016).

Students found the RSE curriculum highly gendered and heteronormative (Forrest et al., 2004; Hirst, 2004; Sundaram & Sauntson, 2016). Students criticised RSE lessons for focusing heavily on anatomy and the biological components of sex rather than exploring topics such as relationships, safety and respect (Sundaram & Sauntson, 2016). These findings align with the work of Formby (2011) who concluded that RSE often has a highly heteronormative agenda. The Stonewall School Report (2017) presented quantitative data which further highlighted the heteronormative RSE agenda. The report outlined that only one in five pupils in British schools had been taught about safe sex in same-sex relationships. The importance of teaching an inclusive curriculum within RSE is important when aiming to address social justice issues such as homophobia (Bradford et al., 2019; Buston & Hart, 2001)

For some students from minority ethnic and religious backgrounds, RSE lessons facilitated conversations with likeminded peers and teachers (Forrest et al., 2004) while for others, RSE lessons were deemed to marginalised minority voices (Hirst, 2004; Strange et al., 2003). Students from ethnic minority backgrounds expressed views regarding how their identities were not represented in resources used within RSE lessons. One student voiced 'there's nowt about me in sex education, it's all White' while another voiced 'suppose it's not worth bothering to put Black people in your videos or your books' (Hirst, 2004).

In general, the findings from the qualitative SLR appear to suggest the curriculum content and teaching resources fall short in representing the experiences of individuals. These findings contributed to a large-scale study conducted by the UK Youth Parliament. The study, which collected quantitative data from 21,000 young people found 40% of

37

participants rated their school based RSE as 'poor' or 'very poor' (Martinez & de Meza, 2007).

Discourse that sex is risky

Some students voiced that RSE focused heavily on the potential negative implications of sexual activities, such as the risk of pregnancy and sexually transmitted diseases (Strange et al., 2003; Sundaram & Sauntson, 2016). Students explained that sex was portrayed as 'scary', 'risky', 'dangerous' (Sundaram & Sauntson, 2016) and therefore abstinence was favoured by teachers (Hirst, 2004; Sundaram & Sauntson, 2016).

Some students also spoke about how educational resources also added to a negative discourse around sex. Students explained that the educational videos used in RSE lessons often represented periods as 'gory' and 'unpleasant' (Sundaram & Sauntson, 2016). For female students, educational videos left them feeling objectified when female anatomy was shown. One young person voiced 'the boys just start giggling, like saying 'look at the size of them' (Strange et al., 2003).

Within RSE lessons students appeared to feel a disconnect between sexual experiences and idealised constructions (Strange et al., 2003; Hirst, 2004). One young person voiced, 'it's nowt like you thought it were gonna be, like in films and sex education lessons' (Hirst, 2004). The wider literature recognises the importance of ensuring school based RSE is relatable to CYP; one such way this can be achieved is by developing RSE programmes in partnership with CYP (Allen, 2008).

Classroom management and favourable traits

Within RSE lessons, the behaviour of male students was described by female students as disruptive to learning; females voiced that time in lessons was often wasted on discipline, '15 minutes just shouting at the boys' (Strange et al., 2003). Some male students offered explanations about their behaviour, suggesting that poor behaviour resulted from feelings of anxiety. One young person said 'some people are too scared to say things, so they cover that up by being noisy and disrupt the class' (Strange et al., 2003). To manage discipline, students favoured male teachers (Sundaram & Sauntson, 2016), adults in authority and those with good classroom control (Strange et al., 2003).

Students also felt that personal characteristics of the teacher were important (Strange et al., 2003). Favourable teachers were described as 'open' and 'fair' and took time to listen to the voice of students (Hirst, 2004; Strange et al., 2003). Within the wider literature favourable teachers have also been described as relatable role models (Allen, 2009; Goldstein et al., 2007). Trust and confidentiality were also deemed important teacher characteristics by CYP in the study and wider literature (Allen, 2009; Hirst, 2004; Sundaram & Sauntson, 2016). Lastly, favourable teachers were those who were seen as credible sources of information, 'suppose they do influence you but when it comes from teachers it sort of has more ... I dunno, ... importance' (Hirst, 2004). Within the wider literature, successful teachers have been recognised as those who understand the curriculum content and can communicate it clearly to CYP (Kehily, 2002; Schaalma et al., 2004). While teaching tools are important, ultimately the skill of teachers is felt to be more important to ensuring CYP have a successful RSE (Pound et al., 2016)

2.3.2.11 Conclusion of the SLR

The SLR aimed to explore secondary aged CYP's experiences of school based RSE in England. The four studies which collected qualitative data from students aged 13-16 in England suggested that in general, CYP perceived RSE to be unsatisfactory. Such perceived dissatisfaction is concerning given that many CYP view school as their primary source of sexual information (Newby et al., 2012).

While not conceptualised within the analytical themes, the researcher identified that across all four studies CYP voiced a preference for receiving teaching on sexual consent, rape, sexual assaults and how to manage societal, peer and partner pressure (Forrest et al., 2004; Hirst, 2004; Strange et al., 2003; Sundaram & Sauntson, 2016). The findings from the SLR reflect the voice of CYP across the world, who have asked for more information on the fundamentals of positive and meaningful relationships within RSE lessons (McCann et al., 2019; Pound et al., 2016).

The process of SLR highlighted to the researcher a lack of published, peer-reviewed research since RSE became statutory for secondary aged pupils in England (DfE, 2019a). The reader will have noted the most recent study is dated 2016. The findings from the SLR therefore highlight a need for a more current understanding of CYP's experiences of the RSE, post reforms. Such research would give insight into how the curriculum has been received by CYP and how consent has formed part of this curriculum. Understanding how CYP receive teaching on consent is important since previous literature has highlighted that CYP can find difficulty with communicating consent (Beres, 2020; Brady et al., 2017; Cense et al., 2018; Coy et al., 2013; Whittington & Thomson, 2018). Before the researcher presents an in-depth rationale for the current study, the researcher will explore what is understood about CYP's experiences of being taught sexual consent in schools thus far.

2.4 CYP's experiences of sexual consent in schools

Within the literature there is a mutual consensus that further work should explore how CYP of statutory school age understand and define consent (Whittington, 2021; Brady et al., 2018). This section of the chapter will explore CYP's skills in communicating consent and explore what is known about how CYP received teaching on consent in schools.

2.4.1 Barriers in communicating consent

The reformed RSE curriculum aims to educate CYP on how to communicate and interpret consent and navigate sexual situations (DfE, 2019a). These skills are important as the wider literature recognises that many CYP find consent is hard to articulate (Moore & Reynolds, 2004; Whittington, 2021). Using literature and theory, the researcher will present three hypotheses offering suggestions as to why CYP find consent difficult to articulate and navigate.

2.4.1.1 Hypothesis one: Consent is poorly defined

The first potential reason as to why CYP may find it difficult to understand and navigate consent is because of the term's definition. Although there is a wealth of literature which has attempted to define the term 'sexual consent', several researchers have concluded that the term remains ill-defined (Beres, 2007; de Heer et al., 2021), ambiguous and lacking in clarity (Beres, 2020; Brady & Lowe, 2020). While the new legislation aims to teach CYP about consent, the DfE guidance does not provide a definition of consent (DfE, 2019a). It appears that the DfE guidance has adopted the definition outlined in the Sexual Offences Act (Gilbert 2018; Whittington & Thompson 2017). Under Section 74 of the Sexual Offence Act 2003 it states that 'a person consents if s/he agrees by choice and has the freedom and capacity to make a choice' (SOA, 2003). It could therefore be hypothesised that without a clear definition of consent, or a prescribed method of how consent should be taught within

schools (Scott et al., 2020), teachers may struggle to provide CYP with the skills to communicate consent effectively.

2.4.1.2 Hypothesis Two: Miscommunication theory

The second potential reason as to why CYP may find it difficult to understand and navigate consent is based on the idea of 'miscommunication theory'. Miscommunication theory suggests that for sex to be rejected there must be a verbal 'no' exchanged by one party member (Burkett & Hamilton, 2012). While there is evidence to suggest that teaching consent through a 'yes/no' model (Anderson, 2005) can prevent miscommunication (National Children's Bureau, 2014) there is also evidence to suggest that the 'yes/no' model is not always effective, as for CYP to be able to say 'no' they must have the power, confidence, competence and language skills (Burton et al., 2023; Hirsch et al., 2019). Furthermore, teaching consent through a 'yes/no' model has been deemed inappropriate as it suggests that consent has 'permanency' (Burkett & Hamilton, 2012). As emphasised by the charity Childline, consent is rarely permanent, and although a person may agree to sexual activities once, it does not mean they necessarily consent in the future. The reformed curriculum aims to address miscommunication theory by teaching CYP that consent can be redacted. The curriculum also aims to upskill CYP in considering factors such as the influence of drugs and alcohol, which may impact on an individual's freedom and capacity to say 'yes / no' to sexual activities (Gilbert, 2018).

2.4.1.3 Hypothesis three: Teaching practices are disconnected from CYP's realities

The third potential reason why CYP may find it difficult to understand and navigate consent relates to teaching approaches. Ineffective teaching is thought to occur when CYP are presented with binary definitions of consent which do not relate to the nuances of their lived experiences (Brook et al., 2014; Christen & Mikkelson, 2008; Sanjakdar & Yip, 2018). Poor application of consent within real world contexts have been noted by several researchers. Whittington (2021) found that CYP find it difficult to define consent when given 'real-life' scenarios, while Setty (2021) noted that CYP view consent as multifaceted and context specific. Both studies implied that without a comprehensive understanding of consent, CYP may find it difficult to develop the competencies and skills to navigate consent within their real-world situations. In summary, the three hypotheses begin to demonstrate some of the complexities CYP face when defining consent. Although these difficulties have been recognised, the work of Setty (2021) suggests that RSE can play a fundamental role in beginning to address such difficulties. To understand how RSE can support CYP's understanding of consent, the researcher has attempted to present literature relating to what makes effective, sexual consent education.

2.4.2 Effective sexual consent education

As discussed above (section 2.3) it is understood that CYP rarely feel skilled in dealing with the complexities of real-life sexual situations (Brook et al., 2014). As such, Whittington (2019b) proposed formalised sexual consent education should be delivered in such a way which enables CYP to apply learnt knowledge to real life contexts. For learning to be effective, resources should facilitate conversations by relating learning to real world contexts and by addressing social issues (e.g., power and gender inequalities) (Brady & Lowe, 2020).

Literature recognises that effective teaching is delivered in collaboration with CYP who are made to feel valued, skilled and knowledgeable (Lee et al., 2018). Co-production of knowledge is thought to be particularly important when discussing sensitive topics such as consent (Whittington, 2019a).

By evaluating whole-school sexual health programmes, Bragg and colleagues (2021) concluded that teaching consent requires strong skills on the part of the educator. Educators must be willing to address topics of consent (Corteen, 2017), as avoidance could be seen to marginalise CYP's rights which are protected by the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (Robinson, 2012; UNCRC, 1989).

Literature suggests educators should use terminology adopted by CYP; relatable terminology is thought to increase feelings of self-belonging within lessons (Bragg et al., 2020; Cense et al., 2019; Whittington & Thomson 2018). Lessons should also aim to create a safe space for CYP to develop a self-awareness (Carmody & Ovenden, 2013) and CYP should be given opportunities to seek support around sexual consent without experiencing feelings of blame, shame and guilt (Brook et al., 2014). Delivery is understood to be most effective when educators show confidence and commitment (Bragg et al., 2021). While these elements are thought to promote effective education, several researchers have demonstrated that teachers often feel they lack the competence, confidence, time and the resources needed to produce meaningful education (Gilbert, 2018; Whittington, 2019b). Some teachers have even proposed that external services may be more skilled in delivering teaching on consent (Pound et al., 2016)

When teaching consent, teachers should be afforded appropriate time and space to deliver the curriculum (Bragg et al., 2021), and students should be given appropriate time to think critically and reflectively about such subjects. Although time is important, the fast paced nature of schools may not always allow such opportunities (National Children's Bureau, 2014).

Although the literature has outlined what makes effective sexual consent education, when exploring the literature, the researcher of the current study recognised that there have been very few qualitative studies which have explored CYP's lived experiences of being taught about sexual consent within schools. Instead, many studies aim to address sexual abuse and sexual violence through programmes and interventions (Coy et al., 2013; Whittington, 2019b; Whittington & Thomson, 2018). This finding is noteworthy and highlights a gap in the literature which the researcher aims to address by a qualitative, exploratory study, working with CYP aged 11-16. Before drawing the chapter to a close and outlining the rationale of the current research, the researcher will highlight the important of working with adolescents.

2.5 Working with adolescents – the Role of an Educational Psychologist (EP)

As the researcher of the current study aims to capture the lived experiences of CYP aged 11-16, the researcher felt it important to explore theories of adolescences development and demonstrate the importance of advocating for this unique population. Furthermore, as the research is situated within a DAEP, the researcher has chosen to draw parallels to the work of EPs who often work with this population.

2.5.1 Theories of adolescent development

EPs play a fundamental role in supporting school staff, parents, and carers to ensure CYP have access to a developmentally appropriate education (Baker, 2015). EPs help to facilitate such an education by supporting CYP and their significant adults to navigate a period of

complex emotional development during the adolescent years (Cline et al., 2015). Adolescence is a vital period of development as it is a time when CYP experience social, physical and psychological change (Ernst et al., 2006; Steinberg, 2005).

Psychological theories can be used to explore how adolescents develop and learn their ideas about sex and romantic relationships (Savin-Williams & Diamond, 2004). The researcher of the current study chose to work with CYP aged 11-16 because adolescence is thought to be a 'critical period' in which norms around sexual behaviours and activities are established (WHO, 2007). The researcher has chosen to present four theories of adolescence which can used to underpin the current study.

Theories around the development of self may begin to explain how adolescents acquire knowledge. Cognitive developmental theories suggest that 'social self' develops during adolescence (Choudhury et al., 2006) while psychosocial developmental theorists suggest that during adolescence, CYP search for a sense of self and personal identity (ego identity) (Erikson, 1963).

Social Learning Theory (Bandura & Walters, 1969; Vygotsky, 1978) proposes that adolescents gather information from a range of 'information providers' and use learnt knowledge to decode social interactions (Rice & Dolgin, 2002; Spano, 2004). When learning about sex and relationships, adolescents are believed to seek information from a range of 'information providers' including, but not limited to family members, peers, friends, (social) media and teachers (Brook et al., 2014; Lader, 2009; Marston et al., 2004; Sriranganathan et al., 2010). Within the literature, it has been recognised that CYP are increasingly accessing 'virtual sex education' through social media and websites such as Instagram and TikTok (Cookingham & Ryan, 2015; Fowler et al., 2022; Sciberras & Tanner, 2023)

Bronfenbrenner's Ecological Systems Model (1977) refers to the interactive factors and systems within a child's environment which can influence learning and development. Figure 3 presents a visual of the model. During adolescence the interaction and support from these systems is thought to be crucial (Steinberg & Morris, 2001). The current study aims to explore how the microsystem (e.g., school setting) influences learning, however for this to be understood holistically there must also be a consideration of factors within the mesosystem (e.g., family and X) and macrosystem (e.g., policy and legislation).

44

Figure 3. Ecological Framework of Development (adapted from Bronfenbrenner & Ceci, 1994).



The aforementioned theories demonstrate that adolescence is a key period of development in which CYP gather information about sexual behaviours. These theories consider the role of the individual (cognitive and psychosocial theories) as well as the role of society (social learning and ecological systems). The theories further strengthen the researcher's rationale and importance of understanding the lived experiences of CYP during their teenage years.

2.5.2 Advocating for the voice of CYP

EPs play a fundamental role in advocating for the voice of CYP (Cline, Gulliford, & Birch, 2015). Key documentation such as the Farrell Report (Farrell et al., 2006) and Children and Families Act (DfE, 2014) highlight the importance of centralising CYP's voices. CYP's right are also protected by UNCRC (1989). Article 12 outlines that CYP should have the right to express themselves about issues which impact upon them. Article 17 further states that CYP should have access to information which promotes 'social, spiritual and moral well-being and physical and mental health'. However, within the literature it could be suggested that current practice fails to uphold these articles.

Regarding Article 12, within education literature, it has been recognised that CYP often feel their voices are undermined, sensationalised or silenced (Renold, Egan, & Ringrose, 2015). CYP seldom feel able to convey their experiences to those who make decisions about policies and practices (Cammarota & Fine, 2008; Tisdall, 2017). Regarding Article 17, literature has suggested that schools fail to provide CYP with sufficient information on sexual matters and few opportunities to explore positive sexual rights and self-identity (Forrest et al., 2004; Hirst, 2004; Horn, Peter & Russell, 2017; Pound et al., 2016; Strange et al., 2003; Whittington, 2019).

To address such issues, the literature states that effective RSE should involve collaborative discussions between educators and CYP, and that good quality RSE should actively seek CYP's views to inform lesson planning and teaching approaches (Elia, 2000). While some researchers have recommended that CYP should be consulted on how they hope to be taught RSE (Tobin, 2018), there is little evidence within the literature to suggest that the voice of CYP has been either gathered or acted upon.

To address these concerns, the researcher of the current study has invited CYP to actively share their lived experiences of the RSE curriculum. The researcher's ontological and epistemological position (Chapter Three) views CYP as 'experts' (Haberlang & Rogow, 2015). The researcher suggests that CYP's lived experiences are worthy of studying independently from the adult voices represented heavily within this chapter (Elia, 2000).

2.6 Rationale for present study

This chapter has explored the complex political landscape of the RSE curriculum and has highlighted a wealth of concerns regarding the effectiveness, appropriateness and standard of RSE in UK secondary schools over the past decade (DfE, 2017; Greening, 2017). To date, there have been very few qualitative studies in England which have explored CYP's experiences of the RSE curriculum. Studies which have collected qualitative date predate the reformed statutory RSE curriculum (Forrest et al., 2004; Hirst, 2004; Strange et al., 2003; Sundaram & Sauntson, 2016).

As adolescence is a key period for acquiring sexual knowledge, the researcher aims to explore the lived experiences of individuals attending secondary school settings in England. The study aims to explore RSE curriculum content and delivery and offer an understanding of how the new reforms have impacted sexual consent education.

An exploratory approach (Robson, 2011) to collected data will be adopted. Through a flexible, qualitative research design (Lincoln & Guba, 2000; Mackenzie & Knipe, 2006) the researcher will attempt to empower the voice of CYP and begin to bridge the disconnect between CYP and policy makers (Tisdall, 2017).

The author hopes to offer a safe, confidential, supportive space for CYP to discuss teaching and learning around RSE and sexual consent. The researcher will use consultative skills (active and empathetic listening and questioning) (Nolan & Moreland, 2014) gained as a TEP to facilitate effective discussions.

The researcher will act as a scientist practitioner (Miller & Frederickson, 2006), offering realworld analytical interpretations and conclusions embedded within Education and Psychology literature (Elliott, 2000). The researcher aims to explore espoused policy and practice to offer new insights to the reader (Cahill, 2007)

Overall, the current study aims to contribute novel findings to our understanding of what makes successful RSE lessons by actively listening, empowering and advocating for the voice of CYP (Coy et al., 2013; Pound et al., 2016; Whittington, 2019b; Whittington & Thomson, 2018).

2.6.1 Research questions

The primary aim of this research is to explore CYP's (aged 11-16) experiences of school based RSE in England, with an additional focus on how CYP experience the teaching of consent, as part of the RSE curriculum. To understand the research aims, the following research questions have been developed:

Research question: What are CYP's experiences of the RSE curriculum?

Sub-question: How do CYP experience the teaching of consent, as part of the RSE curriculum?

Chapter 3 – Methodology

Chapter three aims to provide an overview of the methodology adopted by the researcher of the current study. The chapter will begin by providing a summary of the theoretical paradigms relevant to real world research. Ontological and epistemological assumptions will be explored. The researcher will present justification for undertaking Reflexive Thematic Analysis (RTA) (Braun & Clarke, 2021) and will provide a detailed explanation of the qualitative research design by demonstrating measures to ensure a high-quality qualitative research study. The role of stakeholders will also be considered. The chapter will conclude by presenting a description of the analytical process and ethical considerations addressed by the researcher.

3.1 Theoretical paradigms

To understand the systematic process of enquiry followed in this study (Hanson et al., 2005), real world research suggests that it is invaluable to consider the philosophical foundations upon which the research is centred (Cohen et al., 2017; Creswell & Creswell, 2017). The literature states that researchers should consider the research paradigm (a belief system, worldview, or set of principles) which guides the research process (Cohen et al., 2017). Paradigms contain philosophical assumptions which determine the theoretical framework the researcher adopts and subsequent methodological decisions (Mackenzie & Knipe, 2006; Mertens, 2014).

Within psychological research, several paradigms have been recognised. These include, but are not limited to, positivism, post-positivism, post-modernism (which encapsulated interpretivism and constructionism), critical realism, pragmatism and transformative (Cohen et al., 2017; Mertens, 2014). The researcher acknowledges that there is a vast array of research paradigms which could be explored, however for the purpose of this study, the researcher has chosen to focus on positivism, constructionism, and critical realism. By exploring these paradigms, the researcher can situate her ontological and epistemological positioning in relation to the methodology adopted, RTA (Braun & Clarke, 2021).

3.1.1 Ontological and epistemological positions

Paradigms are belief systems which are underpinned by ontological and epistemological beliefs (Braun & Clarke, 2021; Cohen et al., 2017; Guba & Lincoln, 2005).

Ontology relates to the nature of reality or being (Braun & Clarke, 2021). Ontology considers whether there is a single reality or multiple realities of the phenomena being studied (Fox et al., 2007). Ontology is about '*what*' it is that we think we can know (Braun & Clarke, 2021). Ontology can be considered on a spectrum, with realism and relativism at the extremes, and critical realism situated somewhere in between. Realists suggest there is one true single, objective reality (Coolican, 2017). Relativists reject the notion of an objective reality and instead believe the world is constructed through multiple realities (Coolican, 2017).

Ontologies link closely to epistemological positioning. Epistemology can be defined as the nature of knowledge; it is about '*how*' we think we can know (Braun & Clarke, 2021). Epistemology considers how researchers understand the world through the knowledge they acquire (Guba & Lincoln, 2005; Willig, 2017). Epistemology can be understood through two dominant frameworks. Positivism relies on a single reality (*ontology - realism*) and positivist researchers assume knowledge can be generated through the application of scientific methods (Braun & Clarke, 2021). Post-positivism (*ontology – relativism*) recognises that the world can only be understood imperfectly, as our perceptions are only partial (Braun & Clarke, 2021).

In research it is important the researcher's ontological and epistemological stance aligns with the research question being explored (Langdridge, 2007). The researcher will now present further explanation of three paradigms, to allow for her ontological and epistemological position to be understood in relation to the current study's research questions.

3.1.1.1 Positivism

Positivist researchers aim to provide evidence for or against an argument by seeking a scientific truth which can be measured accurately, objectively and value free (Guba & Lincoln, 2005; Mertens, 2014). Positivist researchers often collect quantitative data through systematic enquiry to answer a specific research question (Abusabha & Woelfel, 2003) and offer empirically grounded conclusions (Braun & Clarke, 2021).

Positivist researchers usually align with realist ontologies (Braun & Clarke, 2021). Purist realists assume there is a truth to be discovered (Braun & Clarke, 2021) which is independent of the researcher's subjective views (Tebes, 2005). Positivist researchers

typically view themselves and participants as individual entities, and therefore the researcher can study the world without adding influence (Guba & Lincoln, 1994).

3.1.1.2 Post-modernism: Constructionism

Post-modernism has evolved in response to critique from positivism (Braun & Clarke, 2021). Post-modern researchers recognise that their constructions and interpretations shape the world and therefore observations cannot be pure (Haraway, 1988) and the world can only be understood imperfectly (Braun & Clarke, 2021). As such, objectivity is ultimately 'impossible' (Guba & Lincoln, 1994). Within post-modernism sits constructionism.

Post-modern researchers usually align with relativist ontology (Braun & Clarke, 2021). Researchers aim to make sense of the world from the view of the individual (Mertens, 2014). Constructionists reject the notion of objectivity (Guba & Lincoln, 2005) and instead view the world as socially constructed. Constructionists are concerned with how reality is made and the implications of this (Braun & Clarke, 2021). Researchers may collect qualitative data through focus groups or interviews, to develop meaning about how an individual understands their lived experiences (Kirk & Miller, 1986). Researchers recognise there is a connection between their personal values and the research which they are conducting (Mertens, 2014).

3.1.1.3 Critical Realism

Critical realism emerged as an alternative paradigm between positivism and constructionism. Braun and Clarke (2021) suggest that critical realism is a 'contextualised' version of realism. It combines ontological realism, the view that the truth is out there and the idea the world exists independently from our constructions and perceptions (Mertens, 2014), with epistemological relativism, the idea that it is impossible to access the truth directly, and impossible to have an objective view of the world (Maxwell, 2012).

In line with critical realism, researchers may adopt an interpretivist epistemological stance (Robson, 2011). Critical realists reject the idea that there are multiple realities, but instead accept that individuals have equally valid but different perceptions of reality (Alexander, 2006; Maxwell, 2012). Critical realists argue the truth may exist, however it can never be 'proven' because individuals view the world uniquely (Harper & Thompson, 2011). Critical realism acknowledges that individual experiences of reality are mediated by culture,

language and emotions (Braun & Clarke, 2021; Maxwell, 2012). Experiences are therefore socially located (Pilgrim, 2014).

Interpretivists often use qualitative methods to gather individuals' perspective and experiences, to allow phenomena to be understood in depth (Denzin & Lincoln, 2005). Critical realism recognises that researchers have a distinct role in understanding and interpreting data collected (Braun & Clarke, 2021). The research is part of the world which is being understood, and as such the researcher sits within the data collected (Pilgrim, 2014).

Some researchers have critiqued critical realism, suggesting that it is not a distinct ontology or epistemology (Denzin & Lincoln, 2005) because it fits between realism and relativism (Bergin et al., 2008). Others have praised critical realism as it has combined the two to provide a more advanced theoretical position (Alvesson & Sköldberg, 2009). For the current researcher, critical realism felt an appropriate stance for her to answer the study aims and research questions. The following section therefore will situate critical realism within the current study.

3.1.2 Ontological and epistemology stance adopted by the researcher

The aim of the current study is to explore CYP's lived experiences of the RSE curriculum. The researcher aims to achieve this by collecting qualitative data through individual interviews and small focus groups. The researcher has therefore adopted a critical realist ontological position, which will allow for multiple experiences and realities to be explored from a relativist-interpretivist epistemological stance. The researcher accepts that there may be variations in CYP's views but acknowledges there may be commonalities within experiences. The researcher recognises that reality is unattainable in its purest form and that participants' lived experiences will only ever be partially understood (Braun & Clarke, 2021). The researcher recognises that her perceptions of the world are shaped by her social positioning, social contexts, and language use (Danermark et al., 2002). To ensure these reflections are captured, the researcher has engaged in a process of reflexivity throughout the study, which will be discussed further in section 3.3.3 and 3.8.2.

3.2 Theoretical positioning of RTA

Researchers with a critical realist ontology and interpretivist epistemology often adopt a qualitative methodology (Braun & Clarke, 2006). Within the current study, qualitative data will be gathered through interviews and focus groups and analysed using RTA; critical

realism has been recognised as popular paradigm for researchers undertaking RTA (Braun & Clarke, 2021). The following section will outline methodological decisions regarding the current study's research design in relation to the researcher's ontology and epistemology.

The broader literature recognises that to promote positive attitudes towards healthy sexual development, CYP's views and opinions should be actively listened and responded to (Aggleton et al., 2000; Strange et al., 2006). As the literature review demonstrated, CYP's views on RSE can be obtained through 'rich' anecdotes and descriptions of their lived experiences (Blake, 2008; Tong et al., 2012). Therefore, the researcher has adopted a flexible, exploratory research design which allows for 'rich' qualitative data to be collected (Guba & Lincoln, 2005; Mackenzie & Knipe, 2006; Polkinghorne, 2005).

In the current study the researcher has utilised Braun and Clarke's (2021) RTA. RTA allows for the meanings of data to be understood through shared themes (Braun & Clarke, 2006). RTA aligns closely to the researcher's ontological and epistemological positioning, as themes are constructed through the data and the researcher's theoretical assumptions (Braun et al., 2016). As such the researcher plays a unique role in the analytical interpretation of data (Taylor & Ussher, 2001). RTA has been praised as a flexible data collection tool and has been used in a wide variety of methods including focus groups and individual interviews (Braun & Clarke, 2021; Clarke & Braun, 2013). It is also recognised as an accessible method for beginner qualitative researchers (Braun & Clarke, 2006; 2021).

As the study aims to explore the lived experiences of participants, the researcher has taken an inductive approach to information exploration and thematic identification (Robson, 2011). An inductive approach allows themes to be driven by the data (Braun & Clarke, 2021; Patton, 1990), rather than being shaped by a theoretical framework or a pre-existing codebook (Braun & Clarke, 2006; 2021). Some realist researchers aim to represent their data objectively by utilising coding reliability tools. However, the current researcher has discounted such an approach as it assumes there is a '*correct*' way in which participants should view the world (Madill et al., 2000). While inductive approaches are not typically influenced by pre-existing literature (Braun & Clarke, 2006) the reader must be aware that within the current study, the researcher conducted a general search of the literature (see Chapter Two), prior to data collection and analysis. The order of work was determined by academic deadlines. Therefore, pre-existing theoretical literature may have influenced the research questions and approach to data analysis.

As part of the methodology, the researcher had to identify whether data should be explored at a semantic or latent level. Themes expressed explicitly (*surface level*) were considered semantic while those expressed conceptually (*implicit level*) were considered latent (Braun & Clarke, 2021). Details of analytical interpretations can be found in Chapter Four. In the current study the researcher chose to explore data at a semantic level because the researcher was interested in what was explicitly voiced by participants. Given the nature of RTA, some elements of the data were also explored at a more latent level based on underlying ideas beyond those described by participants (Braun & Clarke, 2021). The researcher drew on intentional language to convey participants' unique perspectives of their realities (Braun & Clarke, 2021). Intentional language allows participants to convey their own notion of the 'truth'. Intentional theorisation of language was deemed appropriate as it is loosely underpinned by a critical realist ontology and a post-positivist epistemology (Fleetwood, 2014).

3.2.1 Alternative methodologies rejected by the researcher

While the researcher believes RTA was the most appropriate method to address the aims of the study, other methodologies were considered. A summary of Interpretive Phenomenological Analysis, Discourse Analysis, Grounded Theory and Narrative Approaches are presented below, alongside justifications as to why these methodologies were rejected.

Similar to TA, *Interpretive Phenomenological Analysis (IPA)* aims to understand the lived experiences of individuals while accounting for the role of the researcher. IPA seeks to generate a description of individual experiences but, in this method, the role of the researcher is to interpret the meaning of these experiences within a wider social context (Smith, 2004). Individuals' lived experiences are therefore used to inform and understand others' experiences (Larkin et al., 2006). IPA was rejected as a method because it aims to provide a detailed examination of a small number of lived experiences rather than exploring more generally the lived experiences of a collective group (Harper & Thompson, 2011). IPA has also been critiqued as a complex method which focuses heavily on language use (Willig, 2017). As the researcher aimed to analysis data at a sematic level, the researcher did not feel this was an appropriate method.

Like IPA, *Discourse Analysis* involves a detailed evaluation of language (Parker, 2005), whereby language is used to give meaning to events, relationships, and situations (Potter, 1996). Discourse Analysis focuses on how language can be used to understand individual realities (Starks & Brown-Trinidad, 2007). While the researcher of the current study was interested in the language used by participants, as a method, Discourse Analysis was rejected because the researcher felt it would not provide a sufficiently detailed understanding of the lived experiences of participants. Discourse Analysis was further rejected as it is typically suited to data gathered through naturalistic exchanges rather than interviews which were central to the current study (Harper & Thompson, 2011). Although Discourse Analysis can align with a critical realist stance, in this instance it was rejected due to its social constructionist philosophy (Harper & Thompson, 2011).

Grounded Theory was considered as it explores commonalities between lived experiences which some have suggested provides greater insight and understanding (Creswell & Creswell, 2017). However, Grounded Theory was rejected as it does not reflect the researcher's epistemology, instead aligning more closely with objectivism (Levers, 2013). As Grounded Theory aims to produce theories from the data set (Creswell & Creswell, 2017), the researcher further rejected the method, suggesting it would not afford sufficient exploration of lived experiences.

Lastly *Narrative Approaches* were considered. Narrative Approaches typically assume participants will organise their experiences into narratives or stories, with a clear beginning, middle and end (Gilbert, 2002). These narratives are then used to make meaning of lived experiences (McAdams, 1997). While Narrative Approaches fit with the flexible nature of the current study, the researcher rejected the method, as narrative analysis primarily focuses on the individual level (Lyons & Coyle, 2012). As the researcher aimed to understand common patterns of meaning, RTA instead felt more appropriate.

3.3 Evaluating the quality of qualitative research

In quantitative studies, research designs are often evaluated using measures such as reliability and validity (Collingridge & Gantt, 2008). Reliability concerns factors such as participant and observer bias and participant and observer error (Robson, 2011). Many quantitative studies also consider the effects of internal and external validity, and how generalised their research findings can be (Mertens, 2014). However, the criteria used to

evaluate quantitative research is not appropriate to evaluate qualitative research (Golafshani, 2003). Tools which evaluate the quality of qualitative research should instead reflect the paradigm in which the qualitative research is located (Merriam, 1995). Within the literature it has been suggested that academics may find it difficult to define measures of quality for qualitative research, since qualitative research is often underpinned by flexible methodologies (Yardley, 2000). Although this is the case, it is important that researchers consider how the quality of their research is upheld (Robson, 2011).

Throughout the study, the researcher has referred to, and described, how the quality of the research is upheld. To inform quality appraisal, the researcher has utilised several frameworks; several frameworks were chosen as there does not appear to be a consensus within the literature to suggest which quality appraisal tool is most appropriate. The researcher has drawn on the following frameworks:

- 1) Lincoln and Guba (1985) credibility, transferability, confirmability, dependability
- 2) Anderson (2017) reflexivity, coherence, transparency, transferability, ethical considerations
- Yardley (2017) commitment and rigour, impact and importance, sensitivity to context, transparency and coherence
- 4) Braun and Clarke's (2021) 15-point quality checklist

Specific terminology has been described when first introduced to the reader. Alongside quality appraisal tools, when undertaking RTA, Braun and Clarke (2021) suggest researchers must also engage in a process of reflexivity. The process of reflexivity is therefore discussed below.

3.3.1 Researcher reflexivity

Reflexivity has been deemed an important process by numerous researchers (Mauthner & Doucet, 2003; Patton, 2002) as well as being a key criterion and measure of high-quality qualitative research (Anderson, 2017; Lincoln & Guba, 1985). Reflexivity is embedded within the values of qualitative paradigms (Madill & Gough, 2008). Reflexivity is a process in which researchers consciously reflect on how their own experiences, beliefs and ontological and epistemological positionings influence psychological knowledge and engagement with data (Berger, 2015; Langdridge, 2007).

In qualitative research, a reflexive researcher acknowledges that they are involved in the data collection process and findings generated as part of data analysis (Berger, 2015). Reflexivity allows findings to be co-constructed from participant data and the researcher's own beliefs (Darawsheh, 2014; Shufutinsky, 2020). In RTA, the researcher's subjectivity is viewed as a primary tool and resource for analysis (Gough, 2016; Luttrell, 2019).

Recognising the role of the researcher within the study can increase methodological integrity and the transparency and credibility of the study (Berger, 2015; Levitt et al., 2017; Willig, 2017). Transparency ensures the reader has a detailed understanding of methodological decisions while credibility explores similarities between participants' accounts and the researcher's interpretation (Anderson, 2017; Lincoln & Guba, 1985).

Throughout the study, the researcher has considered personal reflexivity (how her values may shape research) and functional reflexivity (how the methods and design may shape the research produced) (Braun & Clarke, 2021; Creswell & Creswell, 2017; Robson, 2011). This felt important given the researcher's personal interest in the subject topic and accompanying subjectivity.

The researcher also kept a reflexive log (Braun & Clarke, 2021) and engaged in reflexive questioning using guidance proposed by Langdridge (2007), see Table 4. The log was used as a self-critical tool (Nowell et al., 2017) to address prior knowledge, assumptions (Nadin & Casell, 2006) and emotional responses during data collection (Cunliffe, 2016). While the researcher has engaged in reflexivity, the researcher acknowledges her thoughts can only ever be understood imperfectly (Finley, 2002). To support transparency (Anderson, 2017), an extract from the reflexive log can be found in Appendix 5.

56

Table 4. An example of reflexive questions (Langdridge, 2007) captured in the researcher's reflexive log.

Question	Reflexive Thoughts			
Is the	The researcher would view themselves as an outsider within the study.			
researcher an	The researcher does not have any experience of teaching the RSE			
insider or an	curriculum, however the researcher does have a personal interest in the			
outsider?	topic. The researcher had no prior links to stakeholders in the study;			
	however the researcher did volunteer at several youth groups to build			
	rapport with CYP. During this time the researcher was mindful of			
	potential power imbalances and avoided positioning themselves as an			
	'expert'. The researcher acknowledges that as an outsider they were			
	unfamiliar with some of the language used by the participants, and as			
	such, where necessary, the researcher asked clarifying questions to			
	avoid potential misinterpretations.			
Does the	Yes, the researcher does empathise with the participants' experiences.			
researcher	During data collection, the researcher acknowledges that she found it			
empathise	very difficult to not comment on personal stories. To manage this, the			
with the	researcher kept a reflexive log. To ensure participants did not feel their			
participants	voices were being minimised, the researcher explained at the beginning			
and their	that she would be giving very limited verbal responses; instead,			
experiences?	affirmative sounds and non-verbal body language was used.			
Who is the	The researcher is a 27-year-old educated female. At the time of the			
researcher	study, the researcher was working as a TEP for the Local Authority (LA).			
and how	The researcher had no prior connections to the youth groups in which			
might the	participants were recruited. The researcher acknowledges that			
researcher	participants' responses may have been influenced by their own			
influence the	perception of the researcher, however the researcher aimed to			
research?	minimise power imbalances (see above).			
Why is the	The research was a requirement of the researcher's doctoral training.			
researcher	The researcher had both a professional and personal interest in the			
carrying out	research topic. The researcher felt disgruntled with her own experience			
the research?	of RSE and the extent to which unhealthy relationships and non-			
	consensual experiences appear to be increasing in society. Within the LA			
	in which the researcher was working, the topic (unbeknown to the			
	researcher at the time of submitting her proposal) was also part of a			
	wider agenda to increase young people's knowledge of safe sex.			

3.4. Stakeholder engagement

Before recruitment could take place, the researcher had to consider stakeholders involved within the research study. When considering the quality of qualitative research, Yardley (2017) suggested that researchers should be sensitive to ethical, theoretical and social cultural issues which may arise during the research project. To ensure best practice, the researcher identified and worked with a range of stakeholders including:

- CYP: so as not to be seen as an 'outsider' to the group, the researcher spent time volunteering at the youth groups and building rapport with CYP. CYP were offered the opportunity to ask questions pre and post data collection and had the autonomy to choose whether they wanted to speak to the researcher as part of a focus group or individual interview. Data was collected in a safe, confidential, and familiar setting. CYP were offered comfort breaks during data collection. Youth group staff provided a 1:1 emotional check-in with the CYP after data collection.
- Parents and carers: parents and carers were kept fully informed of the study aims and methods. Contact with parents and carers took place through written communication. Parents and carers were asked to consider the appropriateness of participation given the potential sensitive nature of the study topics.
- Youth group staff: the researcher worked closely with staff from two youth groups (see 3.5.3). Communication took place pre-, during and post- data collection through telephone and email correspondence and face to face meetings. Working with staff was important to ensure they did not act as gatekeepers (Krueger & Casey, 2015).
- **University of Nottingham**: the research project formed part of the DAEP training course. During the project the researcher was supervised by her university tutor and used tutorials to discuss ethical queries (see section 3.7).
- LA & Educational Psychology Service (EPS): the research was undertaken within a LA in Yorkshire. The researcher worked closely with organisations within the council who were positioned to advocate for the voice of CYP.

3.5 Design – participants

3.5.1 Participant inclusion criteria

There were two inclusion criteria for this study. Firstly, participants needed to have had some school-based delivery on RSE and sexual consent – this allowed participants to reflect

on personal experiences. Secondly, participants had to be 11-18 years old – this allowed analytical interpretations to be linked to government legislation.

3.5.2 Participant recruitment

Given the nature of the research population, the researcher adopted a purposeful sampling strategy (Robson, 2011). To gauge preliminary interest, an email was sent to potential youth groups within the LA, detailing the study aims and research design (see Appendix 6). The researcher received an expression of interest from three youth groups who received a follow up letter (see Appendix 7). Additional questions from staff were answered via phone and email. Two of the three youth groups who showed an expression of interest agreed to support with recruitment.

Recruitment was co-constructed with youth group staff to ensure that CYP were not coerced into taking part; staff were reminded weekly of CYP's right to participate. From October to December 2022 the researcher volunteered at two separate youth groups. At each youth group the researcher volunteered once a week, for 2-3 hours a night. By volunteering, the researcher aimed to raise the profile of the study, build rapport with potential participants, and show her commitment to the CYP (Yardley, 2017).

Staff distributed information sheets to parents and carers (see Appendix 8); the document detailed the purpose of the study and participant eligibility criteria. Posters were placed around the youth group building (see Appendix 9) and the researcher delivered a short five-minute informal presentation to potential participants at the end of one of the sessions. Attendance was not compulsory. The presentation offered CYP the opportunity to ask questions and express interest. Those interested in the study received an information sheet (see Appendix 10). The information sheets encouraged CYP and parents and carers to consider the content of the study and their own personal experiences. If personal risks were identified, either by the CYP, their parents or carers, or by staff at the youth group, the CYP were unable to participate.

3.5.3 Description of the youth group settings

Youth group one comprised of seven CYP, between the ages of 11 and 14; the group had been established within the last year. Youth group two comprised of approximately 18 young people, between the ages of 15 and 18. The groups were mixed sex and included CYP from a range of schools within the LA. Recruitment from two youth groups supported the study's transferability of findings across the LA (Lincoln & Guba, 1985; Korstjens & Moser, 2018). Widening the recruitment pool to CYP across England would have increased transferability, however given the scope of the project and doctoral time restrictions, the researcher felt this to be unfeasible. Future studies may wish to replicate the study using a wider recruitment strategy.

3.5.4 Description of participants

Participants were asked to provide descriptive information as part of the study; an example of the form completed by participants can be found in see Appendix 11. Descriptive information is recorded in Table 5. To ensure confidentiality, real names have been redacted and replaced with a pseudonym chosen by participants.

Pseudonym	Age†	Preferred	Gender	Sexual	Ethnicity	School	School	SEND‡
		Pronoun	Identity	Orientation		Setting	Composition	
Sid	11y 6m	She/her	Female	Heterosexual	White	Mainstream	Mixed Sex	Yes
Jack	11y 10m	He/him	Male	Heterosexual	White	Mainstream	Mixed Sex	No
Lewis	12y 6m	He/him	*	*	White	Mainstream	Mixed Sex	*
Jeffery	14y 7m	He/him	Male	Heterosexual	White	Mainstream	Mixed Sex	Yes
Kevina	12y 4m	She/her	Female	Bisexual	White	Mainstream	Mixed Sex	Yes
Felix	13y 2m	He/him	Male	*	White	Mainstream	Mixed Sex	*
Sandra	16y 2m	She/her	Female	Heterosexual	White	Mainstream	Mixed Sex	No
Trevor	16y 2m	He/him	Male	Heterosexual	White	Mainstream	Mixed Sex	No
Wendy	16y 3m	She/her	Female	Bisexual	White	Mainstream	Mixed Sex	Yes
Keith	14y 5m	He/him	Male	Heterosexual	White	Mainstream	Mixed Sex	Yes
Saul	16y 3m	He/him	Male	Bisexual	White	Mainstream	Mixed Sex	No
Julie	15y 7m	She/her	Female	Heterosexual	White	Mainstream	Single Sex	No
Lila	15y 5m	She/her	Female	Heterosexual	White	Mainstream	Single Sex	No
Mia	11y 0m	She/her	Female	Heterosexual	White	Mainstream	Mixed Sex	No
Sage	12y 11m	She/her	Female	Heterosexual	White	Mainstream	Mixed Sex	No

Table 5. Descriptive information of the 15 participants who took part in the study.

+ Age (year and month) at time of interview (calculated using date of birth and interview date)

‡ SEND – Special Educational Need or Disability

* Indicates non-disclosed information by participants

3.6 Qualitative data collection measures

The lived experiences of participants were collected through semi-structured small focus groups and individual interviews. A rationale for these tools precedes a description of the data collection measures below.

3.6.1 Justification for interviews and focus groups

As suggested by Mertens (2014), interviews are an appropriate tool to collect qualitative data and the voice of YP. Interviews can be designed in several ways: 1) 'structured' – the researcher asks predetermined questions using a structured interview schedule; 2) 'semi structured' – the researcher uses prompts and questions based on the literature and participants' responses; 3) 'unstructured' – an informal discussion is held on a topic of interest (Robson, 2011).

To answer the research question and study aims, the researcher chose a 'semi structured' approach to data collected. A semi-structured, flexible approach was favourable as it enabled the researcher to ask exploratory, open-ended questions, facilitating comfortable interaction and discussions in which 'rich' information was gathered (Smith et al., 2009). The semi-structured design offered participants autonomy to explore emergent topics of interest, without being limited or bound by the researcher's interests, thus reflecting the researcher's critical realist ontological position.

Interview designs can be used with individual participants or within group contexts (Robson, 2011). Some would argue that individual interviews are favoured, as they eliminate the chance of one participant dominating the conversation (Cohen et al., 2017), while others would suggest that focus groups are preferable, as they encourage discussions amongst participants and allow reflections to be captured in a more realistic and comfortable setting (Kitzinger, 1994).

As existing research did not indicate a best practice (Cohen et al., 2017; Kitzinger, 1994), participants were given the option to choose which data gathering technique they preferred. Those who opted for a focus group were also given autonomy to choose which participants they would like to form the wider group. The researcher hoped by giving participants autonomy, the study would be deemed ethically sensitive to individual needs (Yardley, 2017).

3.6.2 Developing the interview schedule

The interview schedule was developed by drawing upon guidance from wider literature (Robson, 2011; Smith et al., 2009). To foster feelings of comfort (Smith et al., 2009) the interviews began by asking a preliminary question unrelated to the research topic: '*Can you tell me one thing you enjoy doing when you come to the youth group?*'.

Throughout the individual interviews and focus groups, a range of questioning styles were used (Breen, 2006; Krueger & Casey, 2015). A broad, introductory question (Robson, 2011) cued participants into the research topic: *'Can you tell me about your experiences of the relationship and sex education curriculum in school to date?'* while more traditional questions allowed the researcher to explore pertinent topics recognised and explored within the literature review. Topics of interest were used to answer the study aims and research questions. Topics included curriculum content, teaching approaches, teacher characteristic, classroom expectations, classroom composition and pupil behaviour. The flexibility of the approach allowed the researcher to further explore topics important to YP, which may not have received sufficient weighting in the original exploration of the literature.

The interviews and focus groups concluded by offering CYP the opportunity to comment on any topics which had not previously been discussed (Breen, 2006; Krueger & Casey, 2015). Participants were asked, '*Is there anything else you would like to mention that we have not discussed today?*'. This question also allowed discussions to come to a natural close (Robson, 2011). To support transparency of the study (Yardley, 2017), a copy of the semistructured interview schedule can be found in Appendix 12.

In line with the theoretical basis of RTA, during the creation of the interview schedule the researcher considered her use of language and terminology. To minimise negative emotional responses and the likelihood of participant distress, the researcher attempted to use impartial language and phraseologies. The researcher also discussed the schedule with her supervisor and submitted a copy as part of the ethical approval process.

3.6.3 Carrying out the semi-structured interviews and focus groups

Once written consent had been sought, a date for data collection was arranged. For convenience, data collections took place on the night CYP attended the youth groups. CYP were asked to choose whether they preferred a focus group or interview, ahead of the preagreed date. Details of the dates in which data collection took place, and the composition of the focus groups, can be found in Table 6.

Date	Interview or Focus Group	Participants		
29/10/22	Focus Group 1	Sid, Jack, Lewis, Jeffery & Kevina		
03/11/22	Individual Interview 1	Felix		
16/11/22	Focus Group 2	Sandra, Trevor, Wendy, Keith & Saul		
17/11/22	Focus Group 3	Julie, Lila		
25/11/22	Individual Interview 2	Mia		
26/11/22	Individual Interview 3	Sage		

Table 6. A table detailing the dates and composition of focus groups and individual interviews.

Prior to data collection the researcher ensured: 1) there was a quiet and confidential room available; 2) a member of staff was available to participants if they needed to seek support;3) a member of staff was identified as a designated safeguarding lead in case of a safeguarding disclosure.

At the beginning of the interviews and focus groups, participants provided demographic information and assigned themselves a pseudonym to ensure confidentiality and anonymity. Participants were reminded of the purpose of the study and their right to withdraw (see section 3.7.6). Participants were reminded to only share information they felt comfortable sharing. Participants were reminded that information discussed would remain confidential unless a disclosure was made (see section 3.7.5). Participants involved in the focus groups were also asked to co-create and agree to a confidentiality and privacy agreement (see section 3.7.2).

During the interviews and focus groups participants were asked a series of semi-structured questions (see section 3.5.2). To support the credibility of the study (Lincoln & Guba, 1985) and ensure a comprehensive understanding, the researcher asked clarifying questions and summarised participants' responses where necessary. This was particularly important when participants used slang terminology. To elicit further in-depth discussions and reflections, the researcher asked extension questions such as 'can you tell me more about...?' (Braun & Clarke, 2021; Parker, 2005).

The researcher offered participants a comfort break and provided an emotional check-in halfway through data collection. Interviews were audio recorded (see section 3.6.3). Interviews and focus groups lasted between 27 minutes and 47 seconds, and 55 minutes and 7 seconds. In total, 3 hours 27 minutes and 46 seconds of data was collected.

At the end of the interviews and focus groups, participants were debriefed. Participants were offered a verbal debrief and given a document detailing further information (see Appendix 13). Further details of the debrief process can be found in section 3.7.4.

3.6.4 Transcribing the data

The interviews were transcribed verbatim by the researcher; the researcher transcribed spoken conversation as well as laughter and verbal sounds of agreement. Pauses were not transcribed. Transcription allowed the researcher to immerse herself in the raw data before analysis began. Identifiable information including names of participants, schools and staff were anonymised. Pseudonyms were also assigned to participants.

3.7 Ethical considerations

To ensure ethical and professional standards were upheld during the research process, the researcher followed guidance from the following governing bodies: The Health and Care Professions Council (HCPC) Standards of Conduct Performance and Ethics (2016); The British Psychological Society (BPS) Guidelines for Minimum Standards of Ethical Approval in Psychological Research; The BPS Code of Ethics and Conduct (2018); The BPS Code of Human Research Ethics (2021); and the University of Nottingham's Code of Research Conduct and Research Ethics (2016).

The study received ethical approval from the University of Nottingham's Ethics Committee in May 2022 (see appendix 16). The researcher also adhered to safeguarding and ethical procedures outlined within guidance from the LA in which the study took place. The researcher addressed the following ethical considerations:

3.7.1 Informed consent

Verbal consent was obtained from youth group staff who allowed the study to take place. Prior to data collection, written consent was obtained from YP (participants) and from parents and carers of any participant under the age of 16 (see Appendix 14 & 15). Without parental consent CYP under 16 were unable to take part in the study. Participants aged 16 years and older did not require parental consent. These participants were instead asked to provide proof of age and assigned a 'responsible adult' (a member of staff from the youth group). In line with the Mental Capacity Act Code of Practice (DoH, 2005) it was assumed that anyone over the age of 16 had mental capacity to consent; there were no concerns about young people's capacity raised by the 'responsible adults'. The young people's capacity to consent was further checked by ensuring they understood the purpose of the study and what they were being asked to do.

Verbal consent was obtained from all participants at the beginning of the focus groups and individual interviews. Throughout the study youth group staff, participants, and parents and carers were reminded that consent was voluntary. Given the potentially sensitive nature of the study, participants were asked to consider the content of the study topic and if personal risks were identified, consent to take part was not granted.

3.7.2 Confidentiality

Interviews were audio recorded on a Dictaphone. Audio files were stored securely on a password protected device and once transcribed (within a three-week period of data collection), were permanently deleted. Paper documentation (including consent forms and demographic information) was stored in a locked container. All data was gathered and stored in compliance with the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) and Data Protection Act 2018 (HM Government, 2018). All documentation will be permanently deleted at the end of the doctoral training course.

Participants within the focus groups were asked to co-create and agree to a confidentiality and privacy agreement as a condition of participation. If this was not agreed to, participants would have been excluded from participating. An example of the agreement can be found in Appendix 17. The agreement aimed to protect confidentiality ('anything we say stays in here'), address potential power imbalances ('don't talk over people') and foster respectful interactions ('care for people around you') (Kitzinger, 1994; Mertens, 2014).

3.7.3 Anonymity

To protect individuals' privacy, the researcher complied with GDPR (HM Government, 2018). Parents and carers received a GDPR notice as part of their information pack (see Appendix 8) and all those involved in the study were advised that personal information would remain anonymous (Robson, 2011).

3.7.4 Debriefing

The debrief document that participants received signposted them to support and guidance from charities and organisations regarding safe sex and non-consensual sex. Participants were also given the opportunity to ask questions as part of a group or individually. Staff provided an emotional check-in with all participants, on a 1:1 basis, after data collection.

3.7.5 Participant protection from harm

Although it was perceived that the risk of harm to participants was minimal, the researcher worked closely with staff to minimise the risk of potential stress, discomfort, and psychological harm (BPS, 2021). Considerations included finding an appropriate space for data collection, offering comfort breaks to participants, and providing ongoing support through staff. The composition of the focus groups was also considered to ensure that the participants were with those of a similar age, and therefore likely to be exposure to language and conversational topics which were familiar to the group. Younger and older participants took part in separate focus groups. A description of the two youth group settings, and age of the participants, can be found in section 3.5.3.

As a precautionary measure, the researcher worked with staff to identify a designated safeguarding lead. The researcher also familiarised herself with LA policy to ensure that if a disclosure was made, it was handled appropriately. Participants were made aware of how information would be shared if a disclosure of risk, harm or concern was raised. This would involve contacting the LA Children's Social Care Team and following the guidance outlined in the Working Together to Safeguard Children document (DfE, 2018). Any information would be accurately recorded and shared only with those who needed to know, in a timely and purposeful manner.

3.7.6 Right to withdraw

Participants, parents and carers and youth group staff were informed that participation in the study was entirely voluntary. This information was detailed within the information, consent and debrief forms. Participants could withdraw at any time, and without reason. An alternative room was available for participants to access if required.

3.7.7 Power imbalances

The literature highlights the importance of addressing power imbalances within research (Robson, 2011). As a researcher working for the LA in which the research was conducted,

there was a risk the researcher's employment status may have impacted upon engagement. To minimise power imbalances the researcher spent time volunteering at the youth groups and building rapport (see section 3.4.2). To address power imbalances within the focus groups, participants co-created a group agreement (see section 3.6.2). During the focus groups the researcher also utilised skills in facilitation (Wagner, 2008) to ensure more reserved members of the group had sufficient opportunity to contribute reflections (Thomas, 2013).

3.8 Data analysis

3.8.1 Reflexive Thematic Analysis

Raw data gathered during individual interviews and focus groups was analysed using Braun and Clarke's RTA (2006; 2021). RTA is a six-phase analytical approach used to understand patterns of meaning across datasets. A description of the six phases of analysis in relation to the current study can be found in Table 7.

Braun and Clarke argue that RTA does not align solely with one epistemological or ontological positioning. It is underpinned by social constructionist and relativist ideologies and therefore can be used by researchers, such as the current author, who adopt a critical realist stance (Clarke & Braun, 2013). The approach does not attempt to uncover 'underlying truths' (Braun & Clarke, 2019), but instead supports the researcher to critically reflect on their own constructions, through fluid exploration of the six stages (Terry et al, 2017).

The approach was favoured by the researcher as it complements the study's flexible research design and is thought to be an accessible tool for new researchers (Braun & Clarke, 2019). RTA also supports the transparency of research, as it requires the researcher to keep a clear audit trail (Anderson, 2017; Braun & Clarke, 2006). As a tool, RTA can be used to produce actional outcomes and therefore such an analysis may help to inform policy developments (Braun & Clarke, 2021). This is important as the researcher aims to draw connections between YP's experiences and government policy.

To comprehensively answer the study's aims, the researcher coded the data twofold (see stage two). Firstly, the researcher coded the data in relation to the main research question: *What are CYP's experiences of the RSE curriculum?* The researcher also conducted a second cycle of coding to answer the sub-question: *How do CYP experience the teaching of consent, as part of the RSE curriculum?*

Table 7. Six stages of Reflexive Thematic Analysis as defined by Braun & Clarke (2021).

Stage	Researcher's Process
Stage One:	The researcher immersed herself in the datasets by transcribing each
Familiarising	interview and focus group. The data took approximately 40 hours to
yourself	transcribe. During this stage the researcher repeatedly engaged with the
with the	data and original transcripts. The researcher noted any dominant
data	discourses or minority voices within the focus groups (Parker, 2005).
Stage Two:	The researcher coded the entire data set in response to the two distinct
Coding	but complimentary research questions. Codes aimed to capture the notion
	of the data and were presented as brief phrases. Several coding sweeps
	were conducted to ensure the data had been comprehensively coded. This
	stage was viewed as an organic, subjective process, where codes were
	refined (Braun & Clarke, 2021). The researcher adopted an inductive
	approach to coding. Initial codes focused on intentional language at a
	semantic level, where appropriate, some latent codes were applied.
Stage Three:	The codes were clustered and collated into broader themes, which
Generating	reflected the entirety of the dataset. Braun and Clarke (2021) defined
initial	themes as a 'central organising concept'. This stage has been coined an
themes	'active process of pattern formulation and identification' (Terry et al.,
	2017). The researcher used initial thematic maps as a visual medium to
	explore the themes and subthemes of the data.
<u>Stage Four:</u>	The researcher explored the relationship between overarching themes,
Developing	subthemes, and codes. Themes and subthemes were refined to ensure
and	best interpretation of data. Themes were compared to the original data
reviewing	set and research questions. Direct quotes supported themes extracted
themes	(Breen, 2006). The researcher produced a refined thematic map. By re-
	exploring the data at this stage, the researcher hoped to support the
	confirmability (Lincoln & Guba, 1985) of the study.
<u>Stage Five:</u>	The researcher assigned a clear, specific, and unique label to the themes
Refining,	and subthemes. The researcher took time to consider the language used
defining,	so the themes had specific boundaries and did not overlap (Braun &
and naming	Clarke, 2013). At this stage the researcher considered completing
themes	member checks, a process whereby participants read and comment on the
	analysis. However, in line with the researcher's epistemological
	positioning and the use of both semantic and latent codes, member
	checks were discredited as it was thought such critical analysis may be
	unrecognisable to participants (Braun & Clarke, 2021).
Stage Six:	A comprehensive write up of the researcher's analytical interpretations
Writing up	and conclusions can be found in Chapter Four. Extracts have been used to
	empower the voice of participants and illustrate their lived experiences.

3.8.2 Braun and Clarke's 15-point checklist

Throughout the analysis the researcher engaged in a process of reflexivity (see section 3.3.3); reflexivity is integral to good quality qualitative research (Anderson, 2017). During data analysis the researcher attempted to explicitly demonstrate analytical decisions to support the dependability and confirmability of the research study (Lincoln & Guba, 1985; Parker, 2005; Terry et al., 2017). The researcher acknowledges that themes and codes are not permanent and have been subjectively shaped by the researcher's own values (Berger, 2015; Gough & Madill, 2012). The researcher enhanced the study's rigour (Yardley, 2017) by utilising Braun and Clarke's (2006; 2021) 15-point checklist. A detailed description of the checklist can be found in Table 8.

During data analysis the researcher spent a prolonged engagement with the datasets (Korstjens & Moser, 2018) to enhance the credibility of the research study. Throughout the study the researcher has ensured dependability (Lincoln & Guba, 1985) by attempting to explain the process of RTA in a clear, transparent, and logical way. Finally, the researcher has kept a clear data audit, amending extracts of the original transcripts and six stages of RTA, as part of the study's appendices (see appendix 18-24).

 Table 8. Utilising Braun and Clarke's (2021) 15-point checklist for good quality research.

Number	Process	Application of criteria
1	Transcription	Transcripts were transcribed to an appropriate level of
		detail and checked against original recordings
2	Coding	Thorough repeated attention was given to each dataset
3		The researcher engaged in a coding process which was
		thorough and comprehensive, illustrated by numerous
		anecdotal quotes across datasets
4		Relevant extracts have been collated
5		Themes were checked against original datasets and coded
		data
6		Each theme comprises of a central organising concept with
		subthemes appropriately linked
7	Analysis and	The researcher went beyond surface level summarising,
	interpretation	presenting an analysis of the data in Chapter 4
8		Extracts have been provided to evidence the analysis
9		The researcher has aimed to present the data in such a
		way that it describes a well-organised story which address
		the research question
10		The researcher has aimed to provide a balance of data
		extracts and analytical narrative
11	Overall	Sufficient time has been allocated to all phases of analysis
12	Written report	Theoretical positions, assumptions and the specific TA
		approach are detailed in the methodology (Chapter Three)
13		The researcher felt there is a good fit between what was
		said and what was done
14		The researcher has aimed to use language which reflects
		her ontological and epistemological position
15		Throughout the research process the researcher played an
		active role

Chapter 4 – Analysis and Interpretation

4.1 Chapter overview

This chapter will present an analysis of the datasets to answer the research questions outlined in Chapter Two:

Research Question: What are CYP's experiences of the RSE curriculum?

Sub-question: How do CYP experience the teaching of consent as part of the RSE curriculum?

While the research questions are distinct, the way in which data was collected, and the way in which CYP spoke about their experiences, subsequently resulted in crossover within the data. The researcher chose to analyse the data two-fold; firstly, the researcher explored CYP's general experiences of RSE; secondly the researcher re-analysed the data to explore specific experiences in relation to sexual consent. Within this chapter, the analysis is presented separated; similarities across themes are discussed further in Chapter Five.

4.2 Overview of themes

The themes generated through a process of RTA (Braun & Clarke, 2021) are presented within Figure 4. To accompany the thematic map, the researcher has presented a detailed commentary of the themes, evidenced through use of quotes and reflexive interpretations. The researcher has demonstrated both an illustrative and analytical account of the data (Braun & Clarke, 2021) by drawing links to wider literature presented in Chapter Two. Summative conclusions, discussions and implications for practice will be explored further in Chapter Five.
Figure 4. A thematic map (Braun & Clarke, 2021) of CYP's experiences of the RSE curriculum



4.3 Research question: What are CYP's experiences of the RSE curriculum?

4.3.1 Theme 1: A conflict of interest between espoused practice and policy and a curriculum important to CYP

There was an overarching consensus that despite government reforms (DfE, 2019a; Greening, 2017), the curriculum continues to be perceived by CYP as unfit for purpose. It was suggested by participants that content is not memorable nor meaningful to their lived experiences; a finding noted across much of the RSE literature (Strange et al., 2003; Sundaram & Sauntson, 2016). The researcher concluded that curriculum content is often viewed as too simplistic, repetitive and monotonous. Across datasets the researcher noticed a conflict of interest in topics taught as part of the RSE curriculum and those valued by CYP. The researcher further understood there to be a difference in what is written in policy and guidance (see section 2.2.3) and what CYP receive as part of the current RSE curriculum. Within this theme the researcher identified four subthemes titled: *'Tackling a genderedheteronormative curriculum'; 'Consequences of a sex-negative curriculum'; 'We need to learn earlier'; 'Why were we not taught during COVID-19?'*

Subtheme 1.1: Tackling a gendered-heteronormative curriculum.

Many of the participants began by reflecting on their experiences of being taught RSE in primary school. There was a consensus in primary schools that lessons are segregated by gender and content taught is gender specific. It appeared apparent that females were taught 'female specific topics' such as menstruation and the stages of pregnancy, while males received substantially more information on male contraception:

'in like primary school they put on like a video and the boys go outside and do PE and we will we'll learn all about periods and all the mood swings' (Kevina; 30-31)

'they didn't teach the boys about it (periods) I don't understand why' (Felix; 99-100)

'it is important cause like not many boys I feel like not a lot of boys actually know about female reproductive systems and stuff' (Julie; 204-205)

'like girls no one tells girls how to put condoms on boys (Wendy; 228-229)

'I know what all the girls said in my class they said they want to know how to put a condom on a boy' (Keith; 222-223) For Felix, who identifies as female (but in primary school was taught as a male), segregation by gender was particularly uncomfortable. Felix shared his personal frustrations, coining teaching in this way as '*stupid'*, '*weird*' and '*strange*'. Felix voiced that he was '*thankful*' he subsequently received RSE in mixed-sex classes during secondary school. Although the reformed curriculum specifies that educators should teach content that is inclusive to all gender identities (DfE, 2019a), Felix's story suggests that there continues to be a lack of sensitivity to the individual needs of CYP.

Participants suggested that a gendered curriculum has contributed to a lack of knowledge and understanding in CYP. These findings add to concerns identified by Ofsted in 2013. For some, a lack of knowledge and understanding has led to a deterioration in mixed-sex friendships and a breakdown of romantic relationships:

'when you're in a relationship and when you're on like your time of the month and whatever and you have like a really bad mood swing and they'll blame it on sommit and then they'll fallout but they don't understand cos like they haven't learned about it' (Kevina; 35-37)

'if anyone gets a bit they say salty it's get annoyed or sommit they'll say oh it's cos you're on your period but I don't know if they're just misusing that or if they don't understand' (Sid; 151-152)

Most participants voiced wanting to learn about the opposite gender when receiving teaching on sex, reproduction, menstruation, pleasure and consent. It was suggested by Jeffery that such knowledge could be gained through co-learning opportunities:

'I think that girls should teach the boys with the sex education and everything and I think the boys should teach the girls what it's like for what the boys to go through cos if they don't the girls won't know what it's like for the boys to go through and it's going to be the same but the opposite for the girls (Jeffery; 229-230).

These findings add to the wider literature that has highlighted the importance of mixed-sex classes, co-learning and a comprehensive curriculum (Forrest et al., 2004; Hirst, 2004; Lee et al., 2018; Sundaram & Sauntson, 2016).

Participants also suggested that a gendered curriculum may contribute to stereotypical gender norms noted within society. Several CYP voiced a need for a generational shift in attitudes, which they felt could be addressed through RSE:

'I don't understand why a lot of people are like don't want boys to know about periods' (Felix; 105-106)

'it shouldn't be expected that every time the boy has to put the condom on' (Wendy; 228-

229)

'it's that generation where boys have to learn it' (Jeffery; 148)

Participants further discussed discrepancies in the extent to which the curriculum is inclusive of all sexualities. Some schools were perceived inclusive (Mia and Sage), while others felt teaching on LGBTQ+ relationships were tokenistic. Julie and Lila discussed an initiative in their schools which aims to give voice to LGBTQ+ students. The researcher felt the extract demonstrates the school's failure in supporting LGTBQ+ students. The narrative also suggested that while topics may be taught within RSE lessons, inclusivity is not always achieved at a whole school level:

'but it's one of those things where like the school do it but nobody actually like wants to do it cos they get a bit embarrassed' (Lila; 52-53)

'yeah' (Julie; 54)

'would you go and speak to these people?' (Researcher; 56)

'probably not' (Lila; 57)

'no it's just like you know when schools do something but nobody's actually like actually doing it it's just like they do it to like' (Julie; 58-59)

'look good' (Lila; 60)

'yeah like a tick box thing for the school to look good' (Julie; 61)

Despite the reforms' stated aims that RSE will celebrate a wealth of family composition, including same sex relationship (DfE, 2019a), participants' experiences suggested that the

current curriculum has a strong heteronormative agenda, in which heterosexual relationships are prioritised.

The researcher interpreted that a heteronormative agenda is further indirectly prioritised through significant teaching on biological topics such as reproduction to create life:

'they didn't do anything like with same sex they just did the relationship part with like a man and a women like nothing else actually' (Mia; 111-112)

'you learn like how to make a baby basically' (Kevina; 159)

The lived experiences of participants suggested that the curriculum is not dissimilar to that taught in the early 1900's (Hall, 2004).

Subtheme 1.2: Consequences of a sex-negative curriculum

Participants highlighted that many topics important to CYP, such as pleasure, masturbation, kinks and how to improve their sex lives, are not covered as part of the RSE curriculum:

'we don't specifically get taught that sex is a good thing that people can enjoy it for pleasure and it's healthy' (Wendy; 308-309)

'never in my entire life in school have I heard anything about masturbation' (Saul; 200)

These findings build upon what is known about the experiences of CYP in England (post-reforms) (Forrest et al., 2004; Hirst, 2004; Strange et al., 2003; Sundaram & Sauntson, 2016) and CYP across the world (McCann et al., 2019; Pound et al., 2016).

The researcher understood that CYP have few opportunities to discuss positive sexual experiences in school, despite a desire to learn. In the few instances topics have been discussed, the researcher felt topics were tainted by negative connotations and undesirable attributions. Saul (203-205) reflected on his experience of learning about masturbation:

'It's just sort of been like it hasn't been deemed okay...what I'm saying is no one talks about it and I think it needs to be talked about'

Participants suggested that teachers discourage sexual activities by highlighting potential risks. When discussed in this way, sexual activities were often viewed as '*taboo*' (Julie; 232):

'they just tell us not to have sex' (Sandra; 64)

'we are just taught the negative things like we don't we get taught like if you don't use contraception you'll get pregnant if you don't use a condom you could get an STD' (Wendy; 305-306)

These findings add strength to the wider literature that has recognised a lack of opportunity for CYP to discuss sex positive topics (Hirst, 2004; Sundaram & Staunton, 2016). Participants suggested that a lack of discussions around sex positive topics, may lead CYP to withdraw from seeking support, or may lead CYP to question their own moral views. The researcher felt this to be a novel finding within the literature:

'that's what puts people off cos they're not taught about anything else so they just keep it to themselves' (Lila; 283-284)

'don't watch porn because it ruins sex...it like fucks up your head basically (Trevor; 69-70) 'if you don't get taught about it you might think that it's wrong' (Sandra; 327) 'think they're weird and not open up' (Wendy; 328)

Subtheme 1.3: We need teaching earlier.

Many of the participants voiced that topics taught as part of the RSE curriculum are delivered too late; the importance of starting Relationship, Sex and Health Education earlier is recognised widely in the literature (Alldred, 2007; Hilton, 2007; Hirst, 2004; Pound et al., 2016; Strange et al., 2003). Participants suggested that content should be delivered at a time which reflects personal experiences, such as starting puberty and beginning a romantic or sexual relationship:

'they just tell you about things that aren't really real life' (Jeffery, 53-54)

'stuff that actually applies to us in real life' (Wendy; 75)

The researcher understood that the timing in which RSE is delivered is fundamental to its success. An age-appropriate curriculum which adapts to the developing maturity of CYP has been noted within the wider literature (DfE, 2019a; Greening, 2017). Lila offered one explanation as to why timing is crucial:

'just adding to that learning from a younger age I think as well with learning later on that's what makes people like zone out and makes it uncomfortable is because you not if you talk about it from earlier age on you're more comfortable with the topic' (Lila; 214-216)

While there was a consensus that some topics should be taught earlier, participants agreed that Year 9 and 10 (age 13-15 years) is the 'ideal age' for teaching on sexual relationships. Participants suggested this is an appropriate age due to increasing levels of maturity, knowledge and experience of long-term relationships. This age could be seen to reflect theories of adolescent development whereby CYP begin to develop norms around sexual behaviours (Savin-Williams & Diamond, 2004).

The researcher understood that participants seek a curriculum which adapts with the age and maturity of CYP;

'like as you get older they don't really do more detail or anything which I think they should' (Julie; 21-22)

'year ten is like that's when they they completely gave up but that's the time when people are more likely to start having sex cause that's like fifteen sixteen' (Wendy; 238-239)

Subtheme 1.4: Why were we not taught during COVID?

Although only discussed by a few participants, there appeared to be a disconnect between taught content prioritised by educators during the COVID-19 pandemic, and content which felt important to CYP. The pandemic was a time which saw the majority of CYP being taught online, and a time in which educators had to quickly adapt to virtual distance teaching. It was suggested by participants that there was a lack of RSE teaching during this period. Consequently, participants described missed learning opportunities and a need to revisit content. These experiences felt important to highlight given that the curriculum has been developed in sequential building blocks (DfE, 2019a). Participants voiced:

'I think we did a little bit of sex education online like towards the end in PSHE but barely any' (Sage; 6-7)

'they prioritised English and Maths and these subjects but they didn't prioritise sex ed or the things that are going to be helpful for us when were older' (Lila; 34-35)

'they teach you how to use a condom but because of COVID my year didn't get to do that but they've not gone back but I think they should go back (Julie; 30-31)

4.3.2 Theme 2: Current teaching practices do not align with CYP's preferred methods.

The researcher conceptualised an overarching narrative held by participants which suggested a disgruntlement towards current teaching practices. Participants' experiences suggested that current teaching practices are perceived as insufficient. Participants voiced a desire to want to learn, and were able to offer suggestions as to how pedagogy could be improved. The role and inclusion of CYP were central to these ideas. Within this theme the researcher identified three subthemes: 'Passive vs active learning'; 'Conversation as a teaching tool'; 'Teaching terminology for the real world'.

Subtheme 2.1: Passive vs active learning

RSE lessons were frequently described as 'boring' (Lewis, Felix, Sage and Mia). This construct was used to describe both the quality of lessons as well as teaching pedagogy. Participants implied that they were often passive recipients of information. The researcher understood CYP were rarely actively engaged in lessons or provided with opportunities to participate in practical learning activities:

'they just go through the PowerPoint and click on the links and just tell you to read it' (Lila; 93)

'like making us just listen about it which is boring' (Mia; 84)

'most of the time we kind of like don't really do anything' (Felix; 121)

'I don't think we did any like actual like hands on stuff' (Sage; 73)

Participants spoke about an overreliance on the use of videos. It was implied that participants viewed videos as insufficient passive teaching tools, further emphasising a lack of interactive learning. While heavily reliant on videos, the quality of the videos was described as *'trashy'* (Lewis; 177) and *'crappy'* (Sid; 192). Videos appeared to lack detail, while topics felt irrelevant and meaningless to CYP:

'they don't like specifically teach it they just put videos on... actually like usually just put videos on and were not really taught anything' (Kevina; 160-162) 'the video was only five minutes long and it tried to cover the entirety of puberty for girls so I don't think it like it like kind of like brushed upon everything but not like in detail (Mia; 103-104)

'they're just not good like all the videos that they use it is stupid not like how a relationship would really be' (Jeffery; 55-56)

The researcher concluded that passive teaching styles may be contributing to levels of disengagement noted by participants:

'people just have their headphones in the entire time' (Lila; 99)

'I just end up chatting with my mates half the time to be honest' (Julie; 20)

Participants appeared to favour lessons where they were actively involved in learning (see subtheme 2.2) and where teachers were viewed as skilled in delivering taught content. Skilled teachers were viewed as those who could offer multiple learning explanations, provide learning in sufficient detail above and beyond the videos, and those who could reflect on personal experiences and draw comparisons to real world contexts:

'I'd rather it be more like interactive' (Lewis; 25)

'we did lots of sheets and like activities about what to do who to tell uh and where to go for support and like and like what things you can like do to help yourself with it it was like really helpful' (Mia; 8-10)

'she told us how it felt for her to like have a kid and then it just like it just made it more real' (Jeffery; 170-171)

A few participants also discussed social media as a teaching tool. Influencers were discussed positively by Julie and Lila who suggested they '*normalise*' conversations by creating a '*comfortable*' space in which CYP can learn. Influencers and successful teachers were described as '*chill/ed*' (Julie, Lila, Saul). These findings extent previous literature which suggests teachers should be relatable and act as role models (Allen, 2009; Goldstein et al., 2007).

Julie suggested that teachers could learn from such videos and use them a teaching tool within the classroom:

'I think even teachers could do with like seeing those people on social media and then like putting up for the class to see cos if they didn't wanna talk about it then they've got that video to base it of (Julie; 234-236)

Subtheme 2.2: Conversation as a teaching tool

Participants discussed the importance of conversations as a teaching tool when learning about RSE. The opportunity for discussions appeared a central narrative, which outweighed watching videos, taking notes, and copying information from the board:

> 'PSHE is more discussion than writing' (Sage; 115) 'like not putting a video on like actually talking about it' (Lewis; 176)

> > 'a lot of boring note taking as well' (Sage; 74)

'like if they were to put the video on instead of just like pausing it halfway through and making you write loads I think they should instead of you writing loads get them to like explain what happened' (Sid; 190-192)

The power of conversations was understood to result in incidental learning and whole class discussions:

'everyone just started talking about things and like the condoms and contraception so people got to know that way' (Jeffery; 170-171)

'one of the people in the class put put her hand she put her hand up and said my mum was in labour with me for for four days and we were just discussion stuff like that' (Mia: 135-137)

Participants' experiences suggested to the researcher that there was potential misunderstanding by teachers surrounding preferences for class discussion. Participants voiced that they felt teachers believed CYP do not want to discuss sex education topics within RSE lessons, however in reality participants would like greater opportunities to ask questions and contribute to lessons:

'I think if they were willing to you know uh talk about it more yeah I think they would just assume that we wouldn't have want to talk about it but like it would be good to talk about it more' (Felix; 203-205) 'I want like more people like asking different questions because if it was just one person asking lots of questions it's not very good it's kind of awkward' (Jack; 378-379)

Participants viewed favourable educators as those who actively encouraged CYP to engage in the learning, and those who valued and empowered the voice of the individual:

'he lets you explain something' (Kevina; 212)

'like listening to us and know like not just like telling us what to do but actually like listening if someone has like got something to say rather than just like ignoring it' (Lewis; 177-178)

These findings reflect wider literature that suggests effective teachers are those who listen equally to female and male students (Strange et al., 2003) and enable the voice of CYP within the classroom (Hirst, 2004).

Participants voiced that at times, RSE lessons can be uncomfortable and awkward. *'Awkward'* was used to describe subject content, teaching approaches and teachers. The wider literature recognised that RSE lessons can elicit strong emotional responses in CYP (Pound et al., 2016). Although RSE was viewed as *'awkward'*, participants recognised that for CYP to learn, CYP and teachers must overcome feelings of discomfort:

'I know it gonna be awkward but like at least like talk to kids about it then they'll feel less awkward about it' (Felix; 128-129)

'I know it can be awkward but we need teaching' (Wendy; 319)

Participants voiced a preference for RSE lessons in which CYP are exposed to potentially 'awkward' topics and are given opportunities to discuss the topics with one another. It was suggested by participants that exposure to perceived 'awkward' topics helped increase levels of comfort, acceptance and normality for both CYP and educators:

'what's been good is the fact that like that we are actually doing it like talking about it (Mia;

171)

'every time it now comes up I'm starting to get used to it' (Jeffery, 148)

'my PSHE teacher said that when she first told us and she was a little bit uncomfortable but she just got over it' (Sage; 133-134) Addressing emotional discomfort is important as it reduces the likelihood of disengagement (Buston et al., 2002).

Subtheme 2.3: Teaching terminology for the real world

Participants voiced a need to be taught curriculum specific terminology in their RSE lessons; an element which the researcher understood was missing from current practice. Participants voiced their frustrations around being encouraged to think of alternative words for their genitalia and some even alluded to potential negative consequences of miscommunication because of being encouraged to use alternative terms:

'that's another thing my teacher never said it he told us to think of names we should call it' (Keith; 249-250)

'if people keep being taught like don't call a vagina a vagina or a penis a penis and like a young child got sexually assaulted they can't like what's what's someone gonna think if they just start telling oh someone touched whatever stupid word they call it like no one's gonna

have a clue what they're talking about or gonna take 'em seriously' (Wendy; 262-264)

Participants' experiences suggested that when curriculum specific terminology is used in class, for some there may be increased levels of discomfort and increased perceived negative behaviours. Participants suggested that teachers should challenge inappropriate behaviour and laughter as exposure is important to increase levels of comfort and acceptance of the terminology:

'not not just ignoring it when it's a word that makes people laugh and not just moving on when people laugh cos it's actually important that we talk about these things' (Sid; 179-180)

While participants voiced a preference for curriculum specific terminology when describing genitalia, participants also suggested that teachers should avoid complicated scientific terms. Participants suggested that educators should use terminology which is clear, accessible, relatable and sensitive to the age and maturity of CYP:

'it helps when it isn't too sciencey and like like they use normal words not like complicated words like like they just use words we use' (Mia; 94-96) 'I think another thing that was useful was the fact that when they were talking about like they weren't being really like childish with it they would talk talking to us like we were year sevens not like we were year twos' (Mia; 43-45)

The researcher concluded that CYP view successful educators as those who can create a language rich classroom environment.

4.3.3 Theme 3: A perceived lack of trust, confidentiality and positive student-teacher relationships

Across the interviews and focus groups, the researcher understood that many participants felt that they did not have positive student-teacher relationships. These experiences appeared to be tainted by a perceived lack of trust and confidentiality when seeking support and guidance. Participants' experiences suggested that without strong relationships, CYP seek support and guidance from alternative sources of information, however the availability and appropriateness of this information depends on the support network around the individual. Within this theme the researcher identified two subthemes: '*Feeling unable to speak to teachers'; 'Without teachers who supports CYP?*'

Subtheme 3.1: Feeling unable to speak to teachers

Across the datasets there were discrepancies in levels of openness with teachers. The researcher concluded from participants' experiences, that positive teacher-student relationships, which had been established over time, may help to facilitate open conversations around RSE.

Several participants spoke about levels of trust which facilitated or hindered their relationships with teachers. The importance of trust has been recognised widely across the literature (Allen, 2009; Hirst, 2004; Sundaram & Sauntson, 2016). Participants voiced that teachers must be trustworthy, honest and approachable for CYP to feel able to share information:

'the teacher that I'm close with that I've had for a while' (Sage; 132) 'you feel like you want to open up about or tell her' (Kevina; 70) 'I just that trust actually is so important' (Julie; 303) The findings align with the work of Strange and colleagues (2003) who noted that favourable teachers were viewed as 'open' and 'fair'.

Entwined within trusting relationships was the notion of confidentiality. The researcher understood that participants related 'trustworthy teachers' to those who kept information confidential and did not share information with others (e.g., parents and carers) without consent. Sharing of confidential or personal information had detrimental consequences, such as a breakdown of relationships and a reduction in seeking support:

'we told her and she was like oh it's completely confidential and then told our head of house who then told our parents even though they said it's confidential so they lied about it' (Wendy; 50-51)

'like they make you think that you can trust them and then they do that... she was being nice about it and then just grassed on us' (Wendy; 212-214)

'I'd just keep it to myself' (Trevor; 108)

'think that's the main reason I if I was in a situation I wouldn't say anything just trusting somebody with that sort of information is quite big' (Lila; 292-293)

Participants also voiced concerns around a lack of communication between teachers at a whole school level, particularly when support had been sought. Poor communication between students and teachers has been recognised within the wider literature (Elia, 2000). Participants voiced:

'I feel like it gets too much just once you told like one teacher they write it down and don't pass it onto the next teacher' (Kevina; 75-76)

'so what you're describing is like the teachers don't communicate with other people cause that's how stupid it is' (Jack; 78-79)

Most participants voiced they would prefer a teacher who is of the same sex. Same sex educators appeared to increase levels of comfort and allowed CYP to relate to personal anecdotes:

'for me personally a woman I feel more comfortable' (Lila; 121)

'yeah cause like they have gone through it and they know what happens' (Kevina; 200)

'know how to make people comfortable when talking about they've had experience' (Lila; 104-105)

Participants from the all-girls school implied that there are specific reasons as to why they attend such a school and as such, they felt the sex of teacher should reflect the demographics of the school population. The researcher felt this voice complimented the voice of students attending mixed sex schools, who expressed a want to be taught by both a male and female educator:

'most girls go to an all-girls school reason cause it's all girls so I feel like it's only right that the person teaching us is a girl' (Lila; 124-125)

'I feel that we should have a female and a male teacher and they both talk about it' (Sid; 187-188)

There was a mutual agreement by participants that external educators may be more appropriate than mainstream teachers to deliver RSE. Unlike the work of Hirst (2004), who concluded that teachers are credible educators, CYP in this study felt external educators were better placed to deliver RSE. External educators were viewed as '*educated*' (Lila), '*professional*' (Saul), and '*experts*' (Keith). Frequently mentioned by participants were 'nurses' as preferred educators.

Participants voiced that external educators enable a separation and disconnection from the school setting, which the researcher understood increases levels of comfort and decreases feelings of awkwardness:

'you don't want to talk to a teacher about it and you feel uncomfortable about it because you see them a lot around school and if a nurse comes in you can tell them you don't have to see them a lot' (Kevina; 252-254)

Within the wider literature, external educators have been favoured by CYP as they allow distinct boundaries to be created between educators and CYP, which those in teaching roles cannot offer (Pound et al., 2016).

Subtheme 3.2: Without teachers who supports CYP?

Many of the participants spoke about a lack of support, guidance and signposting within schools. While some participants were able to identify support services in schools, such as

the 'well-being team' (Julie), 'school nurse' (Sage, Julie), 'head of year' (Mia), others acknowledged that they did not know where to seek support (Wendy, Lila). A lack of available support is not unique to the experiences of the participants in this study (Hirst 2004; Strange et al., 2003).

For those who were able to reflect on support in schools, the researcher understood that support offered does not always meet the preferences of the CYP. Participants voiced that there is a heavy onus on CYP to speak to staff or external agencies, with a perceived lack of consideration that this method of support may not be appropriate for all pupils:

'it's either this helpline or speak to like a trusted adult but not everyone feels comfortable speaking to an adult' (Julie; 279-280)

'I don't really feel like that's something that I that I particularly would do is like speak to teachers' (Sage; 166)

'I don't think they realise not everybody's comfortable with sitting and talking to like you know like Mind' (Lila; 275-276)

'they just need to realize that not everybody's the same' (Lila; 282)

Although CYP preferred external educators since they allowed a degree of separation between students and staff, when seeking support, participants appeared to favour familiar adults with whom they had a pre-existing relationship:

'I don't know them so yeah why am I gonna sit down and tell 'em everything personal' (Julie; 298-299)

'I want to feel like you would be able to share it with a teacher you would feel comfortable sharing' (Lewis; 28)

A few participants discussed teacher perceptions of CYP accessing contraception in schools; of these the majority felt teachers held negative attributions around CYP accessing contraception. This left several students feeling judged and criticised:

'she was criticizing us saying it's not right saying you shouldn't be doing that' (Sandra; 143-

'when you're more likely to be having to sex more likely to be needing protection then you feel judged for it' (Sandra; 147-448)

'surely they'd rather you go and ask for condoms than doing it without' (Jack; 147-148)

With a perceived lack of support in schools, the researcher understood that CYP seek support outside the school context. Participants discussed parents as support networks and educators. The availability of education and support appeared to be mediated by relationships:

'I'm lucky enough that I can just talk to my mum about stuff like that but obviously not everyone can' (Wendy; 105)

The researcher recognised several reasons why CYP feel unable speak to their parents. Firstly, parents may be dismissive due a lack of understanding and secondly, parents may be frustrated that CYP are engaging in sexual activities. Without positive relationships, participants appeared reluctant to seek support from parents:

'I was a bit afraid to ask my parents in case they didn't understand... I was scared that they would've just pushed me off' (Felix; 65-66)

'especially if I had like a bad bad family who would react horrible' (Sandra; 138)

'there'll be a lot of parents out there who will get vexed' (Wendy; 58)

Similarly, participants discussed the role of friends as support networks and educators. Relationships, comfort and trust resonated throughout the discussions. While some participants felt they had friends they could confide in, others recognised that friends were not suitable educators:

'I'd talk to my friend but I feel like not everyone always has that' (Julie, 288-289) 'friends (laughed) uh which wasn't fun' (Felix; 29)

4.3.4 Theme 4: The classroom environment does not enable feelings of safety or comfort

The experiences of participants suggested to the researcher that within the classroom setting, CYP often do not feel safe or comfortable. Participants alluded that for RSE lessons to be successful, feelings of safety and comfort should be considered prior to RSE lessons

beginning. Participants' experiences suggested that the learning environment plays an important role in facilitating feelings of comfort and safety, as does the management of shared experiences and student behaviours. Within this theme the researcher identified two subthemes: 'Ensuring CYP feel safe when they walk through the door'; 'Respecting and fostering confidentiality facilitates participation'.

Subtheme 4.1: Ensuring CYP feel safe when they walk through the door

Across the datasets, participants voiced a wish to be prewarned about RSE lesson content. Timings varied from a week to a day in advance, and Mia suggested the use of a timetable to outline upcoming lesson content. Given the potentially sensitive nature of the curriculum content, prewarning CYP about upcoming topics may reduce worries (McCann et al., 2019). For students like Sid, who have additional SEND, prewarning may be especially important:

'like going back to what we were saying before about not being told when were gonna have the lessons like I get really shakey like uncontrollably shakey if people don't tell me about things' (Sid; 324-325)

Prewarning about lesson content provides opportunities for students to meet with school staff and seek alternative arrangements if required. Appropriate alternative arrangements suggested by participants included meeting with a Teaching Assistant and having the opportunity to leave lessons part way through:

'like if they said like a week in advance oh you're gonna do this then that would have been good cos if anyone was uncomfortable in with doing it and with doing that lesson and really felt really uncomfortable that they could they could speak to the teacher beforehand' (Mia; 158-160)

'it might not be like the right time cos say something happened in your family you might not be ready to learn about it' (Sid; 311-312)

Some participants also voiced having the autonomy to access support outside of timetabled RSE lessons would be useful:

'they'll just like say just leave the room and I'll come up and talk to you if you wanna be spoken to if you don't take your time' (Sage; 123-124) 'I just went back to the class at break time I came back in and made sure everyone was outside and asked about the thing so I feel like they could tell you they were going to be there at break time so if you did have any questions you can go tell them' (Sid; 105-107)

While there was consensus from participants that CYP should be prewarned about the lesson content, the experiences of participants such as Lila highlighted the need for careful monitoring to prevent disengagement:

'when they say it's gonna be wellbeing then literally like half the school doesn't turn up cause they know it's gonna be wellbeing day' (Lila; 96-97)

Participants in focus group one discussed in-class strategies to reduce feelings of discomfort and anxiety. The participants suggested that teachers should allow students to use emotional regulation strategies, such as fidget toys and stress balls, however participants' experiences suggested that use of such strategies may currently result in behavioural consequences in line with the whole school behaviour policies:

'when you are learning about an uncomfortable subject or sommet you find tricky for me it is better when I'm like fidgeting or doodling and it like helps me to concentrate more' (Kevina; 392-393)

'I feel like your form tutor should give you sommet to fidget with if you need it cos I don't know if you are allowed them so I always hide them under the desk' (Sid; 403-404)

Participants also discussed the importance of seating arrangements in fostering a sense of safety and comfort. Commonality across the datasets included CYP being able to sit next to those of the same sex; the researcher noted that this was of particular importance for female students. The researcher understood that while CYP prefer to sit with their friends, during RSE lessons, the sex of the student is more important:

'in PSHE I have to sit next to a boy um but luckily I've got a girl on the other side' (Mia; 66) 'I'm never really like that uncomfortable cos I have never sat next to a boy in a PSHE lesson' (Sage; 109-110)

'if everybody sat next to like a girl doesn't matter if it's a girl that they like or don't like...just as long as they sit next to a girl and then the boys sit next to a boy' (Mia; 70-72)

Subtheme 4.2: Respecting and fostering confidentiality facilitates participation

Across the datasets the researcher understood there to be a need for respecting and fostering confidentiality within the classroom environment. Participants reflected on 'classroom rules' which were presented at the start of the lesson. 'Rules' appeared to foster a sense of safety and respect and were there to prevent the disclosure of personal information outside the classroom:

'rules like I will not share this information outside of the classroom I will not like mock anyone else when they're sharing the stories I'll be respectful of um the teacher and the students' (Mia; 146-147)

in the beginning of any apex lesson there's always a slide on the board that says whatever is shared in this classroom stays in the classroom' (Kevina; 313-314)

Only one participant spoke about her experience of rules being co-created with students in the class; others implied rules were pre-determined by teachers and therefore enforced upon them:

'you have to like write your own rules that you'd that you follow but we all discuss them as a class' (Mia; 145-146)

'they give us like rules or like like rules to follow' (Sage; 121)

There appeared to be a disparity in conformity of rules, which the researcher felt reflected classroom management techniques. For some CYP, authoritarian style rules appeared to support positive classroom behaviours, while for others, perceived punishments and strict teaching styles did not appear to deter disruptive behaviours:

'that slide came up and I can't remember who it was but someone was making fun of it' (Kevina; 315-316

'people actually need to take them seriously' (Jack; 320)

'no one does and everyone just talks about it outside of class' (Lewis; 321)

Although a generalisation cannot be made, the researcher understood from Mia's experiences, that when rules were co-constructed with students, the classroom environment was likely to be more conducive to learning:

'it's like helpful because yes because everyone follows them because they know the punishments' (Mia; 149-150)

Participants reflected on the consequences of class rules being broken and confidential information being shared. Participants voiced concerns around feeling judged, teased and tormented by their peers outside the classroom setting:

'you might not wanna talk cos you are like oh if they say something to someone or and then it gets spread around and then there's rumours' (Julie; 290-291)

'someone said something and it got around the school and they got picked on for it and I can't remember who it was but I know it was one of my friends and I don't want that happening to me' (Kevina; 317-320)

Participants further discussed feelings of mockery and judgement within the classroom, when attempting to contribute ideas or answer questions. The researcher understood that the risk of judgement was one of the biggest barriers to engagement and participation:

'start like making fun of you' (Sid; 104)

'when you want to ask a question everyone just laughs more so then you just don't bother cos what's the point' (Lewis; 119-120)

The risk of ridicule, teasing and poor behaviours are not unique to participants in this study (Forrest et al., 2004; Strange et al., 2003).

Participants voiced that poor behaviour, such as laughter, hinders learning opportunities. Despite poor behaviour being initiated by the minority, and frequently blamed on male students, Jack reflected on the cyclical effect laughter has on whole class learning and engagement:

'it isn't a classroom environment where you can like learn because it's just stupid everyone just messes about and laughs and don't listen' (Jack; 117-118)

'it would be better if people wouldn't laugh coz if they start laughing and then they look around the class and then everyone else starts laughing, and then like people who want to learn then they will eventually start laughing as well' (Jack; 142-144) The wider literature highlights the role and responsibility of teachers in managing classroom behaviours to prevent disruption to learning and engagement (Gillander Gådin & Stein, 2019; Strange et al., 2003).

Despite current barriers to engagement, participants reflected upon creative alternatives to facilitate participation. The researcher understood these to be underpinned by a need for discretion and non-disclosure of personal information (e.g., names). It was also suggested that participation may increase if CYP are given autonomy to decide how information is shared during class activities. A sense of ownership resonated throughout the discussions and appeared to foster feelings of safety and comfort:

'she'll like say the answer and she'll say who wrote them and it's really like I didn't really want you to say my name' (Kevina; 99-100)

'if we had questions we all put them in like a jar we fold them up and we put it in a jar and then he takes them home searches them up and then writes the answers on the sheet but our name's on the sheet so then he knows who to give it back too' (Keith; 215-218)

'think it was quite quite like good the way that they gave that they gave people the option to if they didn't wanna share it then they could just like get rid of it' (Mia; 39-40)

<u>4.4 Sub-question: How do CYP experience the teaching of consent as part of the RSE curriculum?</u>

4.4.1 Theme 5: Do children and young people really understand consent?

Across the datasets the researcher concluded that there was a disparity in participants' skills in communicating, interpreting, understanding and applying consent. Difficulties seemed apparent despite such skills forming part of the new secondary RSE reforms (DfE, 2019a). Theme 5 explores experiences at both a sematic and latent level (Braun & Clarke, 2021) to allow the researcher to explore underlying, implicit ideas around sexual consent.

For many the notion of consent seemed ambiguous, and when asked to define consent, participants appeared to struggle to describe consent beyond the terms 'yes' and 'no'. Participants' experiences suggested that there continues to be a heavy emphasis on the teaching of these words during RSE, despite wider literature recognising the nuances and complexity of applying consent to real world contexts (Brook et al., 2014; Sanjakdar & Yip, 2018). The experiences of participants in this study are not unique (Setty, 2021; Whittington, 2021).

A minority of participants were able to give more complex definitions and reflect on teaching practices. It is the voice of these participants which the researcher has captured below. The researcher acknowledges that the quotes presented may not be representative of all participants, however the researcher would suggest that difficulties in being able to discuss consent reflects several factors. These have been captured within three subthemes: 'Pedagogy practices for teaching consent requires improvement'; 'Teaching of consent is not viewed as a priority within RSE'; 'Difficulties defining and applying consent to real world contexts'.

Subtheme 5.1: Pedagogy practices for teaching consent requires improvement

Participants' experiences implied that there is a heavy reliance on videos as a tool to teach sexual consent. The most popular video was titled '*Tea and Consent*', referred to by participants as the '*cup of tea video*'. The researcher understood that tea is used as an analogy for consent.

The video appeared to draw parallels with the definition of consent outlined within the Sexual Offences Act (2003). Participants implied that consent should be freely given, verbalised, and should only be accepted when given by someone with capacity:

'basically if a person is unconscious they don't want a cup of tea so if somebody is unconscious then they don't wanna sleep with you basically' (Lila; 14-15)

'If you go into the kitchen and if someone asks for tea you go into the kitchen and you come back and they're like actually I don't want tea you don't have to force them' (Saul; 30-31)

'like if someone asks you do you want a cup of tea um and you just are silent then they're not just gonna make your cup of tea' (Felix; 161-162)

While the researcher understood there to be a consensus that the video is a helpful teaching tool, perhaps because it discusses topics relevant to CYP, the researcher sensed that participants did not feel the video was sufficient on its own. Participants suggested there should be additional conversations and practical activities to extend their learning:

'it is a bit rubbish that that's all they showed us' (Julie; 16-17)

'if you gonna do a video you need to explain more about it than just putting the video on' (Sid; 382)

'we had like a five-minute conversation about what we thought the video meant and then that was it' (Wendy; 39-40)

The wider literature recognises the importance of teaching resources facilitating conversations and relating teaching to real world contexts and social issues (Brady & Lowe, 2020). When teaching sexual consent, Kevina discussed the use of scenario-based situations:

'they said sommet like what if someone tried to pin you to the wall what would you do and erm someone else said like I'd push them away and walk off or someone else said they like kissed them and somebody else said sommet else, and it was kind of like OK what's the point of this... most people said no erm but some people said yeah and it was kind of like a mixed view in some people and it was kind of like why do we need to know this really' (Kevina, 338-

343)

In theory, scenario-based learning should be an effective teaching tool, as CYP are believed to learn best when knowledge is applied to real world contexts (Whittington, 2019b). However, the researcher understood from Kevina's narrative that the lesson lacked clarity, and misinformation was not addressed by the class teacher.

Only two participants reflected on successful lessons in which they had been taught about healthy and unhealthy relationships. *'Forming and Maintaining Respectful Relationships'* and *'Positive Relationships'* are taught alongside *'Consent'*, as part of the PSHE Association Programme of Study for Key Stage 3 and 4. As such, the researcher felt it was important to briefly discuss CYP's views on these topics, as the findings could be used to further improve teaching around consent. Mia viewed successful lessons as those which involved practical, pupil-led activities:

'we made like a hot air balloon so like so in the top part the actual balloon part we wrote like all the people that we have in a healthy relationship everyone we have a healthy relationship with and in the lower part we we wrote all the people we had an unhealthy relationship'

(Mia; 14-17)

'we did some like drawing tasks and we drew we drew in a pair of glasses to um to say how we could identify an unhealthy relationship' (Mia; 31-32)

Successful lessons appeared to provide CYP with real world skills. Such skills included how to identify signs of respectful, positive relationships and how to support others. Sage reflected on how she applied knowledge gained during a RSE lesson to a real world situation:

we spoke about like toxic relationships and healthy relationships and how spot a toxic relationship in your friend or how to like help someone in it' (Sage; 155-157)

'during the domestic violence thing um the boy like like he was like kept on like trying to impress her and stuff like like get around with his mates and I said like oh your boyfriend does that like I don't like him and like and you don't like him just break up with' (Sage; 159-

161)

While Mia and Sage were able to reflect on positive teaching pedagogy, many participants expressed a lack of teaching around controlling and coercive relationships, emotional abuse and the psychological impact of being cheated on. The researcher understood that while there had been a lack of teaching around these topics, many participants had experience of controlling relationships. The experiences appeared to be normalised by participants. Participants voiced that they want to be taught how to act appropriately in a relationship, and how to treat their partners with respect:

'they don't teach us like how to act in a relationship' (Jack; 450)

'obviously got told that like domestic abuse but we never got taught about like mental and emotional abuse' (Wendy; 291-292)

The researcher concluded that CYP are utilising alternative sources of information for education because current pedagogy is viewed as insufficient. Participants discussed the use of television, social media, music, the internet and books. Sid discussed the social media platform Tik-Tok as a helpful source of information when learning about consent, however her experience suggests that information online may be more tailored towards female topics: 'like on Tik Tok I see a lots of things on what to do for girls and like how to be like a good girlfriend but there's a lot more about girls than there is about boys... I'm always on Tik Tok and I watch it a lot it's really good' (Sid; 452-455)

Only one participant discussed communicating consent with their parents. The researcher felt that while this was an exception, Sage's experience highlighted a potentially helpful way teachers could educate CYP on the importance of positive and active communication. The researcher felt that the use of a parental codeword, may help keep CYP safe in real world situations:

'have like a code word for one of your parents to say like I dunno say the codeword was like tea or something you'd just text them tea and they'd be like 'oh you need to come home right now' and no matter like what you say you have to come home' (Sage; 181-183)

Subtheme 5.2: Teaching of consent is not viewed as a priority within RSE

Participants of all ages appeared to find it difficult to reflect on their experiences of learning about consent, which suggested to the researcher that the content taught was not memorable, meaningful or in great enough depth:

'I don't really know uh cos like we barely touched we barely touched on the subject' (Felix; 168)

'honest that's all I can remember about consent like uh we really need to do more on it to be honest' (Felix; 199-200)

'it's a thing that goes over your head' (Kevina; 414)

The researcher's reflections were further supported by descriptions around the quality of teaching. Akin to the broader RSE curriculum, Julie and Lila described the consent curriculum as highly repetitive. Participants voiced frustrations around the quality of consent lessons, describing them as:

'in the politest possible way a waste of time' (Saul; 60)

'the lessons are just crap' (Jack; 420)

'to be fair what we have learnt on consent is fucking shit' (Trevor; 295)

Furthermore, participants' experiences suggested to the researcher that the quantity of teaching regarding consent was insufficient. Many participants explained that consent was often taught as part of a broad lesson objective. While some participants received a dedicated lesson on consent, their reflections suggested to the researcher that a standalone lesson was not sufficient:

'they kinda like brushed over the subject' (Mia; 104)

'we had like maybe two lessons on it probably not even that I think there's two lessons and other stuff mixed in' (Felix; 169-170)

'we did an entire lesson all about consent so that was good but um maybe not enough' (Sage; 19)

Drawing upon wider literature, (Bragg et al., 2021) the researcher concluded that there may not be an appropriate amount of time offered to educators to deliver the consent curriculum effectively.

In line with findings regarding the broader RSE curriculum, those participants who had been taught about consent voiced that consent had been taught too late. Several participants explained that they had not received information on consent until they were in Year 9, despite consent being a mandatory topic for CYP in Year 7 onwards (DfE, 2019a). Lila suggested that consent should be covered as part of the primary school curriculum. Felix further highlighted potential risks to CYP, if not in receipt of an age-appropriate education:

'uh well I thought they might have taught about consent uh because we didn't learn that until like year nine which think was a bit strange because obviously like before year nine children were more vulnerable to like not like knowing what consent is' (Felix; 40-42)

'wish it was more talked about maybe in primary or something even if it was just simple just get it out there' (Lila; 197-198)

'it's good to learn about the relationship stuff and the consent stuff quite like early on' (Sage 87-88) Consequences of a lack of taught consent were also raised by Lila and Wendy. The researcher understood there to be a perceived connection between a lack of knowledge and negative, non-consensual sexual activities:

'you hear a lot about stuff about some things happening to girls from like other schools and it makes you think what have they been taught about consent...quite a few do have negative experiences with people and consent so maybe it should be talked about more' (Lila; 249-

253)

'if people aren't taught about it they're not gonna know so they're not gonna know it's wrong necessarily' (Wendy; 79-80)

The researcher understood there was an underlying view held by participants suggesting that consent had been taught in such way which left CYP feeling fearful of entering sexual relationships. The extract from focus group two highlights perceived concerns around navigating consent:

'in year ten they kind of just said all of this is unhealthy and it kind of scared lots of people into getting into relationships you know' (Saul; 299-300)

'they never ever tell you about happy relationships with you' (Trevor; 302) 'it's always about toxic people and not getting consent and getting scared to get into relationships' (Wendy; 303-304)

Within the wider literature it has been suggested that consent is often seen as a 'burden' by CYP. To address this narrative it has been suggested that consent may be better taught alongside sex positive topics (Setty, 2021), such as those discussed in subtheme 1.2.

In addition to a lack of teaching, there also appeared to be perceived a lack of support around sexual consent and healthy and unhealthy relationships. Several participants vocalised a lack of support in schools (Wendy, Jeffrey and Jack). The exception was Sage who had been signposted to support offered outside the school context:

'end of the video it was like all like all the slides and stuff of like the numbers to call' (Sage; 59-60) Considering what is understood around the importance of trust, rapport and relationships discussed in Chapter Three, the researcher concluded that current support may not be viewed as appropriate by CYP.

Subtheme 5.3 Difficulties defining and applying consent to real world contexts Participants' experiences suggested to the researcher that CYP have been taught that consent involves asking '*permission*' and '*checking*' agreement:

'making sure you've got permission and that you don't do anything without it' (Sandra; 6)

'how it's super important to get permission' (Sage; 17)

'you ask it to the person you intend on having sexual intercourse with just check if it's if they're okay' (Saul; 4-5)

'we just kept getting told like ask and make sure it's OK' (Lewis; 334)

While there was a collective agreement that CYP should '*get*' rather than '*give*' consent (Brook et al., 2014) through verbal communication, participants' experiences suggested to the researcher that non-consensual activities do not always involve verbal communication:

'you don't even say yes like like silence isn't a yes is it' (Felix; 161)

'someone might seem like they want to but if they haven't specifically said don't do anything' (Wendy; 8)

The importance of positive and active communication has been highlighted in the wider literature (Brook et al., 2014; Burkett & Hamilton, 2012).

The researcher understood that consent is predominantly taught in relation to the physical act of sex. Only a handful of participants spoke about the application of consent to situations other than sexual intercourse. Julia and Lila's discussion highlights this reflection:

'not even sex just kissing' (Lila; 161)

'yeah true' (Julie; 162)

'touching anything' (Lila; 163)

'any form of physical sexual contact' (Julie; 164)

'that's another thing it shows how little they talk about stuff because I forgot like when you said about it not just being sex it being any form of contact like' (Julie; 169-170)

'yeah they just talk about sex don't they there always on about say yes say no sex it's always that' (Lila; 171-172)

Some participants alluded to the notion that consent may differ depending on the nature of the relationship, for example whether it is deemed a 'serious relationship' (Kevina and Lewis) and depending on whether there are feelings of 'attraction':

'if somebody like violently pushed you to a wall or sommet or did sommet you'd immediately like get away and if you were like attracted to this person or had like a crush on them or whatever you probably kiss them wouldn't you' (Kevina; 344-346)

Participants' experiences suggest that skills in being able to manage consensual activities are dependent on the age and experience of CYP. Younger participants discussed worries around misinterpreting consent in the real world, and voiced a lack of understanding about what they deem is *'right and wrong'*:

'cos if it is your first time you don't know if it's meant if it is right or wrong what's happening you re erm you're in an awkward position you don't necessarily know what's going to happen cos if it is someone that has done it before they could necessarily rape you without realising' (Sid; 423-425)

'what's right and wrong like things like consent like what should be consented too' (Jack; 44-45)

Some participants could recognise that consent can be withdrawn during sexual activities and that consent can change during a sexual activity. Wendy implied that there is a level of responsibility on the individual's sexual partner to be able to accurately interpret and monitor consent:

'if like someone says that they they want like they say yes at first and they can change their mind and that's all right' (Sage; 21-22)

'pay attention because midway through they might not say anything but if someone don't wanna do it anymore the chance are you'll be able to tell' (Wendy; 9-10) These experiences appear to align with the wider literature, which has highlighted that CYP often view consent as multifaceted and context specific (Setty, 2021).

While some participants recognised that consent can be withdrawn, the researcher understood that the withdrawal of consent in real world contexts can be challenging, particularly if the individual has previously engaged in a sexual activity:

'when you're older and you're making out with someone and they tried to have sex with you and you didn't want to I'd feel like because we had been doing that then you'd like have too' (Sid; 280-281)

'you're making out and then he or she starts to doing something or whoever and then you've got to feel like you can say no' (Lewis; 286-287)

Participants reflected on some of the pressures CYP face, which may contribute to increased engagement in sexual activities. The researcher understood pressures to be around a sense of belonging. Participants spoke about expectations from friends, a need to fit in and worries about letting partners down. There was also a suggestion that popularity increases pressure:

'feel like a lot of people like around our age just have sex cos they think it's what they should be doing cos all their mates are doing it rather than thinking oh I want to it's more oh I feel like I have to' (Julie; 255-257)

'I think it depends on who you hang around with because personally I don't think we feel pressure cos we're like a small thing but whereas popular people you do see a recurring thing like going through loads of relationships talking to loads of people' (Lila; 268-270)

'if a girl didn't want to have sex proceeded to have sex with and then like she might feel pressured into talking about it because of what or how the boyfriend might react' (Saul; 82-

84)

'I'd feel like too erm it would feel you were disappointing then if I said no' (Sid; 278-279) Participants voiced a need to be taught how to say 'no' in real world situations. The researcher understood that participants wanted greater levels of autonomy in saying 'no', and felt they needed skills and techniques to be able to say 'no' effectively, without experiencing feelings of guilt or worry:

'I feel like they need to like drill it into our brains that you don't have to say yes erm and like definitely ways out of saying erm like no' (Sage; 173-174)

'what happens then you said no and it's not working they don't tell you what to do if I doesn't work they just say say no if you don't want it and say yes if you do but what happens if you try and it's aint working' (Sid; 365-367)

The pressures to act on sexual advances, and a perceived lack of skill in being able to manage such pressures, are not unique to the experience of participants within this study (Forrest et al., 2004; Hirst, 2004; Strange et al., 2003; Sundaram & Sauntson, 2016).

The researcher understood that contextual factors, such as the use of alcohol and drugs, had been taught to differing degrees within school settings. Only one participant (Sage) voiced that she had received an education on alcohol safety:

'they haven't really like told us anything about it like how it can affect sex' (Kevina, 439)

'we don't get taught like how like it's not okay to accept consent from someone if they're that drunk' (Wendy; 87-88)

'like with alcohol you kinda like lose your mind so we did that and like how to be more safe with it' (Sage; 14-15)

Chapter 5- Discussion

The study collected qualitative data from 15 participants, through individual interviews and small focus groups, to explore CYP's lived experiences of the RSE curriculum in secondary schools. The study aimed to answer two research questions, informed by literature presented within Chapter Two:

- What are CYP's experiences of the RSE curriculum?
- How do CYP experience the teaching of consent, as part of the RSE curriculum?

The researcher has chosen to summarise the lived experiences of participants as captured in Chapter Four, before evaluating the current study's strengths and limitations. The main body of the discussion will offer the reader, school staff, policy makers, Government officials and EPs a comprehensive understanding of the practical applications and implications of the current findings. This could be considered a third-order interpretation of the data as the researcher has drawn on the voiced experiences of participants (first-order interpretations) and the researcher's analytical interpretations (second-order interpretations). Atkins and colleagues (2008) operationalised a third order interpretation as an ''interpretations of interpretations of interpretations'. By presenting the discussion in this way, the researcher hopes the chapter can be used to inform future pedagogy practices and advocate for the voice of CYP.

5.1 Summary of main research findings

Through a process of RTA (Braun & Clarke, 2021), the researcher developed four overarching themes in response to the main research question, *'What are CYP's experiences of the RSE curriculum?'*, and one overarching theme in response to the sub-question, *'How do CYP experience the teaching of consent, as part of the RSE curriculum?'*. Participants' lived experiences, and the researcher's analytical interpretations, are summarised below.

5.1.1 What does the qualitative data and analytical interpretations tell us about CYP's experiences of the RSE curriculum?

Theme one was conceptualised as 'a conflict of interest between espoused practice and policy and a curriculum important to CYP'. Within this theme the researcher understood that curriculum content is perceived by CYP as unfit for purpose. Differences were noted in content outlined within policy guidance (DfE, 2019a) and the curriculum which appears to be received by CYP. The experiences of participants suggested that the curriculum is

perceived to be gendered, heteronormative and sex negative. Participants suggested that topics important to them are not covered at an appropriate age time, if at all. Participants' experiences suggested a lack of prioritisation of the RSE curriculum in comparison to core subjects, such as English and Maths. A perceived lack of teaching appeared further exasperated by disruptions to CYP's education during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Theme two captured the view that 'current teaching practices do not align with CYP's preferred methods'. Participants' experiences suggested that CYP are viewed by teachers as passive recipients of information; the reliance on videos as a teaching tool appeared to engrain such perceptions. Participants' experiences suggested that they would prefer greater opportunities for discussions and conversations within RSE lessons. Participants suggested teachers should utilise age-appropriate activities and empower the voice of students. The experiences of participants also suggested that current teaching practices do not provide CYP with terminology used to navigate real world contexts.

Theme three focused on 'a perceived lack of trust, confidentiality and lack of positive student-teacher relationships'. Participants' experiences suggested that there is a perceived lack of trust and confidentiality when seeking support and guidance from teachers within the school setting. Participants' experiences suggested that they would prefer to be taught by external educators as a disconnect can be created between the student-educator, however when seeking support and guidance, pre-established positive student-teacher relationships felt important for many participants. External educators were also viewed as more skilled, knowledgeable and educated than current teachers of RSE. The experiences of participants highlighted the role of systems and networks (Bronfenbrenner & Ceci, 1994; Steinberg & Morris, 2001) in facilitating or hindering access to sexual knowledge and emotional support.

Theme four highlighted that 'the classroom environment does not enable feelings of safety and comfort'. The experiences of participants suggested that considerations and reasonable adjustments should be made prior to the delivery of RSE content, by working collaboratively with CYP to ensure individual needs are met, and adjustments to do not result in sanctions. Participants' experiences suggested that feeling unsafe and uncomfortable during RSE lessons hinders participation and engagement in learning, often resulting in poor classroom behaviours.

106

5.1.2 What does the qualitative data and analytical interpretations tell us about CYP's experiences of teaching around sexual consent?

Theme five questioned '*do CYP really understand consent*?'. Participants' experiences suggested that teaching around sexual consent requires improvement to ensure that CYP feel skilled in communicating, interpreting, understanding and applying consent in real world contexts. Participants' experiences suggested that current pedagogy practices may not sufficiently explore the nuances and complexity of consent. Pedagogy practices, teaching resources, skills of educators and appropriate time and space were deemed important by participants, when receiving taught content on consent.

5.2 Evaluation of the current study

The following section will evaluate the strengths and limitations of the study to allow the reader to contextualise methodological decisions made (Nowell et al., 2017). The researcher will begin by noting their positionality and then present a methodological critique referencing principles outlined by Yardley (2017), Lincoln and Guba (1985) and Braun and Clarke (2006; 2021).

5.2.1 The researcher's positionality

Given the nature of qualitative research and the researcher's critical realist positioning, the researcher acknowledges the subjectivity of the individual experiences of participants within the study. The researcher recognises her interpretations and conclusions may differ from the interpretations of others (Willig, 2017). To enhance the transferability and transparency of the current study, the researcher has reflected on her own perceptions and how these may impact on the interpretation of participants' experiences.

As with much social science research, the researcher was emotionally invested in the research topic (Holland, 2007; Johnson, 2009) which added an emotive layer to the already high academic demands of completing a doctoral thesis. While the research was driven by personal curiosity, there was also a gap within the wider literature, thus strengthening the study rationale. The researcher aimed to address personal influences by:

 Keeping a reflexive log: The reflexive log allowed the researcher to recognise the role she played within the study. The log encouraged a state of openness (Braun & Clarke, 2021), supporting the credibility and confirmability of findings (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). The log was also an effective tool for managing emotions (Cunliffe, 2016) as the researcher reflected on how she felt after each interview and focus group.

- 2. *Affording appropriate time to data collection*: Given the potentially sensitive nature of the study, the researcher allowed sufficient time between data collection to process emotional reactions to participants' lived experiences (Hubbard, 2001).
- 3. *Minimising power imbalances*: To ensure participants felt heard and valued, the researcher spent time volunteering at the youth groups. This allowed her to build a research relationship with participants, thus reducing potential power imbalances as an 'outsider' to the group (Dickson-Swift et al., 2007).
- Engaging in supervision: The researcher sought support and supervision from her academic tutor. Her supervisor supported skill development, and provided emotional support (Dickson-Swift et al., 2007). Supervision notes were kept, increasing credibility and confirmability (Lincoln & Guba, 1985).

5.2.2. Critical reflection of the participant sample

The sample comprised 15 participants; eight used she/her pronouns, and seven used he/him. Quantitative researchers, or those who adopt alternative epistemological positionings (e.g., positivist), may feel the sample is unrepresentative and regard this a limitation. However, within qualitative research, the sample's *'representativeness'* is not deemed an appropriate evaluative parameter (Patton, 2002). Participants were recruited based on a predetermined inclusion criterion (see section 3.5.1) and demographic information was gathered and tabulated to aid transferability (Lincoln & Guba, 1986) of findings (see Table 5).

The researcher aimed to recruit participants of all genders, sexualities, age and ethnic backgrounds. Given the method of recruitment and the geographical location of the youth groups, it is probable to assume participants were pooled from a small number of schools. While similarities in lived experiences were noted, readers should be aware that experiences are unique to individual school contexts. Therefore, when considering transferability of findings, wider contextual factors should be considered (Lincoln & Guba, 1985; Nowell et al., 2017; Patton, 2002).
All participants identified themselves as White British, therefore this study is most helpful in understanding the lived experiences of this specific population. A lack of representation may be partly explained by the demographic of the LA in which the research took place. Further work is needed to explore the lived experiences of pupils from other ethnic, cultural and religious backgrounds. This is important to ensure educators are sensitive to individual backgrounds (Greening, 2017), and that policy is informative and relevant (Graff et al, 2018). When considering the transferability of findings, readers should consider to what extent the demographics of participants reflect those they work with.

CYP were discouraged from participating if they felt the study topic may provoke a distressing emotional response. As such, this population may be unaccounted for within the current study. Future studies should aim to capture the lived experiences of this population to ensure no one voice is marginalised. Ethically this would require a teacher of high skill and sensitivity to personal circumstances.

Although there are potential limitations to the transferability of findings, the researcher has attempted to capture the voice of all participants who took part, and has offered suggestions on how future work may address these limitations.

5.2.3. Critical reflection of the research methodology

RTA (Braun & Clarke, 2021) allowed the researcher to explore shared patterns of meaning across individual interviews and focus groups of varying sizes. The flexibility of the method enabled the researcher to co-construct a comfortable space for participants to share their lived experiences. The quality of the datasets suggested to the researcher that participants were honest and open, thus demonstrating several strengths of the study. The researcher attempted to address potential power imbalance by volunteering. The researcher positioned data collection outside of the school to create a safe, reflexive space, and offered check-ins and comfort breaks. The researcher also asked participants to co-create a 'confidentiality and privacy agreement' to foster a sense of security, respect and trust.

The researcher's interpersonal skills, developed during TEP training, were used to facilitate discussion. During data collection, the researcher embraced silences to allow quieter participants time to share their experiences, whilst during data analysis, the researcher presented quotes which capture the views of all participants to ensure no one voice was

prioritised or silenced. While the researcher aimed to mitigate power imbalances, the researcher acknowledges the methodology may have resulted in the loss of individual stories. Future studies may choose to adopt a methodology such as IPA, which may better capture rich personal stories.

After data collection was ceased, participants were offered the chance to speak to the researcher and youth group staff in a less formalised environment. Focus group one asked to discuss topics further, as they felt they had not had such opportunities before. While not a foreseen next step, the youth group staff invited an external speaker from the healthcare service to talk to CYP (attendance was not compulsory).

While there are several strengths of the current methodology, the researcher recognises she is a novice to qualitative research and therefore there exist areas for development. During data collection, the researcher felt her confidence increase over time. The use of a pilot interview may have allowed the researcher to trial questions and sit comfortably with participants leading discussions. A pilot interview may also have developed the phraseology of questions regarding sexual consent. On reflection, the timing of data collection may have limited CYP's responses. At the time of data collection, Year 7 participants had only received around two months of secondary school teaching, and therefore most of their experiences were focused on primary school experiences. As such, the reader should interpret conclusions with contextual caution. Future research may be needed to consider the longevity and transferability of findings.

5.2.4 Additional qualitative considerations for the reader

To ensure transparency (Yardley, 2017), the researcher has aimed to present a clear description of the study's methodology, while providing a detailed paper trail within the appendices, to enhance rigour (Yardley, 2017). Transparency and commitment are further evidenced by Braun and Clarke's 15-point checklist (see Table 8).

The researcher spent a prolonged period of time engaged in the research process, demonstrating credibility (Lincoln & Guba, 1985), commitment and rigour (Yardley, 2017). From initial proposal to submission took around 18 months. The researcher afforded substantive time to ensure initial codes and themes were revisited and linked to the original datasets. Given the structure of the doctoral training course, the researcher undertook her literature review before data collection. While the researcher aimed to take an inductive approach to analysis, the researcher acknowledges previous engagement with the literature may have indirectly led to her affording more meaning to certain sections of the analysis.

5.2.5 Quality of research summary

The researcher felt that there are many strengths of the study, despite being a relatively novice qualitative researcher. The researcher felt that the methodology has dependability, confirmability and credibility because of measures taken such as reflexive logging, audit trails and use of supervision. Additionally, the demographic information collected about participants, found in Table 5, is hoped to support the transferability of findings for future researchers.

5.3 Implications for school staff, educators and policy makers: How can the research inform future RSE pedagogy practice?

This section of the chapter will aim to offer a comprehensive understanding of the practical applications and implications of the current findings, which could be used to inform future pedagogy practices. These suggestions may be helpful for school staff, including teachers and senior leaders, as well as policy makers and Government officials. Evaluating the study's importance and impact is a valuable quality measure of qualitative research (Yardley, 2017).

The researcher considered structuring the discussion in line with themes and subthemes drawn from data collection, however Braun and Clarke (2021) suggest that this approach risks the reader receiving a repetition of information already understood. Instead, the researcher has chosen to present findings under the following four subheadings:

- When do CYP want to be taught about RSE and sexual consent?
- What do CYP want to be taught as part of the RSE curriculum?
- Who do CYP want to teach the RSE curriculum?
- How do CYP want to be taught about RSE and sexual consent?

Each subheading will be linked to relevant themes and subthemes, drawing upon the wider literature and Government policy. Where appropriate, reflective comments will draw comparisons between espoused policy and practice and the researcher's perceptions of participants' experiences. Summative conclusions alongside suggestions for future research will be offered in Chapter Six.

5.3.1 When do CYP want to be taught about RSE and sexual consent?

5.3.1.1 CYP want teaching earlier

When reflecting on their experiences of the RSE curriculum, participants discussed the timing in which the curriculum is delivered. Participants' accounts indicated that in general, topics covered as part of the secondary RSE curriculum are perceived to be taught too late in their education (see subtheme 1.3). Participants acknowledged that the RSE curriculum content should be delivered when they are younger, and that more time should be afforded to ensuring teaching is offered to a sufficient quality.

Similarly, participants voiced that teaching around sexual consent should also be earlier (see subtheme 5.2); currently teaching around consent and healthy sexual relationships is only mandatory for secondary aged pupils (Greening, 2017). The findings from the study led the researcher to conclude that younger participants did not appear to have the same level of understanding or language skills as older participants, since they demonstrated greater difficulties in interpreting and navigating consent. The researcher would suggest that earlier teaching may support younger pupils to develop the skills needed to navigate and apply consent to real world experiences. This is important, as findings from this study, and the wider literature, recognise that CYP rarely feel skilled in navigating the complexities of real-life situations (Brook et al., 2014). The researcher would suggest that more time and space should be offered to ensure teaching around consent is delivered sufficiently and effectively (Bragg et al., 2021).

5.3.1.2 Timings should align to the developmental age, experience and maturity of CYP

When considering the broader RSE curriculum, there were several indicators that topics taught as part of the secondary curriculum do not always align to the developmental age, experience, or maturity of CYP. Participants' accounts indicated that they felt the RSE curriculum content was not always age appropriate, as it was delivered too late. Several participants explained that taught content should reflect real world personal experiences, such as starting puberty and beginning sexual relationships.

To support feelings of safety and comfort in the classroom, it may also be helpful for educators to adopt a non-judgemental position when teaching RSE, by recognising that

some CYP may be ready, or already engaging, in sexual activities (Carmody, 2015; Robinson, 2012). Similarly, educators should also be aware of, and be sensitive to, increasing levels of maturity of CYP (Unis & Sällström, 2020). Wider literature recognises the value of CYP having access to an education which offers them the skills and knowledge to safely navigate the developmental period of adolescence (Allen, 2008; Robinson, 2012). Applying these findings to the classroom setting, the researcher suggests that educators may consider adapting lesson content, resources and pedagogy approaches to ensure provision and materials are developmentally appropriate (Löfgren-Mårtenson, 2012).

The findings suggest that the timing of RSE is particularly important for students in Year 9 and 10. Participants voiced a greater need for education during this period of adolescence, as this is the time when CYP appear to begin to explore sexual and non-sexual relationships. Participants' experiences suggested a perceived lack, and in some cases reduction, in teaching during this period of development. The thinking of social cognitive and psychosocial developmental models is that during older adolescence (around 15 -16 years of age) YP begin to develop a social self, a personal identity and also become more competent at managing sexual behaviours (Choudhury et al., 2006; Erikson, 1936). Using theories of development with which to inform practice highlights the potential importance of a developmental age-appropriate curriculum (Dombrowski et al., 2007).

5.3.1.3 Learning should build on foundational knowledge

There was a conscious reflection by some participants that the COVID-19 pandemic impacted upon their experiences of RSE (see subtheme 1.4). Participants discussed a limited experience of RSE during this period, which suggested to the researcher that RSE was not prioritised. The findings from this study provide evidence for the work of Kantor and colleagues (2020). They hypothesised that sex education would not be prioritised as part of the national shift to online learning, given how little attention sex education has previously received. Furthermore, they hypothesised that even when in-person schooling returned, RSE would receive less attention than '*academic*' subjects. The researcher believes that both hypotheses are evidenced by the lived experiences of participants in this study.

While further work is required to explore the long-term effects of COVID-19 on RSE, findings from this study could be used to inform current pedagogy. Participants suggested that topics missed due to the pandemic should be revisited, namely lessons around contraception and

safe sex. When considering government legislation, the researcher would suggest that it is vital that curriculum content is revisited, as the curriculum was designed using sequential building blocks to ensure CYP are best able to make well-informed sexual decisions (DfE, 2019a).

Educators should also be mindful of the age at which CYP began secondary school. As England went into lockdown in March 2020, it is likely younger children may have missed content taught at the end of primary school, while children currently in Year 9 and 10 are likely to have missed content covered as part of the Key Stage 3 'Relationship and Sex Education' curriculum.

Conclusion: In summary, findings from the current study suggest participants feel the timing of RSE does not reflect the developmental age, experience or maturity of CYP. The researcher's analytical interpretations suggest that the RSE curriculum, including sexual consent, should be taught earlier. For lessons to be successful it is understood that additional time should be afforded to educators. CYP would like content to be more frequent, with additional learning during Year 9 and 10. The findings suggest that the curriculum should sensitively recognise the likelihood of increased sexual experiences of older adolescents during this period. Finally, it may be helpful for CYP to revisit missed learning opportunities, disrupted by the pandemic. While only a small proportion of the study's findings, the researcher believes that qualitative, post-pandemic data is a novel contribution to the wider literature.

5.3.2 What do CYP want to be taught as part of the RSE curriculum?

When reflecting on their experiences of the RSE curriculum and teaching of consent, participants discussed current curriculum content and additional topics they wished to be covered. Participants' accounts indicated that the current RSE curriculum is often over simplified, repetitive and monotonous and therefore perceived as not memorable nor meaningful. Participants voiced frustrations around the quality of lessons regarding sexual consent, perceiving topics to be recurring and lacking in detail. Despite Government reforms (DfE, 2019a) to improve the RSE curriculum, the researcher would suggest findings from the current study depict a curriculum not dissimilar to that portrayed and criticised in 2013 (Ofsted, 2013).

5.3.2.1 An inclusive curriculum

Theme one suggested a disconnect between espoused practice outlined in legislation (DfE, 2019a) and the curriculum perceived to be received by CYP. Participants' accounts indicated a gendered, heteronormative curriculum (see subtheme 1.1) which the researcher understood does not currently reflect the individual needs of CYP. Participants, and the wider research, recognise that it is important to teach a curriculum which is sensitive and inclusive of all sexualities and genders (Dombrowski et al., 2007; Greening, 2017).

Participant's accounts suggested that the priority of the LGBTQ+ curriculum receives differing levels of attention and status by educators. The researcher felt this to be a pertinent finding given the number of CYP who identified themselves as bisexual. Participants' accounts indicated that some schools are striving for inclusivity by prioritising teaching on LGBTQ+ rights, while others felt teaching and support remains tokenistic. These findings support the Stonewall School Report (Stonewall, 2017), which noted that same-sex relationships are often marginalised in school because of a lack of teaching. The researcher would suggest that current practices do not align to the 2010 Equality Act, nor the reformed RSE curriculum (DfE, 2019a), which outline that CYP should be offered an education which incorporates teaching on same-sex relationships.

While the DfE (2019a, p15) guidance outlines that '*secondary schools should include LGBT content in their teaching*', there is very limited guidance on how this should be delivered within schools. The guidance states that '*schools are free to determine how they do this*'. The researcher would suggest a lack of guidance may begin to explain some of the variation noted across participants' experiences. The findings suggest there may be a need to streamline how to curriculum is taught in the future, by offering educators clearer guidance and support. This is important to ensure CYP do not receive conflicting information from multiple sources which has previously been noted to be detrimental to understanding (Cameron-Lewis & Allen, 2012; MacDowell & Mitchell, 2006).

5.3.2.2 Accessible age-appropriate language

Participants' experiences suggested a desire to want to use curriculum specific terminology when discussing genitalia in RSE lessons (see subtheme 2.3). It was alluded to by several participants that teaching such language may reduce the risk of unwanted sexual advances or miscommunication between CYP and adults when seeking support. The wider literature reflects participants' perceptions, noting specific terminology provides clarity when disclosing sexual abuse or non-consensual sexual experiences (Deblinger et al., 2001; Kenny et al., 2008). Teaching children the correct terminology for their genitalia has been advised by the Professional Association for Childcare and Early Years (PACEY, 2019). The use of such terminology is understood to support CYP taking ownership over their genitalia, as well as equipping CYP with terminology to keep themselves safe. Teaching is also believed to facilitate open conversations. Within the current study, participants highlighted the importance of conversations (see subtheme 2.2) in creating safe classroom environments where the use of such terminology is viewed as the norm. Some participants even suggested that normalising language in the classroom may help to support societal shifts in attitudes.

While participants appeared to want educators to use terminology for genitalia, participants did not want learning to be focused on *'complicated scientific terminology'*. The researcher understood there to be an equilibrium between curriculum specific terminology and language deemed accessible and appropriate by CYP. In practice, the researcher would suggest a successful educator is able to bridge the gap between the two constructs, by creating a language rich classroom environment which allows complex elements of RSE to be discussed (Kehily, 2002). In practice, it may be helpful for educators to have discussions with pupils around the language they feel would facilitate a comfortable classroom environment that also facilitates effective learning.

5.3.2.3 Language which support real world sexual communication

As there was no definition of consent within the DfE (2019a) guidance, the researcher adopted the definition outlined within the Sexual Offences Act (2003), to guide her interpretations of sexual consent. This allowed a latent approach to analysis, and exploration of participants' use of language (see subtheme 5.3). While some participants' definitions of consent appeared to align to Section 74 of the Sexual Offences Act (2003), the researcher concluded that many participants appeared to find it difficult to define consent beyond the terms 'yes' or 'no'.

Despite a wealth of literature recognising that positive and effective communication minimises the risk of miscommunication (Burkett & Hamilton, 2012) and supports CYP to develop skills needed to navigate real world sexual contexts (Gilbert, 2017), the researcher would suggest that the experiences of participants in this study may demonstrate that current teaching practices fall short in equipping CYP with effective language skills. This finding supports research of almost 20 years' standing that demonstrates RSE often fails to provide students with appropriate language to navigate conversations (Forrest et al., 2004; Hirst, 2004).

Difficulties in defining consent may have implications for practice. The researcher would suggest educators should move away from simply teaching pupils to say 'yes' or 'no' (Brook et al., 2014) and instead consider the complexities and nuances of verbal and nonverbal communication. This pedagogy may support CYP's understanding that consent can be withdrawn during sexual activities and that consent can change during a sexual activity.

Such teaching may also address the voice of participants who wanted to learn how to say 'no' in real world contexts. Having the skills and techniques to be able to say 'no' effectively, as well as cope with pressures from peers and society without experiencing guilt or worry, was understood to be important for many CYP. The findings suggest that, in practice, it may be helpful for CYP to be taught an extended curriculum which offers skills that would enable them to better manage pressures. Although there is a lack of guidance for educators, the findings suggest that the Sexual Offences Act (2003) may be a useful tool to guide discussion and support CYP to develop skills for navigating consent, so they can feel free to 'agree by choice' to sexual activities.

5.3.2.4 A sex positive curriculum

Participants voiced a desire to be taught topics important to them, such as pleasure, masturbation, kinks and how to improve their sex lives (see subtheme 1.2). These topics are not currently covered within the secondary RSE curriculum. The findings from this study resonate with the views of CYP who took part in studies in the early 2000's (Forrest et al., 2004; Hirst, 2004; Strange et al., 2003), which suggest to the researcher that there has been little shift in the curriculum over time to ensure it aligns to the preferences of CYP.

Participants' narratives suggested to the researcher that they felt let down by the current curriculum. The researcher understood that there are few opportunities for CYP to discuss 'sex positive' topics within schools, as sexual activities are deemed risky, potentially because of educators' terminology usage. When considering RSE policy, the researcher infers that negative language is used more commonly than positive language. For example, the policy

states that pupils should be taught '*strategies for identifying and managing sexual pressure*' and '*how to enjoy intimacy without sex*' (DfE, 2019a, p, 29.). Further research, such as a discursive analysis of RSE policy and guidance, may offer insight into the impact of language on CYP's perceptions of the RSE curriculum.

Although some readers may hold moral or ethical dilemmas as to whether 'sex positive' topics should be taught, the literature suggests that when topics are viewed as 'taboo' they become increasingly appealing to CYP and consequently CYP are more likely to engage in risk-taking behaviours (Ernst et al., 2006). Risk taking behaviours are believed to reduce when CYP are kept well informed, and when sexual activities are normalised (Aggleton & Thomas, 2016; Ernst, et al., 2006). Sex positive research highlights the need for sexual activities to be seen as '*normal rather than shameful*' (Allen, 2011). The researcher understood that when RSE content is viewed as 'taboo', participants withdraw from support and participate less in lessons. Utilising theories of adolescent development, it could be suggested that CYP are experiencing an internal conflict, and to protect their self-identity (Erikson, 1963) they are seen to withdrawn from support and lessons.

In practice, the findings from this study suggest that risks should be reframed. RSE lessons may instead choose to focus on positive consensual sexual experiences (Alldred & David, 2007; McGeeney, 2015; Sanjakdar & Yip, 2018). CYP may find it helpful to be taught consent alongside healthy relationships and topics such as pleasure (Carmody, 2015; Setty, 2021). It may be helpful to reframe negative constructions of sex and pleasure, and instead provide CYP with a safe space to facilitate open conversations; research suggests that sexual knowledge is best acquired in a safe and supportive environment (Pilcher, 2004). When CYP are appropriately educated, CYP are less likely to engage in risk taking behaviours (Blake & Jolly, 2002) because they have the skills to make well informed, responsible decisions (DfEE, 2000).

Conclusion: In summary, findings from the current study suggest participants feel the curriculum is highly gendered and heteronormative, focusing too often on complicated scientific terminology. Participants also perceive the curriculum to be risky and taboo. The researcher's analytical interpretations suggest that it may be helpful to reconsider the curriculum to ensure it provides CYP with the skills and knowledge to manage relationships.

118

Successful pedagogy may choose to focus on sex positive topics, and educators and CYP may work together to construct appropriate language used to frame RSE topics.

5.3.3 Who do CYP want to teach the RSE curriculum?

5.3.3.1 Professionally skilled educators

When reflecting on their experiences of being taught about RSE and consent, participants spoke about current educators and preferred educators (see subtheme 3.1). Participants explained that in secondary schools they are taught RSE by either a male or female teacher. Participants vocalised that they would like to be taught by a teacher of the same sex, and by someone from an external agency. Most commonly nurses were seen as knowledgeable experts by CYP. The researcher understood external educators allow a disconnect between student-teacher relationships.

Participants perceived skilled teachers as those creatively utilising teaching resources who expand learning beyond that provided by video content. Participants appeared to favour teachers who could offer multiple explanations and relate learning to real life contexts. The findings of the study are akin to the wider literature which recognises that while the form of RSE materials is important, its' success is based on teacher delivery (Lodge et al., 2022; Pound et al, 2016).

In practice, for lessons to be viewed as successful by CYP, it is understood that educators should show a comprehensive understanding of the curriculum content and be able to communicate it clearly to CYP (Kehily, 2002; Schaalma et al., 2004). Favourable educators were perceived by participants as 'knowledgeable' and 'skilled', while less favourable educators were viewed as 'awkward' and 'not confident'. The wider literature highlights that successful teaching of consent requires strong skills on the part of the educator to manage conversations and potential disclosures (Bragg et al., 2021; Hirst, 2008).

5.3.3.2 Opportunities to upskill teachers

Although not explicitly explored within the current study, the wider literature recognises that teachers often feel unskilled in delivering sex education. Feeling unskilled is attributed to a lack of confidence and resources (Abbott et al., 2016; Garbutt, 2008), and a lack of time and competence to facilitate sensitive classroom discussions (Gilbert, 2017; Pound et al., 2017; Whittington, 2019b). The wider literature recognises that many educators feel anxious and uncertain about making decisions regarding RSE, due to a lack of support, structure and leadership at a whole school level (Alldred & David, 2007; Mason, 2010; Renold, 2000).

A recognition of the need for greater teacher training to ensure teachers feel confident delivering RSE as part of a whole school approach to safeguarding, was outlined by Ofsted (2013). The DfE's impact assessment (DfE, 2019c) further outlined that in all schools, one teacher from each Key Stage would receive 10 hours of initial teacher training. The experiences of participants suggested that teachers continue to feel unconfident delivering RSE; this is evidenced by teachers avoiding topics such as sexual consent, and a reliance on the use of videos as teaching tools. The findings suggest that there may need to be improvements in the delivery of RSE by upskilling teachers and providing further training.

5.3.3.3 Teachers who create a safe classroom environment

Participants' accounts indicated that favourable teachers were those who empowered the voice of CYP by creating a safe classroom environment to share ideas. Effective classroom managements skills were also deemed important, as participants shared concerns around being mocked or judged when contributing to lessons. In practice, the findings suggest that effective classroom management is important to facilitate participation. The wider literature recognises that teachers are important facilitators of the successful implementation of RSE (Schutte et al., 2016).

Within the classroom, it may be helpful for educators to consider potential power imbalances between themselves and their students, and between students and their peers. It may also be helpful to consider the age of the students and the topics which are to be discussed. The findings suggest it is the teacher's responsibility to create a safe classroom environment to enable CYP to learn. This is particularly important for those students who may be deemed vulnerable or at risk of adverse sexual experiences. As such there may need to be boundaries regarding the topics discussed, as well as careful communication with the school's Designated Safeguarding Lead, and pastoral and wellbeing staff. Within the classroom whole class ground rules or agreements may be a useful tool to manage expectations in the classroom (Barr et al., 2014). As alluded to by Mia, and further supported by literature (Elia, 2000), CYP's views should inform lesson planning. It may be helpful for educators to co-create the agreement with students to empower CYP's voices and foster group responsibility. The lived experiences of participants are akin to wider research (Kehily, 2002), indicating that trust and safety should be at the heart of the classroom. Favourable educators were perceived as trustworthy, honest and approachable (see subtheme 3.1 and 4.2). Trustworthy educators were also viewed as those who kept information confidential. Frustrations around the sharing of information with parents and carers suggested to the researcher that CYP may lack an understanding of safeguarding in school. This finding is despite the reforms stating that *'children should be made aware of how to raise their concerns or make a report and how any report will be handled' (DfE, 2021b)*. The findings from the current study may suggest further work is needed to improve communication between pupils and teachers regarding safeguarding concerns.

Conclusion: In summary, the RSE curriculum in secondary schools is delivered by mainstream teachers. Successful teachers are viewed by participants as confident, knowledgeable, trustworthy, and able to facilitate a safe and supportive classroom environment. Participants also appear to prefer educators of the same sex. The researcher's analytical interpretations may suggest a need for further training to support teachers to manage the complexities of classroom discussions and facilitate effective learning. The researcher would suggest that teachers may benefit from support from external services and senior leaders within their schools.

5.3.4 How do CYP want to be taught about RSE and sexual consent?

5.3.4.1 Current and preferential teaching pedagogy

When reflecting on their experiences of RSE and consent, participants discussed current and preferred teaching practices. Participants' accounts suggested that during RSE lessons, pupils are viewed by teachers as passive recipients of information (see subtheme 2.1). This is evidenced by an emphasis on copying information from the board and watching videos without opportunities for discussion. Videos were noted as a repeated teaching tool across subjects.

For many participants there appeared to be disgruntlement towards current pedagogy, despite CYP wanting to learn and having ideas as to how to improve teaching practices. A minority of participants' experiences suggested more inclusive and engaging learning opportunities (Sage & Mia). The researcher concluded that variation across experiences may begin to be explained by a lack of guidance and lack of stipulated teaching materials within the reformed RSE documentation (DfE, 2019a).

5.3.4.2 Scenario based real world learning

Generally, participants' accounts indicated that the 'ideal' RSE lesson would offer CYP opportunities to participate in practical learning activities and contribute to class-based discussions. A preference for interactive lessons is not a novel finding and has been previously recognised within the literature (Hall, 2004; Strange et al., 2003). Participants voiced that activities should be relatable to real life, drawing on developmentally appropriate experiences (Sanjakdar & Yip, 2018).

The importance of realistic scenario-based learning was discussed by several participants when considering best practice for teaching sexual consent. Participants expressed preferences for learning about consent through discussion-based activities. A recognition that preferred learning draws on real world issues felt an important finding, given the perceived difficulties faced by participants when defining, discussing and navigating consent in real world contexts. The wider literature highlights that scenario-based learning allows educators a level of control and predictability to conversations (Kehily, 2002). The findings from this study suggested that scenarios should be accessible and relevant to the age and experience of CYP (Christen & Mikkelson, 2008; Sanjakdar & Yip, 2018).

In practice, the use of the sexual continuum devised by Whittington (2019), may be a helpful teaching tool to consider how educators could scaffold conversations around consent. The continuum was devised during a participatory action project which sought the views of CYP. As well as defining consent, the model also offers educators strategies for managing discussions and clarifying perceived ambiguities around sexual consent. In practice, the model may also be helpful when exploring pressures faced by CYP, such as consent within pre-existing relationships (see subtheme 5.3). The consent continuum is shown in Figure 5.

Figure 5. Continuum of consent developed by Whittington (2019) as part of a participatory action study.



5.3.4.3 Effective use of videos

When teaching RSE, and specifically consent, participants explicitly acknowledged there was a heavily reliance on videos as teaching tools. Participants perceived videos both positively and negatively. Videos such as 'Tea and Consent' were viewed as satisfactory, while untitled videos covering other topics within the RSE curriculum, such as puberty and menstruation, were viewed by participants as dated and childish.

There was a suggestion that videos available on some social media sites may be more appropriate than current teaching tools. Videos on social media were understood to normalise narratives around sex education. Within the wider literature, the use of social media has been praised as a useful tool to teach adolescents healthy sexual knowledge (Cookingham & Ryan, 2015; Strasburger, 2012). Social media has also been recognised as helpful in proving pleasure-based sex education, challenging heteronormative constructions of sex, and offering an education on sexual consent (Sciberras & Tanner, 2023). While the use of social media could be a helpful tool for RSE lessons, implementation in practice would require careful monitoring by educators to ensure adolescents understand how to evaluate the quality of information available online (Fowler et al., 2022; Simon & Daneback, 2013). Participants' experiences implied that videos are not effective standalone teaching tools and therefore, in the classroom, videos may be better used to support discussions. Participants' accounts suggested that conversations are a powerful teaching tool when discussing RSE (see subtheme 2.2) and when learning consent (see subtheme 5.1). These findings compliment the wider literature which recognises that CYP should be offered the space to think critically and reflectively about sexual consent (National Children's Bureau, 2014). In practice, it may be helpful for educators to consider how discussion-based learning can be facilitated in a safe environment.

5.3.4.4 Greater opportunities for discussions

The importance of conversations and discussions were linked to feelings of comfort. Participants' experiences suggested that for CYP to learn, pupils and teachers must overcome feelings of discomfort. The wider literature recognises the potential benefits of instilling open conversations to reduce feelings of discomfort and awkwardness (Walker, 2004). By addressing emotional discomfort, it is believed that CYP will be better engaged in lessons (Buston et al., 2002).

The researcher would suggest that findings from the current study imply that CYP are given few opportunities to safely discuss thoughts around sex and relationships. This finding is valuable, as previous researchers have questioned the extent to which CYP are able to discuss topics relating to RSE (Coy et al., 2013).

The findings have implications for practice, suggesting that topics perceived as 'awkward' should not be disregarded but instead addressed and discussed collaboratively with CYP. It may be helpful for teachers to create a space for discussions, which is facilitated and managed by strong skills on the part of the educator. In practice, educators may need support from the wider school systems and school senior leaders, to ensure the pedagogy facilitates a safe space for discussions without lessons becoming too emotionally demanding for CYP (Kehily, 2002).

5.3.4.5 Opportunities to feel safe in class

Educators may wish to consider ways to promote feelings of safety in the classroom. Fostering feelings of safety is important as it can increase class participation and engagement (Van Teijlingen et al., 2007). Participants' experiences suggested feelings of safety must be enabled prior to the delivery of RSE content. As such, participants voiced a preference to be prewarned about lesson content (see subtheme 4.1) and given opportunities to seek alternative arrangements if required. In practice, it may be helpful for educators to be available to students outside timetabled RSE lessons, so pupils can seek support in confidence before lessons begin.

Additional alternative arrangements suggested by participants included access to fidget toys to manage feelings of worries and discomfort. There has been some literature to suggest that fidget toys can help students manage anxieties and attention difficulties as they redirect emotional and physical attention, allowing pupils to focus and attend to learning materials (Biel, 2017; Stalvey & Brasell, 2006). The researcher understood from discussions that such strategies may not align with whole school behaviour policies. The findings suggest that within schools there may need to be a consideration of how alternative arrangements are accessed by students and viewed by teachers. It may be helpful for pupils to be involved in discussions which ultimately may be decided by senior leaders.

A safe classroom environment may also be facilitated by allowing CYP the opportunities to ask anonymous questions; a suggestion made by several participants. Within the literature, anonymity enables pupils to ask questions without fear of embarrassment (Pariera & McCormack, 2017). Encouraging pupils to ask anonymous questions has also been shown to be a successful approach in addressing harmful misinformation (Pariera & McCormack, 2017). Providing students with the opportunity to ask questions in such a way may increase levels of comfort in the classroom and discourage pupils from seeking information from less reliable sources.

Within the classroom, feelings of safety were enhanced by same gender seating. The researcher understood that participants preferred to sit with same sex peers; this was particularly important for female students. Although not discussed by participants within this study, such preferences may be underpinned by risks of sexual harassment, objectification and teasing noted within the wider literature (Strange et al., 2003).

While CYP voiced a preference to sit with those of the same sex, participants voiced a preference for co-learning opportunities with those of the opposite sex. Within the RSE literature, co-learning and mixed-sex classes have proven beneficial in educating students

about the opposite sex (Lee et al., 2018; Strange et al., 2003). In practice, it may be helpful for educators to consider whole class seating to ensure pupils feel safe and able to learn.

Conclusion: In summary, findings suggest that current teaching practices for RSE and sexual consent rely heavily on the use of videos and perceived passive teaching approaches. The wider literature recognises that CYP may be at risk of disengagement, or instead seek information from unreliable sources. The researcher's analytical interpretations suggest there may need to be greater opportunities for classroom-based discussions and scenario-based teaching, which draw links to real world experiences. For conversations to be successful, it may be useful for educators to foster a safe classroom environment by considering preferences at an individual and whole class level.

5.4 Implications for EPs: How can the research be used by EPs?

The findings of the study not only have implications for school settings, policy makers and Government officials, but also EPs who work closely with school staff to ensure CYP have access to a comprehensive curriculum which supports social, emotional and behavioural development (Baker, 2015). Since EPs work as evidence-based practitioners (Cline et al., 2015), the researcher's analytical interpretations and research findings can offer a knowledge base to inform evidence-based practice. To compliment how EPs work, the researcher has considered implications at individual, group and organisational levels. (Cameron, 2006).

5.4.1 Working with individual young people

EPs may wish to use the findings when considering outcomes and provision for Year 9 pupils as part of their preparation for adulthood. The document '*Preparing for Adulthood*', developed by the DFE and the National Development Team for Inclusion, states pupils should have access to a comprehensive sex, drug and alcohol curriculum. When considering targets for these pupils, the findings can be used to identify facilitating factors within the school system which may support CYP to meet specific outcomes. To ensure outcomes are child-centred, EPs may wish to adopt person-centred tools to further elicit and advocate for the individual experiences and preferences of CYP regarding their RSE (Harding & Atkinson, 2009).

5.4.2 Working with parents, carers, and school staff

EPs may consider how the findings could be utilised during consultations. By having an awareness of the current picture of RSE, EPs may feel empowered and confident to facilitate discussions around the strengths and barriers of the current curriculum. During consultation, EPs may wish to explore the quality and quantity of RSE within the schools with which they work. EP's inter-personal skills (Nolan & Moreland, 2014) may help enable strength-based conversations.

During consultation, EPs may also wish to draw upon theories of adolescent development, offering hypotheses and an understanding of behaviours within this complex period of a CYP's life. EPs could use theoretical knowledge provided in Chapter Two to further explore risk taking behaviours.

EPs may wish to explore the impact of COVID-19 on the delivery of a comprehensive RSE curriculum. A consideration of missed learning is also particularly important for pupils 'Not in Education, Employment or Training' or those who find it difficult to access school (e.g., pupils identified as 'Emotionally Based School Avoidant'). The findings can be used to consider inequalities accessing education, as well as challenging systems to promote inclusion to education.

By working collaboratively with parents and school staff, EPs may help foster a shared understanding of the RSE curriculum. This is valuable given that the DfE guidance (2019b) states parents should be consulted in the creation of RSE policy. Offering parents and carers the opportunity to contribute to RSE policy may minimise negative parental attitudinal barriers, which have been recognised by participants within this study. Such collaborative work may help to increase an inclusive and an accepting, positive understanding of the importance of a comprehensive RSE.

5.4.3 Working systemically at a whole school level

By working at a systemic level, EPs may be able to contribute to organisational change and the development of organisational policy (Fox, 2009; Harding, 2017). The findings can be used to offer a shared understanding of how CYP currently view the RSE curriculum, and how they wish to receive RSE content. This may allow EPs to work in collaboration with school staff to embed the RSE curriculum as part of a whole school agenda. EPs may be able to consider parallels between espoused vs actual practice, and support staff to develop a positive narrative around RSE.

EPs could also work collaboratively with school staff to develop tools, strategies and scripts used to facilitate effective communication with pupils. The findings of the study may be used to create up-to-date schemes of work that could be used alongside existing resources available through the PSHE Association. When working systemically, EPs should consider the school's motivation and readiness for change (Wang et al., 2020) and encourage staff to engage in monitoring through a process of assessing, planning, doing and reviewing.

To conclude, the current study has several implications for Educational Psychology practice, as well as for school staff and policymakers. It is important to recognise the limitations of the study (see section 5.2) and therefore the researcher would suggest the implications should be interpreted with a level of caution. The study has also highlighted several questions for future research which have been discussed in section 5.3 of this chapter and later summarised in Chapter Six.

Chapter 6 – Conclusion

The research undertaken as part of the DAEP aimed to answer the following research questions: What are CYP's experiences of the RSE curriculum, and, how do CYP experience the teaching of consent, as part of this curriculum? The research was located within the framework of current Government legislation and policy pertaining to RSE delivery, with the purpose of understanding current pedagogy practices by providing CYP with a safe and reflective space to share their experiences. The researcher adopted an exploratory, qualitative approach in which she undertook three individual interviews and three small focus groups to gather the views of participants. The researcher positioned herself as a critical realist and undertook Reflexive TA (Braun & Clarke, 2021) to explore patterns of meaning across the datasets.

In response to research question one, the researcher developed four overarching themes: A conflict of interest between espoused practice and policy and a curriculum important to CYP; Current teaching practices do not align with CYP's preferred methods; A perceived lack of trust, confidentiality, and lack of positive student-teacher relationships; The classroom environment does not enable feelings of safety and comfort. The researcher also identified a detached theme, which was used to understand research question two: Do CYP really understand consent? This theme encapsulated a perceived lack of clarity about the meaning of the word consent beyond a simplistic 'yes'/'no' definition and potentially difficulties in the application of consent in real world contexts.

The researcher's analytical interpretations suggested that participants recognise there could be improvements to the RSE curriculum content, and also recognise wider considerations around when content is delivered, how it is delivered and who it is delivered by. The research illustrates the importance of situating RSE within theories of adolescent development and the need to provide opportunities for learning which relate to the age, maturity and experience of CYP. These elements are particularly important when teaching around consent. The research suggests that improvements to RSE are the responsibility of school staff, policy makers and Government officials, and that further work may be needed to ensure that that CYP are taught by confident, skilled, knowledgeable and trustworthy educators. Analytical interpretations, conclusions and implications have been suggested at a school and national level. While interpretations and conclusions should be considered with caution due to the study's methodological limitations, when evaluating the quality of the study against qualitative criteria (Braun & Clarke, 2006;2021; Lincoln & Guba, 1985; Yardley, 2017), the study is believed to have achieved credibility, confirmability, rigor, transferability and transparency.

6.1 Original contributions

The study is thought to be one of the first in England to explore CYP's experiences of RSE since RSE became part of the statutory secondary curriculum in September 2020 (DfE, 2019a). Through exploratory aims and inductive reflexive interpretations, the study offers new insights into the lived experiences of CYP. The study also extends the existing evidence base for a comprehensive RSE curriculum, while advocating for the voice of CYP who are often underrepresented in education research (Renold et al., 2015).

The research offers a current account of the experiences of CYP, which is timely given the national focus on RSE. At the time of writing the discussion (March-May 2023), the RSE agenda was gathering political momentum and media attention because of concerns raised by anti-RSE lobbyists and parents and carers regarding concerns around curriculum content. In response, the DfE proposed a consultation review of the RSE curriculum and a potential review of the role of external speakers and teaching resources (BBC News, 2023). The organisation Brook outlined that the voice of CYP must be central to this review (Brook, 2023). While there are uncertainties around the practicalities of the consultation, the researcher would suggest this study provides invaluable findings, as the voice of CYP were central throughout.

The research findings can be considered alongside wider literature and legislation to consider implications for practice, policy and future research. Findings from the study provide suggestions and implications for a wealth of professionals within the fields of Psychology, Education and Health. The findings also offer a unique insight into how EPs can work with schools to promote the RSE curriculum in secondary schools. The research highlights the importance of professionals, systems and structures working collaboratively to support CYP during the period of adolescent development (Bronfenbrenner, 1997).

130

Overall, it is hoped the current study has positively contributed to a complex and underresearched topic, by empowering the voice of CYP and encouraging readers to think reflectively about how the findings can be used by professionals in practice.

6.2 Implications for future research

Throughout Chapter Five the researcher identified several suggestions for future research.

Further work may be needed to consider the long-term impact of the reformed RSE curriculum on the lived experiences of CYP. As interviews and focus groups took place in October and November 2022, it is appropriate to assume that participants had a limited experience of the new reforms, and therefore future researchers may wish to replicate the study to obtain a more detailed understanding of pupils' lived experiences post-reforms.

Further work may also be useful to consider the experiences of students from other ethnic, cultural and religious backgrounds. The findings from this study represent the experiences of White British students; a demographic representative of the LA in which the researcher collected her data. Future studies may wish to explore lived experiences across England, to ensure there is a holistic understanding of pupils' views.

Finally, researchers may wish to triangulate findings by obtaining the lived experiences of teaching staff, senior leaders and parents and carers. Researchers may wish to explore whether parents have been involved in the creation of school RSE policy, as recommended by DfE (2019b). Researchers may also wish to explore training opportunities and support for teachers around the delivery of RSE. Such a study may provide an understanding of the wider systems which contribute to the acquisition of adolescents' sexual knowledge.

6.3 Dissemination of findings

Following submission of the thesis, the researcher aims to disseminate the research findings to EPs within her Local Authority. The researcher plans to disseminate findings through an informal presentation and small group discussion to allow EPs time to reflect on implications for practice. The researcher will also be presenting her thesis at a TEP conference in Manchester on June 23rd 2023. If the DfE request evidence as part of their planned review of the RSE curriculum, the researcher would like to contribute towards this. The researcher also hopes to transform her thesis into an article for submission to a peer reviewed journal, within the next year. As discussed within the researcher's viva in May 2023, a letter has also

been sent to the two youth group settings, parents and guardians, summarising the research findings. The letter has been placed in Appendix 25.

References

- Abbott, K., Ellis, S. J., & Abbott, R. (2016). 'We've got a lack of family values': an examination of how teachers formulate and justify their approach to teaching sex and relationships education. *Sex Education*, *16*(6), 678-691.
- Abusabha, R., & Woelfel, M. L. (2003). Qualitative vs quantitative methods: Two opposites that make a perfect match. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics, 103*(5), 566-569. DOI: 10.1053/jada.2003.50129
- Aggleton, P., Ball, A., & Mane, P. (2000). Young people, sexuality and relationships. *Sexual and Relationship Therapy*, *15*(3), 213-220. DOI: 10.1080/14681990050109818
- Alexander, H. A. (2006). A View from Somewhere: Explaining the Paradigms of Educational Research. *Journal of Philosophy of Education, 40*, 205-221. DOI: 10.1111/j.1467-9752.2006.00502
- Alldred, P. (2007). *Get real about sex: The politics and practice of sex education*. McGraw-Hill Education (UK).
- Alldred, P. (2018). Sites of Good Practice, In Sanjakdar, F. & Yip, A. (Eds) *Critical Pedagogy, Sexuality Education and Young People: Issues about Democracy and Active Citizenry* (pp. 83-98). Peter Lang, New York.
- Alldred, P., & David, M. E. (2007). *Get real about sex*. McGraw-Hill Education: United Kingdom.
- Allen, L. (2008). Young people's 'agency' in sexuality research using visual methods. *Journal* of Youth Studies, 11(6), 565-577.
- Allen, L. (2009). 'It's not who they are it's what they are like': re-conceptualising sexuality education's 'best educator' debate. *Sex Education*, *9*(1), 33-49. DOI: 10.1080/14681810802639814
- Allen, L. (2011). Young people and sexuality education: Rethinking key debates. Springer.

Alvesson, M., & Sköldberg, K. (2017). *Reflexive Methodology: New vistas for qualitative research*. London: Sage Publications Ltd.

Anderson, M. J. (2005). Negotiating Sex. Southern California Law Review, 41,101-107.

- Anderson, V. (2017). Criteria for Evaluating Qualitative Research. *Human Resource Development Quarterly, 28*(2), 125-133.
- Atkins, S., Lewin, S., Smith, H., Engel, M., Fretheim, A., & Volmink, J. (2008). Conducting a meta-ethnography of qualitative literature: lessons learnt. BMC Medical Research Methodology, 8(1), 1-10.
- Baker, K. E. (2015). Online pornography–Should schools be teaching young people about the risks? An exploration of the views of young people and teaching professionals. *Sex Education*, *16*(2), 213-228.
- Bandura, A., & Walters, R. (1969). *Social Learning and Personality Development*. New York: Holt, Rinehart & Winston.
- Barr, E. M., Goldfarb, E. S., Russell, S., Seabert, D., Wallen, M., & Wilson, K. L. (2014). Improving sexuality education: The development of teacher-preparation standards. *Journal of School Health*, 84(6), 396-415.
- BBC News. (8th March 2023). *Sex education review announced after MPs raise concerns*. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-politics-64892868.amp</u>
- Beres, M. A. (2007). 'Spontaneous' sexual consent: An analysis of sexual consent literature. *Feminism & Psychology*, *17*(1), 93-108. DOI: 10.1177/0959353507072914
- Beres, M. A. (2020). Perspectives of rape-prevention educators on the role of consent in sexual violence prevention. *Sex Education*, *20*(2), 227-238. DOI: 10.1080/14681811.2019.1621744

- Berger, R. (2015). Now I see it, now I don't: Researcher's position and reflexivity in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research*, 15(2), 219-234. DOI: 10.1177/1468794112468475
- Bergin, M., Wells, J. S., & Owen, S. (2008). Critical realism: a philosophical framework for the study of gender and mental health. *Nursing Philosophy*, *9*(3), 169-179. DOI: 10.1111/j.1466-769X.2008.00358
- Biel, L. (2017). Fidget toys or focus tools. Autism File, 74, 12-13.
- Blake, S. & Jolly, J. (2002). Evidence and entitlement: teaching about sex and relationships in schools. In T. Jenkins (Eds). *Teenage Sex: What Should Schools Teach Children?* (pp. 23-37). London: Hodder and Stoughton.
- Blake, S. (2004). Not aliens or rocket science: Young men and sex and relationships
 work. Young people and sexual health: Individual, Social, and Policy Contexts, 155 168.
- Blake, S. (2008). There's a hole in the bucket: the politics, policy and practice of sex and relationships education. *Pastoral Care in Education*, 26(1), 33-41. DOI: 10.1080/02643940701848604
- Board of Education. (1943). Sex Education in Schools and Youth Organisations. Retrieved from: <u>http://www.educationengland.org.uk/documents/boardofed/1943-sex-</u> ed.html
- Bradford, N. J., DeWitt, J., Decker, J., Berg, D. R., Spencer, K. G., & Ross, M. W. (2019). Sex education and transgender youth: 'Trust means material by and for queer and trans people'. Sex Education, 19(1), 84-98. DOI: 10.1080/14681811.2018.1478808
- Brady, G., & Lowe, P. (2020). 'Go on, Go on, Go on': Sexual Consent, Child Sexual
 Exploitation and Cups of Tea. *Children & Society*, *34*(1), 78-92. DOI:
 10.1111/chso.12358

- Brady, G., Lowe, P., Brown, G., Osmond, J., & Newman, M. (2018). 'All in all it is just a judgement call': issues surrounding sexual consent in young people's heterosexual encounters. *Journal of Youth Studies*, *21*(1), 35-50. DOI: 10.1080/13676261.2017.1343461.
- Bragg, S., Ponsford, R., Meiksin, R., Emmerson, L., & Bonell, C. (2021). Dilemmas of school-based relationships and sexuality education for and about consent. *Sex Education*, 21(3), 269-283. DOI: 10.1080/14681811.2020.1788528
- Braun, V. & Clarke, V. (2019). Reflecting on reflexive thematic analysis. *Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health*, *11*(4), 589-597. DOI: 10.1080/2159676X.2019.1628806
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3(2), 77-101. DOI: 10.1191/1478088706qp063oa
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2013). *Successful Qualitative Research: A practical guide for beginners*. London: Sage Publications Ltd.
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2021). *Thematic Analysis: A practical guide*. London: Sage Publications Ltd.
- Braun, V., Clarke, V. & Weate, P. (2016). Using thematic analysis in sport and exercise research. In B. Smith & A. C. Sparkes (Eds.), *Routledge Handbook of Qualitative Research in Sport and Exercise* (pp. 191-205). London: Routledge
- Breen, R. L. (2006). A Practical Guide to Focus-Group Research, *Journal of Geography in Higher Education, 30*(3), 463-475. DOI: 10.1080/03098260600927575
- British Psychological Society [BPS]. (2004). *Guidelines for minimum standards of ethical approval in psychological research*. Leicester: BPS. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.abdn.ac.uk/psychology/documents/ethics/BPS_july2004_Guidelines</u> <u>for_Ethical_Approval.pdf</u>
- British Psychological Society [BPS]. (2018). Code of Ethics and Conduct. Leicester: BPS. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.bps.org.uk/news-and-policy/bps-code-ethics-and-conduct</u>

British Psychological Society [BPS]. (2021). Code of Human Research Ethics. Leicester: BPS. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.bps.org.uk/sites/www.bps.org.uk/files/Policy/Policy%20-</u> %20Files/BPS%20Code%20of%20Human%20Research%20Ethics.pdf

Bronfenbrenner, U. (1977). Toward and experimental ecology of human development. *American Psychologist, 32*(7), 513–531.

Bronfenbrenner, U., & Ceci, S. J. (1994). Nature-nurture reconceptualised in developmental perspective: a bioecological model. *Psychological Review*, *101*(4), 568–586.

Brook, PSHE Association, and Sex Education Forum. (2014). Sex and Relationships Education (SER) for the 21st century: Supplementary advice to the sex and relationship education guidance. DfEE (0116/2000). Retrieved from: <u>https://www.sexeducationforum.org.uk/resources/advice-guidance/sre-21stcentury-supplementary-advice</u>

Brook. (2014). Good sex? Building evidence based practice in young people's sexual health. Retrieved from: <u>http://www.brook.org.uk/index.php/more/participation/good-sex-project</u>

Brook. (2023). Why are we still 'defending' RSE in 2023. Retrieved from: https://www.brook.org.uk/blog/why-are-we-still-defending-rse-in-2023/

Burkett, M., & Hamilton, K. (2012). Postfeminist sexual agency: Young women's negotiations of sexual consent. *Sexualities*, *15*(7), 815-833.

Burton, O., Rawstorne, P., Watchirs-Smith, L., Nathan, S., & Carter, A. (2023). Teaching sexual consent to young people in education settings: a narrative systematic review. Sex Education, 23(1), 18-34. DOI: 10.1080/14681811.2021.2018676

Buston, K., & Hart, G. (2001). Heterosexism and homophobia in Scottish school sex
education: Exploring the nature of the problem. *Journal of Adolescence*, *24*(1), 95-109.

- Buston, K., Wight, D., & Hart, G. (2002). Inside the sex education classroom: the importance of context in engaging pupils. *Culture, Health & Sexuality, 4*(3), 317-335. DOI: 10.1080/13691050110113332
- Cahill, C. (2007). Doing Research with Young People: Participatory Research and the Rituals of Collective Work'. *Children's Geographies*, *5*(3), 297-312.
- Cameron, R. J. (2006). Educational psychology: The distinctive contribution. *Educational Psychology in Practice*, *22*(4), 289-304.
- Cameron-Lewis, V., & Allen, L. (2012). Teaching pleasure and danger in sexuality education. *Sex Education*, *13*(2), 121-132.
- Cammarota, J. & Fine, M. (2008). Youth Participatory Action Research: A Pedagogy of Transformational Resistance. In Cammarota, J. & Fine, M. (Eds.). *Revolutionizing Education: Youth Participatory Action Research in Motion* (pp. 1-12). London: Routledge.

Carabine., J. (2004). Sexualities: personal lives and social policy. Bristol: Policy Press.

Carmody, M. (2015). Sex, Ethics and Young People. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.

- Carmody, M., & Ovenden, G. (2013). Putting ethical sex into practice: Sexual negotiation, gender and citizenship in the lives of young women and men. *Journal of Youth Studies*, *16*(6), 792-807.
- Carpenter, N., Lee, F., & Male, D. (2023). A role for educational psychologists: using Planning Alternative Tomorrows with Hope (PATH) and participatory action research (PAR) to develop a Relationships and Sex Education (RSE) support group with staff in a special school. *Educational Psychology in Practice*, 92-110. DOI: 10.1080/02667363.2022.2164559
- CASP. (2017). Critical Skills Appraisal Programme: Qualitative research checklist. Retrieved from https://casp-uk.net/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/CASP-Qualitative-Checklist-2018.pdf

- Cense, M., Bay-Cheng, L., & Dijk, L. V. (2018). 'Do I score points if I say "no"?': Negotiating sexual boundaries in a changing normative landscape. *Journal of Gender-based Violence*, 2(2), 277-291. DOI: 10.1332/239868018X15266373560443
- Chief Secretary to the Treasury. (2003) *Every Child Matters*. London: HMSO. Retrieved from: <u>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/Government/uploads/system/uploads/atta</u> chment data/file/272064/5860.pdf

Children's Schools and Family Bill. (2010). Retrieved from: <u>http://hansard.parliament.uk/Lords/2010-04-</u> <u>07/debates/10040763000150/ChildrenSchoolsAndFamiliesBill</u>

- Choudhury, S., Blakemore, S. J., & Charman, T. (2006). Social cognitive development during adolescence. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience*, 1(3), 165.
- Christensen, P., & Mikkelsen, M. R. (2008). Jumping off and being careful: children's strategies of risk management in everyday life. Sociology of health & illness, 30(1), 112-130.
- Clarke, V., & Braun, V. (2013). Teaching thematic analysis: Overcoming challenges and developing strategies for effective learning. *The Psychologist*, *26*(2), 120-123.
- Cline, T., Gulliford, A., & Birch, S. (2015). *Educational Psychology*. London: Routledge.
- Cohen, L., Manion, L., & Morrison, K. (2017). *Research Methods in Education* (8th Eds.). Oxford: Routledge.
- Coleman, L., & Testa, A. (2007). Preferences towards sex education and information from an ethnically diverse sample of young people. *Sex Education*, 7(3), 293-307. DOI: 10.1080/14681810701448101
- Collingridge, D. S., & Gantt, E. E. (2008). The quality of qualitative research. *American Journal of Medical Quality*, 23(5), 389-395. DOI: 10.1177/1062860608320646

Cookingham, L. M., & Ryan, G. L. (2015). The impact of social media on the sexual and social wellness of adolescents. *Journal of Paediatric and Adolescent Gynaecology*, *28*(1), 2-5.

Coolican, H. (2017). Research Methods and Statistics in Psychology. Psychology Press.

- Corteen, H. (2017). Schools need brave teachers for sex and relationships education. Retrieved from: <u>https://schoolsweek.co.uk/schools-need-braveteachers-for-sex-</u> and-relationships-education/
- Coy, M., L. Kelly, F. Elvines, M. Garner, & A. Kanyeredzi. (2013). "Sex without Consent, I Suppose that Is Rape": How Young People in England Understand Sexual Consent. London: Office of the Children's Commissioner. Retrieved from: <u>https://blogs.servicesforeducation.co.uk/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2013/12/sex without consent i suppose that is rape newprin</u> <u>t.pdf</u>
- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2017). *Research Design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches*. London: Sage Publications.
- Cunliffe, A. L. (2016). "On becoming a critically reflexive practitioner" redux: What does it mean to be reflexive?. *Journal of Management Education*, *40*(6), 740-746. DOI: 10.1177/1052562916668919
- Cunliffe, A. L. (2016). Republication of "On becoming a critically reflexive practitioner". *Journal of Management Education*, *40*(6), 747-768.
- Danermark, E., & Ekstrbm, M. Jakobsen, & Karlsson. (2002). *Explaining Society. Critical realism in the social sciences*. London: Routledge.
- Darawsheh, W. (2014). Reflexivity in research: Promoting rigour, reliability and validity in qualitative research. *International Journal of Therapy and Rehabilitation*, *21*(12), 560-568. DOI: 10.12968/ijtr.2014.21.12.560.

- de Heer, B., Brown, M., & Cheney, J. (2021). Sexual consent and communication among the sexual minoritized: The role of heteronormative sex education, trauma, and dual identities. *Feminist Criminology*, 16-27.
- Deblinger, E., Stauffer, L. B., & Steer, R. A. (2001). Comparative efficacies of supportive and cognitive behavioral group therapies for young children who have been sexually abused and their nonoffending mothers. *Child Maltreatment*, *6*(4), 332-343.
- Denman, S., Gillies, P., Wilson, S., & Wijewardene, K. (1994). Sex education in schools: an overview with recommendations. *Public Health*, *108*(4), 251-256.
- Denzin, N. K., & Lincoln, Y. S. (2005). Introduction: The discipline and practice of qualitative research. In N.K. Denzin & Y.S. Lincoln (Eds.). *The SAGE Handbook of Qualitative Research (2nd ed.)* (pp. 1-143). London: Sage Publications Ltd.

Department for Education [DfE]. (1986). Education Act. London: HMSO.

Department for Education [DfE]. (1993). Education Act. London: HMSO.

Department for Education [DfE]. (1996). Education Act. London: HMSO.

Department for Education [DfE]. (2002). Education Act. London: HMSO.

Department for Education [DfE]. (2010). Children, Schools and Families Act. London: HMSO.

Department for Education [DfE]. (2008). *Review of Sex and Relationships Education (SRE) in Schools: A Report by the External Steering Group*. London: UK Government. Retrieved from: <u>https://healtheducationresources.unesco.org/es/library/documents/review-sex-and-relationship-education-sre-schools-report-external-steering-group?language=es</u>

Department for Education [DfE]. (2011). Education Act. London: HMSO.

Department for Education [DfE]. (2013a). *Consultation on PSHE education: Summary Report.* London: UK Government. Retrieved from:

https://www.gov.uk/Government/consultations/relationships-and-sex-educationand-health-education

Department for Education [DfE]. (2014a). Children and Families Act. London: DfE.

Department for Education [DfE]. (2014b). *The Equality Act 2010 and Schools*. London: UK Government. Retrieved from: <u>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/Government/uploads/system/uploads/atta</u> <u>chment_data/file/315587/Equality_Act_Advice_Final.pdf</u>

Department for Education [DfE]. (2016). *Keeping Children Safe in Education: Statutory* guidance for schools and colleges. London: UK Government Retrieved from <u>https://www.gov.uk/Government/publications/keeping-children-safe-in-education--2</u>

Department for Education [DfE]. (2017a). *Changes to teaching of sex and relationship education, and PSHE* (Open Consultation). London: UK Government. Retrieved from <u>https://www.gov.uk/Government/consultations/changes-to-teaching-of-sex-and-</u> <u>relationship-education-and-pshe</u>

Department for Education [DfE]. (2017b). *Children and Social Work Act 2017.* London: HMSO.

Department for Education [DfE]. (2018). Working together to safeguard children. Retrieved from: <u>www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-</u> <u>children--2</u>

Department for Education [DfE]. (2019a). *Relationships Education, Relationships and Sex Education (RSE) and Health Education: Statutory guidance for governing bodies, proprietors, head teachers, principals, senior leadership teams, teachers*. London: UK Government Retrieved from: <u>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/Government/uploads/system/uploads/atta</u> <u>chment data/file/908013/Relationships Education Relationships and Sex Educ</u> <u>ation RSE and Health Education.pdf</u> Department for Education [DfE]. (2019b) *Relationships Education, Relationships and Sex Education (RSE) and Health Education: Guidance for parents*. London: UK Government. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.gov.uk/Government/publications/relationships-sex-and-health-</u> <u>education-guides-for-schools</u>

Department for Education [DfE]. (2019c). Relationships education and relationships and sex education: Impact Assessment. Retrieved from: <u>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/atta</u> <u>chment_data/file/780768/Government_Response_to_RSE_Consultation.pdf</u>

Department for Education [DfE] (2020). *Planning your Relationships, Sex and Health Curriculum. London: UK Government*. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.gov.uk/guidance/plan-your-relationships-sex-and-health-curriculum</u>

Department for Education [DfE]. (2021a). *Relationships Education, Relationships and Sex Education (RSE) and Health Education should be implemented*. London: UK Government. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.gov.uk/Government/publications/relationships-education-</u> <u>relationships-and-sex-education-rse-and-health-education</u>

Department for Education [DfE] (2021b). *Training Materials on Teaching About Relationships, Sex and Health.* London: UK Government. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.gov.uk/guidance/teaching-about-relationships-sex-and-health</u>

Department for Education [DfE]. (2022). Working Together to Safeguard Children. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-</u> <u>safeguard-children--2</u>

Department for Education [DfE], & Greening, J. (2017). Schools to teach 21st century relationships and sex education (Press Release). London: UK Government. Retrieved from <u>https://www.gov.uk/Government/news/schools-to-teach-21st-century-</u> relationships-and-sex-education Department for Education and Employment [DfEE]. (2000). Sex and relationships education guidance (DfEE 0116/2000). London: UK Government Retrieved from: <u>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/Government/uploads/system/uploads/atta</u> <u>chment_data/file/283599/sex_and_relationship_education_guidance.pdf</u>

Department of Education and Science [DoES]. (1968). A Handbook of Health Education. London: HMSO.

Department of Education and Science [DoES]. (1977). *Health Education in Schools*. London: HMSO.

Department of Health [DoH]. (2005). *Mental Capacity Act.* London: UK Government. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2005/9/contents</u>

Department of Health [DoH]. (2009). Valuing People Now: a new three-year strategy for learning disability: Making it happen for everyone. London: UK Government. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.base-uk.org/sites/default/files/%5Buser-raw%5D/11-06/valuing_people_now_executive_summary.pdf</u>

Department of Health [DoH]. (2013). *A framework for sexual health improvement in in England.* London: UK Government. Retrieved from: Retrieved from: <u>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/Government/uploads/system/uploads/atta</u> <u>chment_data/file/142592/9287-2900714-TSO-</u> <u>SexualHealthPolicyNW_ACCESSIBLE.pdf</u>

Dickson-Swift, V., James, E. L., Kippen, S., & Liamputtong, P. (2007). Doing sensitive research: what challenges do qualitative researchers face? *Qualitative Research*, *7*(3), 327-353.

Dombrowski, S. C., Gischlar, K. L., & Durst, T. (2007). Safeguarding young people from cyber pornography and cyber sexual predation: A major dilemma of the Internet. *Child Abuse Review: Journal of the British Association for the Study and Prevention of Child Abuse and Neglect*, *16*(3), 153-170.
- Elia, J. P. (2000). Democratic sexuality education: A departure from sexual ideologies and traditional schooling. *Journal of Sex Education and Therapy*, *25*(2-3), 122-129.
- Elliott, J. (2000). Editorial. Psychological influences upon educational interventions. *Educational and Child Psychology*, *17*(3), 4-5.
- Endendijk, J. J., van Baar, A. L., & Deković, M. (2020). He is a stud, she is a slut! A metaanalysis on the continued existence of sexual double standards. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, *24*(2), 163-190. DOI: 10.1177/1088868319891310

Erikson, E. H. (1963). *Childhood And Society* (2nd Edition). New York: Norton.

- Ernst, M., Pine, D. S., & Hardin, M. (2006). Triadic model of the neurobiology of motivated behaviour in adolescence. *Psychological medicine*, *36*(3), 299-312.
- Farrell, P., Woods, K., Lewis, S., Rooney, S., Squires, G., & O'Connor, M. (2006). A review of the functions and contribution of educational psychologists in England and Wales in light of "Every Child Matters: Change for Children". Nottingham: DfES Publications.
- Finley, L. (2002). Outing the Researcher: The Provenance. *Process and Practice of Reflexivity*, *12*(4), 531-545. DOI: 10.1177/104973202129120052
- Fleetwood, S. (2014). Bhaskar and critical realism. In P.S. Adler, P. Du-Gay, G. Morgan & M. I. Reed (Eds.). *The Oxford Handbook of Sociology, Social Theory, and Organization Studies*. Oxford University Press.
- Formby, E. (2011) 'Sex and Relationships Education, sexual health, and lesbian, gay and bisexual sexual cultures: views from young people', *Sex Education*, 11(3), pp. 255-266. DOI: 10.1080/14681811.2011.590078

Formby. E., Coldwell. M., Stiell. B., Demack. S., Stevens. A., Shipton. L., Wolstenholme. C., & Willis., B. (2011). *Personal, social, health and economic education (PSHE): A mapping study of the prevalent models of delivery and their effectiveness.* London: Department for Education. Retrieved from: https://shura.shu.ac.uk/3849/1/Full report DFE-RR080.pdf

- Forrest, S., Strange, V., Oakley, A., & RIPPLE Study Team. (2004). What do young people want from sex education? The results of a needs assessment from a peer-led sex education programme. *Culture, Health & Sexuality, 6*(4), 337-354. DOI: 10.1080/13691050310001645050
- Fowler, L. R., Schoen, L., Smith, H. S., & Morain, S. R. (2022). Sex education on TikTok: a content analysis of themes. *Health Promotion Practice*, *23*(5), 739-742.
- Fox, M. (2009). Working with systems and thinking systemically–disentangling the crossed wires. *Educational Psychology in Practice*, 25(3), 247–258. DOI: 10.1080/02667360903151817
- Fox, M., Green, G., & Martin, P. (2007). *Doing Practitioner Research*. London: Sage Publications Ltd.
- Garbutt, R. (2008). Sex and relationships for people with learning disabilities: A challenge for parents and professionals. *Mental Health and Learning Disabilities Research and Practice*, *5*(2), 266-276.
- Gilbert, J. (2018). Contesting consent in sex education. *Sex Education, 18*(3), 268-279. DOI: 10.1080/14681811.2017.1393407
- Gilbert, K. R. (2002). Taking a narrative approach to grief research: Finding meaning in stories. *Death Studies*, *26*(3), 223-239. DOI: 0.1080/07481180211274
- Gillander Gådin, K., & Stein, N. (2019). Do schools normalise sexual harassment? An analysis of a legal case regarding sexual harassment in a Swedish high school. *Gender and Education*, *31*(7), 920-937. DOI: 10.1080/09540253.2017.1396292
- Golafshani, N. (2003). Understanding reliability and validity in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, *8*(4), 597-607.
- Goldstein, T., Russell, V., & Daley, A. (2007). Safe, positive and queering moments in teaching education and schooling: A conceptual framework. *Teaching Education*, *18*(3), 183-199. DOI: 10.1080/10476210701533035

- Gough, B. (2016). Reflexivity in qualitative psychological research. *Journal of Positive Psychology*, 1-2. DOI: 10.1080/17439760.2016.1262615
- Gough, B., & Madill, A. (2012). Subjectivity in psychological science: From problem to prospect. *Psychological Methods*, *17*(3), 374-384. DOI: 10.1037/a0029313
- Gough, D. (2007). Weight of evidence: a framework for the appraisal of the quality and relevance of evidence. *Research Papers in Education*, *22*(2), 213-228. DOI: 1080/02671520701296189
- Gough, D., Oliver, S. & Thomas, J. (2013). Learning from research: Systematic reviews for informing policy decisions: A quick guide. Retrieved from <u>http://www.alliance4usefulevidence.org/publication/learning-from-research/</u>
- Graff, H. J., Moyher, R. E., Bair, J., Foster, C., Gorden, M. E., & Clem, J. (2018). Relationships and sexuality: How is a young adult with an intellectual disability supposed to navigate? *Sexuality and Disability*, *36*, 175-183.

Greening, J. (2017). Sex and Relationships Education: Written statement - HCWS509. House of Lords. London: UK Government. Retrieved on 28th May 2022 from <u>http://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-answers-</u> <u>statements/written-statement/Commons/2017-03-01/HCWS509/</u>

- Guba, E. G., & Lincoln, Y. S. (1994). Competing paradigms in qualitative research. *Handbook* of Qualitative Research, 2, 105-117.
- Guba, E. G., & Lincoln, Y. S. (2005). Paradigmatic controversies, contradictions, and emerging confluences. *The Landscape of Qualitative Research*, 255-286.
- Haberland, N., & Rogow, D. (2015). Sexuality education: emerging trends in evidence and practice. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, *56*(1), 15-21.
- Haggis, J., & Mulholland, M. (2014). Rethinking difference and sex education: from cultural inclusivity to normative diversity. *Sex Education*, *14*(1), 57-66. DOI: 10.1080/14681811.2013.824873

- Hall, L. A. (2004). Birds, bees and general embarrassment: Sex education in Britain, from social purity to Section 28. In R. Aldrich (Eds). *Public or Private Education: Lessons from History (p93-112).* Woburn Education Series. London: Routledge.
- Hampshire, J. (2005). The politics of school sex education policy in England and Wales from the 1940s to the 1960s. *Social History of Medicine*, *18*(1), 87-105.
- Hanson, W. E., Creswell, J. W., Clark, V. L. P., Petska, K. S., & Creswell, J. D. (2005). Mixed methods research designs in counselling psychology. *Journal of Counselling Psychology*, 52(2), 224-235. DOI: 10.1037/0022-0167.52.2.224
- Haraway D. (1988) Situated knowledges: The science question in feminism and the privilege of partial perspective. *Feminism Studies* 14(3): 575–599.
- Harding, E. (2017). Obtaining the views of children with profound and multiple learning difficulties. In: J. Hardy, & C. Hobbs (Eds.), Using qualitative research to hear the voice of children and young people: The work of British educational psychologists.
 (pp.105–111). DECP.
- Harding, E., & Atkinson, C. (2009). How EPs record the voice of the child. *Educational Psychology in Practice*, *25*(2), 125-137.
- Harper, D., & Thompson, A. R. (2011). *Qualitative Research Methods in Mental Health and Psychotherapy: A guide for students and practitioners*. John Wiley & Sons.
- Harris, K. L. (2018). Yes means yes and no means no, but both these mantras need to go:
 Communication myths in consent education and anti-rape activism. *Journal of Applied Communication Research*, 46(2), 155-178. DOI:
 10.1080/00909882.2018.1435900
- Hatchel, T., Espelage, D. L., & Huang, Y. (2018). Sexual harassment victimization, school belonging, and depressive symptoms among LGBTQ adolescents: Temporal insights. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, *88*(4), 422-431. DOI: 10.1037/ort0000279

Health and Care Professional Council [HCPC]. (2016). Standards of conduct, performance and ethics. Retrieved from: <u>www.hcpc-uk.org/standards/standards-of-conduct-</u> <u>performance-and-ethics/</u>

Her Majesty's [HM] Government. (2018). *Data Protection Act*. Retrieved from: <u>http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2018/12/contents/enacted</u>

Hilton, G. L. (2007). Listening to the boys again: An exploration of what boys want to learn in sex education classes and how they want to be taught. *Sex Education*, 7(2), 161-174. DOI: 10.1080/14681810701264508

- Hirsch, J. S., Khan, S. R., Wamboldt, A., & Mellins, C. A. (2019). Social dimensions of sexual consent among cisgender heterosexual college students: Insights from ethnographic research. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 64(1), 26-35.
- Hirst, J. (2004). Researching young people's sexuality and learning about sex: experience, need, and sex and relationship education. *Culture, Health & Sexuality, 6*(2), 115-129. DOI: 10.1080/13691050310001600969
- Hirst, J. (2008). Developing sexual competence? Exploring strategies for the provision of effective sexualities and relationships education. *Sex Education*, *8*(4), 399-413.
- Holland, J. (2007). Emotions and research. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, *10*(3), 195-209.
- Horn., S. Peter., C., & Russell, S. T. (2017). The Right to be Who You Are: Competing Tensions among Protection, Survival and Participation Related to Youth Sexuality and Gender. In M. D Ruck, M. Peterson-Badali., & M. Freeman (Eds). *Handbook of Children's Rights: Global and Multidisciplinary Perspectives* (pp. 221-238). London: Routledge. .
- Hottois., J. & Milner., N. A. (1975). *The sex education controversy: a study of politics, education, and morality*. D.C: Heath Company.

- Hubbard, G., Backett-Milburn, K., & Kemmer, D. (2001). Working with emotion: issues for the researcher in fieldwork and teamwork. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 4(2), 119-137.
- Jackson, S., & Scott, S. (2004). Sexual antinomies in late modernity. *Sexualities*, 7(2), 233-248.
- Johnson, N. (2009). The role of self and emotion within qualitative sensitive research: A reflective account. *Enquire*, *2*(4), 23-50.
- Jones, T. (2015). Framing Sexuality Education Discourses for Programs and Practice. In J., James & Jr., Ponzetti (Eds). *Evidence Based Approaches to Sexuality Education* (pp. 34-37). London: Routledge.
- Jones, T. M. (2011a). A sexuality education discourses framework: Conservative, liberal, critical, and postmodern. *American Journal of Sexuality Education*, 6(2), 133-175.
- Jones, T. M. (2011b). Saving rhetorical children: Sexuality education discourses from conservative to post-modern. *Sex Education*, *11*(4), 369-387.
- Kaltiala-Heino, R., Savioja, H., Fröjd, S., & Marttunen, M. (2018). Experiences of sexual harassment are associated with the sexual behavior of 14-to 18-year-old adolescents. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *77*, 46-57. DOI: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2017.12.014
- Kantor, L. M., Lindberg, L. D., Tashkandi, Y., Hirsch, J. S., & Santelli, J. S. (2021). Sex education: Broadening the definition of relevant outcomes. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 68(1), 7-8.
- Kehily, M. J. (2002). Sexing the subject: teachers, pedagogies and sex education. Sex Education: Sexuality, Society and Learning, 2(3), 215-231. DOI: 10.1080/1468181022000025785
- Kenny, M. C., Capri, V., Ryan, E. E., & Runyon, M. K. (2008). Child sexual abuse: from prevention to self-protection. *Child Abuse Review: Journal of the British Association for the Study and Prevention of Child Abuse and Neglect*, 17(1), 36-54.

- Kirk, J., & Miller, M. L. (1986). *Reliability and Validity in Qualitative Research*. Beverly Hills: Sage Publications.
- Kitzinger, J. (1994). The methodology of Focus Groups: the importance of interaction
 between research participants. *Sociology of Health and Illness, 6*(1), 103-121. DOI: 10.1111/1467-9566.ep11347023
- Korstjens, I., & Moser, A. (2018). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part 4: Trustworthiness and publishing. *European Journal of General Practice*, 24(1), 120– 124. DOI: 10.1080/13814788.2017.1375092
- Krueger, R. & Casey, M. A. (2015). *Focus Groups: A practical guide for applied research* (5th Eds.). Thousand Oaks, California: SAGE.
- Lader, D. (2009). Contraception and Sexual Health 2008/09 Opinions Survey Report No. 41. Office of National Statistics. Retrieved from: <u>http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/rel/lifestyles/contraception-and-sexual-health/2008-09/index.html</u>
- Langdridge, D. (2007). *Phenomenological psychology: Theory, research and method*. Harlow: Pearson Education.
- Larkin, M., Watts, S., & Clifton, E. (2006). Giving voice and making sense in interpretative phenomenological analysis. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *3*(2), 102-120.
- Lee, N., Hewett, A., Rübner Jørgensen, C., Turner, J., Wade, A., & Weckesser, A. (2018).
 Children and sexting: the case for intergenerational co-learning. *Childhood*, 25(3), 385-399. DOI:10.1177/0907568218777305.
- Levitt, H. M., Motulsky, S. L., Wertz, F. J., Morrow, S. L., & Ponterotto, J. G. (2017).
 Recommendations for designing and reviewing qualitative research in psychology:
 Promoting methodological integrity. *Qualitative Psychology*, 4(1), 2-22. DOI: 10.1037/qup0000082

Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1985). *Naturalistic Inquiry*. London: Sage Publications Ltd.

- Lodge, A., Duffy, M., & Feeney, M. (2022). 'I think it depends on who you have, I was lucky I had a teacher who felt comfortable telling all this stuff'. Teacher comfortability: key to high-quality sexuality education? *Irish Educational Studies*, 1-18.
- Löfgren-Mårtenson, L. (2012). "I want to do it right!" A pilot study of Swedish sex education and young people with intellectual disabilities. *Sexuality and Disability*, *30*(2), 209-225. DOI: 10.1007/s11195-011-9239-z
- Luttrell, W. (2019). Reflexive qualitative research. In G. W. Noblit (Eds.). *The Oxford Encyclopaedia of Qualitative Research in Education*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Lyons, E., & Coyle, A. (2012). *Analysing Qualitative Data in Psychology*. SAGE Publications. DOI: 10.4135/9781446207536
- Macdonald, S.A. (2009). Independent review of the proposal to make PSHE education statutory. London: UK Government. Retrieved from: www.educationengland.org.uk/documents/pdfs/2009-macdonald-pshe.pdf
- MacDowell., & Mitchell. (2006). Sexual Health Communication: Letting Young People Have Their Say. In Ingham. R., & Aggleton. P (Eds.). Promoting young people's sexual heath; International perspectives (pp. 174-191). Routledge: Taylor and Francis Group
- Mackenzie, N., & Knipe, S. (2006). Research dilemmas: Paradigms, methods and methodology. *Issues in Educational Research*, *16*(2), 193-205.
- Madill, A., & Gough, B. (2008). Qualitative research and its place in psychological science. *Psychological Methods*, *13*(3), 254-271. DOI: 10.1037/a0013220
- Madill, A., Jordan, A., & Shirley, C. (2000). Objectivity and reliability in qualitative analysis:
 Realist, contextualist and radical constructionist epistemologies. *British Journal of Psychology*, *91*(1), 1-20. DOI: 10.1348/000712600161646

- Marston, C., Juarez, F., & Antonio Izazola, J. (2004). Young, unmarried men and sex: do friends and partners shape risk behaviour? *Culture, Health & Sexuality*, 6(5), 411-424.
- Martinello, E. (2015). Reviewing risks factors of individuals with intellectual disabilities as perpetrators of sexually abusive behaviours. *Sexuality and Disability*, *33*(2), 269-278.
- Martinez, A., & de Meza, L. (2007). *Sex Relationships Education: Are You Getting It?* UK Youth Parliament. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.rsehub.org.uk/media/1293/toolkit-for-consulting-young-people-on-sex-and-relationships-education.pdf</u>
- Mason, S. (2010). Braving it out! An illuminative evaluation of the provision of sex and relationship education in two primary schools in England. *Sex Education*, *10*(2), 157-169.
- Mauthner, N. S., & Doucet, A. (2003). Reflexive accounts and accounts of reflexivity in qualitative data analysis. *Sociology*, *37*(3), 413-431. DOI: 10.1177/00380385030373002
- Maxwell, J. A. (2012). A realist approach for qualitative research. London: Sage Publications Ltd.
- McAdams, D. (1997). *The stories we live by: personal myths and the making of the self*. London: Guildford Press.
- McCann, E., Marsh, L., & Brown, M. (2019). People with intellectual disabilities, relationship and sex education programmes: A systematic review. *Health Education Journal*, 78(8), 885-900.
- McGeeney, E. (2015). A focus on pleasure? Desire and disgust in group work with young men. *Culture, Health & Sexuality*, *17*(2)), 223-237.
- McGeeney. E. (2013). *What is good sex?: Young people, sexual pleasure and sexual health services.* PhD Thesis. Faculty of Health and Social Care: The Open University.

Retrieved from: <u>http://goodsexproject.files.wordpress.com/2014/03/ester-</u> <u>mcgeeney-theses-with-ammendments.pdf</u>

- Measor, L., Tiffin, C., & Miller, K. (2000). Young people's views on sex education: Education, attitudes, and behaviour. Psychology Press.
- Mercer, C. H., Tanton, C., Prah, P., Erens, B., Sonnenberg, P., Clifton, S., ... & Johnson, A. M. (2013). Changes in sexual attitudes and lifestyles in Britain through the life course and over time: findings from the National Surveys of Sexual Attitudes and Lifestyles. *The Lancet*, 382(9907), 1781-1794. DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(13)62035-8
- Merriam, S. B. (1995). Issues of Validity and Reliability in Qualitative Research. *PAACE Journal of Lifelong Learning*, *4*, 51-60.
- Mertens, D. M. (2014). *Research and Evaluation in Education and Psychology: Integrating Diversity with Quantitative, Qualitative and Mixed Methods* (4 Eds). London: Sage Publications Ltd.
- Miller, A., & Frederickson, N. (2006). Generalizable findings and idiographic problems:
 Struggles and successes for educational psychologists as scientist-practitioners. The modern scientist practitioner: A guide to practice in psychology. In D. A. Lane, & S. Corrie (Eds). *The Modern Scientist-Practitioner: A Guide to Practice in Psychology.* London: Sage Publications Ltd.

Ministry of Education. (1956). Handbook of Health Education. London: HMSO.

- Moher, D., Liberati, A., Tetzlaff, J., Altman, D. G., & PRISMA Group*, T. (2009). Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *151*(4), 264-269.
- Moore, A., & Reynolds, P. (2004). Feminist approaches to sexual consent: A critical assessment. *Making Sense of Sexual Consent*, 29-44.
- Mort, F. (2002). *Dangerous sexualities: Medico-moral politics in England since 1830*. London: Routledge.

- Murphy, G. H., & O'Callaghan, A. L. (2004). Capacity of adults with intellectual disabilities to consent to sexual relationships. *Psychological Medicine*, *34*(7), 1347-1357.
- Murphy, G.H. (2016) Sexual relationships and adults with intellectual disabilities. In A. Carr,
 C. Linehan, G. OReilly, P. Noonan Walsh, & J. McEvoy (Eds). *Handbook of Intellectual Disability and Clinical Psychology Practice* (pp. 731-759). London:
 Routledge.
- Nadin, S., & Cassell, C. (2006). The use of a research diary as a tool for reflexive practice:
 Some reflections from management research. *Qualitative Research in Accounting & Management, 3*(3), 208-217. DOI: 10.1108/11766090610705407
- National Children's Bureau [NCB]. (2014). The Sex Educational Supplement: The consent issue. The Sex Education Forum and National Children's Bureau: London. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.sexeducationforum.org.uk/resources/teaching-resources/e-</u> <u>magazine-consent-issue</u>
- Newby, K., Wallace, L.M., Dunn, O. & Brown, K.E. (2012) 'A survey of English teenagers' sexual experience and preferences for school-based sex education'. *Sex Education*, 12(2), 231-251. DOI: 10.1080/14681811.2011.615582
- Nolan, A., & Moreland, N. (2014). The process of psychological consultation. *Educational Psychology in Practice*, *30*(1), 63-77. DOI: 10.1080/02667363.2013.873019
- Nowell, L. S., Norris, J. M., White, D. E., & Moules, N. J. (2017). Thematic analysis: Striving to meet the trustworthiness criteria. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods, 16*(1), 1-12. DOI: 1609406917733847.
- Office for Standards in Education, Children's Services and Skills [Ofsted]. (2013). Not yet good enough: personal, social, health and economic education in schools. https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/Government/uploads/system/uploads/atta chment data/file/413178/Not yet good enough personal social health and economic education in schools.pdf

- Pariera, K. L., & McCormack, T. A. (2017). "Why Can't We Just Have Sex?": An Analysis of Anonymous Questions About Sex Asked by Ninth Graders. *American Journal of Sexuality Education*, 12(3), 277-296.
- Parker, I. (2005). *Qualitative Psychology: Introducing radical research*. Maidenhead: Open University Press.
- Patton, M. Q. (1990). *Qualitative Evaluation and Research Methods* (2nd Eds.). London: Sage Publications Ltd.
- Patton, M. Q. (2002). Two decades of developments in qualitative inquiry: A personal, experiential perspective. *Qualitative Social Work*, 1(3), 261-283. DOI: 10.1177/1473325002001003636
- Pilcher, J. (2004). School sex education: policy and practice in England 1870 to 2000. *Sex Education*, *5*(2), 153-170.
- Pilgrim, D. (2014). Some implications of critical realism for mental health research. *Social Theory & Health*, *12*(1), 1-21.
- Polkinghorne, D. E. (2005). Language and meaning: Data collection in qualitative research. *Journal of Counselling Psychology*, *52*(2), 137-145. DOI: 10.1037/0022-0167.52.2.137
- Potter, J. (1996). Discourse analysis and constructionist approaches: Theoretical background. In J.T.E. Richardson (Eds). *Handbook of qualitative research methods for psychology and the social sciences.* Leicester: British Psychological Society.
- Pound, P., Denford, S., Shucksmith, J., Tanton, C., Johnson, A. M., Owen, J., ... & Campbell, R.
 (2017). What is best practice in sex and relationship education? A synthesis of evidence, including stakeholders' views. *BMJ open*, 7(5), e014791.
- Pound, P., Langford, R., & Campbell, R. (2016). What do young people think about their school-based sex and relationship education? A qualitative synthesis of young people's views and experiences. *BMJ Open, 6*(9),1-14. DOI: 10.1136/bmjopen-2016-011329

Professional Association for Childcare and Early Year. (2019). *Teaching children about their* private parts. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.pacey.org.uk/news-and-views/pacey-blog/2019/october-2019/teaching-children-about-their-private-parts/</u>

PSHE Association Strategic Partners Group. (2018). *Statutory PSHE Education: Meaningful change supported by busy teachers and school leaders*. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.pshe-</u> <u>association.org.uk/system/files/PSHE%20workload%20report%20FINAL%20version</u> %204%206%202018.pdf

- Renold, E. (2000). 'Coming out': Gender, (hetero) sexuality and the primary school. *Gender* and education, 12(3), 309-326.
- Renold, E., Egan, R. D., & Ringrose, J. (2015). Introduction. In J. Ringrose, E. Renold, & R. D.
 Egan (Eds.), *Children, Sexuality and Sexualisation* (pp. 1-21). Hampshire: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Rice, P., & Dolgin, K. (2002). Adolescents in theoretical context. *The adolescent: Development, relationships and culture* (10th Eds.). Boston: Allyn and Bacon.
- Robinson, K. H. (2012). 'Difficult citizenship': The precarious relationships between childhood, sexuality and access to knowledge. *Sexualities*, *15*(3-4), 257-276.
- Robson, C. (2011). *Real world research: A resource for social scientists and practitionerresearchers*. (3rd Eds.). United Kingdom: John Wiley & Sons.
- Sanjakdar, F. & Yip, A. (2018). Critical Pedagogy and the Re-imagining of Sexuality Education: and Introduction. In Sanjakdar, F. & Yip, A. (Eds.). *Critical Pedagogy, Sexuality Education and Young People: Issues about Democracy and Active Citizenry* (pp. 1-16). New York: Peter Lang.
- Savin-Williams, R., & Diamond, L. (2004). Sex. In R. M. Lerner & L. Steinberg (Eds.). Handbook of Adolescent Psychology (pp. 140-152). New Jersey: John Wiley & Sons.

- Schaalma, H. P., Abraham, C., Gillmore, M. R., & Kok, G. (2004). Sex education as health promotion: what does it take? *Archives of Sexual Behaviour*, *33*(3), 259-269.
- Schutte, L., Van den Borne, M., Kok, G., Meijer, S., & Mevissen, F. E. (2016). Innovatively supporting Teachers' implementation of school-based sex education: developing a web-based coaching intervention from problem to solution. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 18(7), e136.
- Sciberras, R., & Tanner, C. (2023). 'Sex is so much more than penis in vagina': sex education, pleasure and ethical erotics on Instagram. *Sex Education*, 1-14.
- Scott, L., & Thomson, R. (1992). School sex education: more a patchwork than a pattern. *Health Education Journal*, *51*(3), 132-135.
- Scott, R. H., Smith, C., Formby, E., Hadley, A., Hallgarten, L., Hoyle, A., ... & Tourountsis, D. (2020). What and how: doing good research with young people, digital intimacies, and relationships and sex education. *Sex education*, *20*(6), 675-691. DOI: 10.1080/14681811.2020.1732337
- Seale, C. (1999). Quality in qualitative research. Qualitative Inquiry, 5(4), 465-478.
- Setty, E. (2021). Sex and consent in contemporary youth sexual culture: the 'ideals' and the 'realities'. *Sex Education*, *21*(3), 331-346.

Sexual Offense Act [SOA]. (2003). Retrieved from: https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/42/contents

- Shufutinsky, A. (2020). Employing use of self for transparency, rigor, trustworthiness, and credibility in qualitative organizational research methods. *Organizational Development Review*, *52*(1), 50-58.
- Simon, L., & Daneback, K. (2013). Adolescents' use of the internet for sex education: A thematic and critical review of the literature. *International Journal of Sexual Health*, 25(4), 305-319. DOI: <u>10.1080/19317611.2013.823899</u>

- Smith J., Flowers P. & Larkin M. (2009). *Interpretative Phenomenological Analysis: Theory, Method and Research*. London: Sage Publications Ltd.
- Smith, J. A. (2004). Reflecting on the development of interpretative phenomenological analysis and its contribution to qualitative research in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 1(1), 39-54.
- Spano, S. (2004). Stages of Adolescent Development (Research Facts and Findings). ACT for Youth Upstate Centre of Excellence. Retrieved from <u>http://www.actforyouth.net/resources/rf/rf_stages_0504.pdf</u>
- Sriranganathan, G., Jaworsky, D., Larkin, J., Flicker, S., Campbell, L., Flynn, S., Janssen, J. and
 Erlich, L. (2010). Peer sexual health education. *Health Education Journal*, 71(1), 62-71.
- Stalvey, S., & Brasell, H. (2006). Using Stress Balls to Focus the Attention of Sixth-Grade Learners. *Journal of At-Risk Issues*, *12*(2), 7-16.
- Starks, H., & Brown Trinidad, S. (2007). Choose your method: A comparison of phenomenology, discourse analysis, and grounded theory. *Qualitative Health Research*, 17(10), 1372-1380. DOI: 10.1177/1049732307307031
- Steinberg, L. (2005). Cognitive and affective development in adolescence. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, *9*(2), 69-74.
- Steinberg, L., & Morris, A. S. (2001). Adolescent Development. *Annual Review of Psychology,* 52(1), 83–110. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.52.1.83</u>
- Stonewall School Report. (2017). *The experiences of lesbian, gay, bi and trans pupils in Britain's schools.* Retrieved from: <u>https://www.stonewall.org.uk/school-report-</u> <u>2017</u>
- Strange, V., Forrest, S., Oakley, A., Stephenson, J., & the RIPPLE Study Team 1. (2006). Sex and relationship education for 13–16 year olds: evidence from England. Sex Education, 6(1), 31-46. DOI: 10.1080/14681810500508

- Strange, V., Oakley, A., Forrest, S., & Ripple Study Team. (2003). Mixed-sex or single-sex sex education: how would young people like their sex education and why? *Gender and Education*, 15(2), 201-214. DOI:10.1080/09540250303852
- Strasburger, V. C. (2012). Adolescents, sex, and the media. *Adolescent Medicine-State of the Art Reviews*, 23(1), 15.
- Sundaram, V., & Sauntson, H. (2016). Discursive silences: using critical linguistic and qualitative analysis to explore the continued absence of pleasure in sex and relationships education in England. *Sex Education*, *16*(3), 240-254. DOI: 10.1080/14681811.2015.1058771
- Taylor, G. W., & Ussher, J. M. (2001). Making sense of S&M: A discourse analytic account. *Sexualities*, 4(3), 293-314. DOI: 10.1177/136346001004003002
- Tebes, J. K. (2005). Community science, philosophy of science, and the practice of research. *American Journal of Community Psychology, 35*(3-4), 213-230. DOI: 10.1007/s10464-005-3399
- Terry, G., Hayfield, N., Clarke, V., and Braun, V. (2017). Thematic Analysis in Willig, C. and Stainton Rogers, W. (2017) The SAGE Handbook of Qualitative Research in Psychology. London: Sage Publications Ltd.
- Thomas, F., & Aggleton, P. (2016). School-based sex and relationships education: Current knowledge and emerging themes. Global perspectives and key debates in sex and relationships education: Addressing Issues of Gender, Sexuality, Plurality and Power, 13-29.
- Thomas, G. (2013). *How to do your research project: A Guide for students in education and applied social sciences*. London: Sage Publications Limited.
- Thomas, J., & Harden, A. (2008). Methods for the thematic synthesis of qualitative research in systematic reviews. BMC Medical Research Methodology, 8(1), 1-10. DOI:10.1186/1471-2288-8-45

- Thomson, R. (1994). Moral rhetoric and public health pragmatism: the recent politics of sex education. *Feminist Review*, *48*(1), 40-60.
- Tisdall, E. K. M. (2017). Conceptualising children and young people's participation: Examining vulnerability, social accountability and co-production. *The International Journal of Human Rights*, *21*(1), 59-75. DOI: 10.1080/13642987.2016.1248125
- Tong, A., Flemming, K., McInnes, E., Oliver, S., & Craig, J. (2012). Enhancing transparency in reporting the synthesis of qualitative research: ENTREQ. BMC Medical Research Methodology, 12(1), 1-8.
- Unis, B. D., & Sällström, C. (2020). Adolescents' conceptions of learning and education about sex and relationships. *American Journal of Sexuality Education*, 15(1), 25-52. DOI: 10.1080/15546128.2019.1617816

United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child [UNCRC]. (1989). United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child. Retrieved from: <u>https://downloads.unicef.org.uk/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2010/05/UNCRC united nations convention on the rights of t</u> <u>he_child.pdf</u>

United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child [UNCRC]. (2006). United Nations Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.un.org/development/desa/disabilities/convention-on-the-rights-of-persons-with-disabilities.html</u>

University of Nottingham. (2016). *Code of Research Conduct and Research Ethics*. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.nottingham.ac.uk/academicservices/documents/academic-</u> <u>misconduct/code-of-research-conduct-and-research-ethics-version-6-2016.pdf</u>

van Teijlingen, E., Reid, J., Shucksmith, J., Harris, F., Philip, K., Imamura, M., ... & Penney, G.
 (2007). Embarrassment as a key emotion in young people talking about sexual health. *Sociological Research Online*, *12*(2), 1-16. DOI: 10.5153/sro.1535

Vygotsky, L.S. (1978). *Mind in Society*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

- Wagner, P. (2008). Consultation as a framework for practice. *Frameworks for practice in educational psychology: A Textbook for Trainees and Practitioners*, 135-178.
- Walker, J. (2004). Parents and sex education—looking beyond 'the birds and the bees'. *Sex Education*, *4*(3), 239-254.
- Wang, T., Olivier, D. F., & Chen, P. (2020). Creating individual and organizational readiness for change: Conceptualization of system readiness for change in school education.
 International Journal of Leadership in Education, 1–25. DOI: 10.1080/13603124.2020.1818131

Weeks, J. (1986). Sexuality. London: Routledge.

- Wellings, K., & Johnson, A. M. (2013). Framing sexual health research: adopting a broader perspective. *The Lancet*, *382*(9907), 1759-1762.
- Westminster Education Forum. (2018). Westminster Education Forum Keynote Seminar:
 Preparing for implementing compulsory relationships and sex education in schools –
 curriculum content, best practice and teacher training. Westminster Education
 Forum. Retrieved from:
 https://www.westminsterforumprojects.co.uk/publication/Sex-and-Relationships-
- Whittington, E. (2019a). Co-producing and navigating consent in participatory research with young people. *Journal of Children's Services*, *14*,(3). 205-216.
- Whittington, E. (2019b). Understanding Sexual Consent: A Participatory Approach with Young People. Doctoral thesis (PhD), University of Sussex.
- Whittington, E. (2021). Rethinking consent with continuums: sex, ethics and young people. *Sex Education*, *21*(4), 480-496.

- Whittington, E., & R. Thomson. (2018). Education for Consent: Beyond the Binary. In F.
 Sanjakdar & A. Yip (Eds.), *Critical Pedagogy, Sexuality Education and Young People:*Issues about Democracy and Active Citizenry, (pp. 49–64). New York: Peter Lang.
- Willig, C. (2017). Interpretation in qualitative research. In C. Willig & W. S. Rogers (Eds.). The SAGE Handbook of Qualitative Research. (pp. 274-288). London: Sage Publications Ltd.
- World Health Organisation [WHO]. (2007). Global strategy for the Prevention and Control of Sexually Transmitted Infections 2006-2015: breaking the chain of transmission. Geneva: World Health Organisation. Retrieved from: <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/43853/9789241563475_eng.pdf</u> <u>?sequence=1&isAllowed=y</u>
- World Health Organisation [WHO]. (2010). Standards for Sexuality Education in Europe: A framework for policy makers, educational and health authorities and specialists.
 Geneva: World Health Organisation. Retrieved from: https://www.icmec.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/WHOStandards-for-Sexuality-Ed-in-Europe.pdf
- Yardley, L. (2000). Dilemmas in qualitative health research. *Psychology and Health*, 15(2), 215-228. DOI: 10.1080/08870440008400302
- Yardley, L. (2017). Demonstrating the validity of qualitative research. *The Journal of Positive Psychology, 12*(3), 295–296. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17439760.2016.1262624</u>

Appendices

Appendix 1. Rational for Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria of the Systematic Literature Review (Chapter Two – Page 24)

Features of the study	Inclusion criteria	Exclusion criteria	Rationale
Type of study	Qualitative or mixed methods	Quantitative	Qualitative data allowed for in-depth exploration of children and young people's perceptions of school based RSE
Type of publication	Studies published in peer review journals	Studies published outside of peer review journals	Peer review journals were chosen as the studies published within are reviewed by experts and should meet a high quality standard
Database	Indexed in ERIC, Web of Science, PsychInfo (OVID), Sociological Abstracts	Not indexed in ERIC, Web of Science, PsychInfo (OVID), Sociological Abstracts	The databases are relevant to psychology and education
Language of the study	Studies written in English	Studies written in languages other than English	Studies written in English allowed for the entire paper to be assessed
Publication date	Studies published between 2000 - 2022	Studies published prior to 2000	The date was chosen to allow links to be drawn to Government guidance, where appropriate
Geographical location	Studies conducted in England	Studies conducted outside of England	To allow for exploration of view within England and to allow links to
Age of participants	Children and young people aged 11-16 years	Studies where children were older or younger than 11-16 years of age	Students within secondary school were selected as they receive some level of school based RSE
Outcomes	Studies which focused on children and young people's perspectives of school based RSE	Studies which focused only sexual activities, intimate relationships, teenage pregnancy, sexual health behaviours, sexual violence, consent, or HIV/AIDS Studies which evaluated an intervention or programme	The studies were selected to reflect the outcome, children and young people's perspectives of RSE
	Studies which collected the voice of children and young people directly	Studies which explored teacher, parent, peer, or school nurse perceptions	
		Studies which looked at retrospective views	

Appendix 2. Rational for Excluded Studies at Full Screening Phase of the Systematic Literature Review (Chapter Two – Page 25)

Author, date and title	Reason(s) for exclusion
Abbott, K., Weckesser, A., & Egan, H. (2021). 'Everyone knows someone in an unhealthy relationship': young people's talk about	The study focused explicitly on intimate
intimate heterosexual relationships in England. Sex Education, 21(3), 304-318.	relationships
Aggleton, P., & Campbell, C. (2000). Working with young people-towards an agenda for sexual health. Sexual and Relationship	It was not a primary study
Therapy, 15(3), 283-296	
Aranda, K., Coleman, L., Sherriff, N. S., Cocking, C., Zeeman, L., & Cunningham, L. (2018). Listening for commissioning: A participatory	The study focused explicitly on sexual health
study exploring young people's experiences, views and preferences of school-based sexual health and school nursing. Journal of clinical	and school nurses
nursing, 27(1-2), 375-385.	
Attwood, F., & Smith, C. (2011). Investigating young people's sexual cultures: an introduction. Sex Education, 11(3), 235-242	The study focused on LGB+ CYP experience of
	English, not the RSE curriculum
Brady, G., Lowe, P., Brown, G., Osmond, J., & Newman, M. (2018). 'All in all it is just a judgement call': issues surrounding sexual consent	The study focused explicitly on consent and
in young people's heterosexual encounters. Journal of Youth Studies, 21(1), 35-50.	participants were too old
Bragg, S., Ponsford, R., Meiksin, R., Emmerson, L., & Bonell, C. (2021). Dilemmas of school-based relationships and sexuality education	The study focused explicitly on consent in RSE
for and about consent. Sex Education, 21(3), 269-283.	
Coleman, L. (2008). Preferences towards sex education and information from a religiously diverse sample of young people. Health	Study did not generate qualitative data
Education.	
Coleman, L., & Testa, A. (2007). Preferences towards sex education and information from an ethnically diverse sample of young	Study did not generate qualitative data
people. <i>Sex education, 7</i> (3), 293-307.	
Corteen, K. M. (2006). Schools' fulfilment of sex and relationship education documentation: three school-based case studies. Sex	Study did not generate qualitative data from
Education, 6(1), 77-99.	children and young people
Donovan, C., & Hester, M. (2008). 'Because she was my first girlfriend, I didn't know any different': making the case for mainstreaming	The study focused explicitly on love and
same-sex sex/relationship education. Sex education, 8(3), 277-287.	violence not RSE
Finlay, W. M. L., Rohleder, P., Taylor, N., & Culfear, H. (2015). 'Understanding' as a practical issue in sexual health education for people	The study did not collect the voice of CYP
with intellectual disabilities: A study using two qualitative methods. <i>Health Psychology</i> , 34(4), 328.	
Formby, E. (2011). Sex and relationships education, sexual health, and lesbian, gay and bisexual sexual cultures: Views from young	Participants were too old and used
people. <i>Sex education</i> , 11(3), 255-266.	retrospective views (13-35 years)
Formby, E., & Donovan, C. (2020). Sex and relationships education for LGBT+ young people: Lessons from UK youth	Participants were too old and used
work. Sexualities, 23(7), 1155-1178.	retrospective views (16-25 years)
Forrest, S. (2000). 'Big and tough': Boys learning about sexuality and manhood. Sexual and Relationship Therapy, 15(3), 247-261.	It was not a primary study
Hannah, L. A., & Stagg, S. D. (2016). Experiences of sex education and sexual awareness in young adults with autism spectrum	Participants were too old (18-25 years)
disorder. Journal of autism and developmental disorders, 46(12), 3678-3687.	
Hilton, G. L. (2001). Sex Education-the issues when working with boys. Sex Education: Sexuality, Society and Learning, 1(1), 31-41.	It was not a primary study
Hilton, G. L. (2003). Listening to the boys: English boys' views on the desirable characteristics of teachers of sex	Participants were too old (16-17 years)
education. Sex Education: Sexuality, Society and Learning, 3(1), 33-45.	

Hilton, G. L. (2007). Listening to the boys again: An exploration of what boys want to learn in sex education classes and how they want to be taught. Sex Education, 7(2), 161-174.	Participants were too old (16-17 years)
Hirst, J. (2008). Developing sexual competence? Exploring strategies for the provision of effective sexualities and relationships	The study used the same data as a more in-
education. <i>Sex education</i> , <i>8</i> (4), 399-413.	depth paper included in the review
Hirst, J. (2013). 'It's got to be about enjoying yourself': young people, sexual pleasure, and sex and relationships education. Sex	Th study used the same data as a more in-
Education, 13(4), 423-436.	depth paper included in the review
Ingham, R. (2005). 'We didn't cover that at school': Education against pleasure or education for pleasure?. Sex education, 5(4), 375-388.	It was not a primary study
Jørgensen, C. R., Weckesser, A., Turner, J., & Wade, A. (2019). Young people's views on sexting education and support needs: Findings	The study focused explicitly on sexting, and
and recommendations from a UK-based study. Sex education, 19(1), 25-40.	only one mentioned sexting education
Limmer, M. (2010). Young men, masculinities and sex education. Sex education, 10(4), 349-358.	Participants were too old (15-18 years)
Maxwell, C. (2006). Context and "contextualisation" in sex and relationships education. Health Education, 106(6), 437-449.	Participants were too old and used
	retrospective views (16-23 years)
Newby, K., Wallace, L. M., Dunn, O., & Brown, K. E. (2012). A survey of English teenagers' sexual experience and preferences for school-	Study did not generate qualitative data
based sex education. Sex Education, 12(2), 231-251.	
Sauntson, H. (2016). Authenticating sexual diversity in school: Examining sociolinguistic constructions of young people's sexual	Participants were too old and used
identities. Journal of Language, Identity & Education, 15(1), 17-31.	retrospective views (16-22 years)
Scott, R. H., Smith, C., Formby, E., Hadley, A., Hallgarten, L., Hoyle, A., & Tourountsis, D. (2020). What and how: doing good research	Study did not generate qualitative data
with young people, digital intimacies, and relationships and sex education. Sex Education, 20(6), 675-691.	
Setty, E. (2021). Sex and consent in contemporary youth sexual culture: the 'ideals' and the 'realities'. Sex Education, 21(3), 331-346	The study focused explicitly on consent
Spencer, G., Maxwell, C., & Aggleton, P. (2008). What does 'empowerment' mean in school-based sex and relationships education?. Sex	It was not a primary study
Education, 8(3), 345-356.	
Thomas, N., Murray, E., & Rogstad, K. E. (2006). Confidentiality is essential if young people are to access sexual health	The study focused explicitly on sexual health
services. International journal of STD & AIDS, 17(8), 525-529.	
Turnbull, T., Van Schaik, P., & Van Wersch, A. (2010). Adolescents' preferences regarding sex education and relationship	The study evaluated a sex education
education. Health Education Journal, 69(3), 277-286.	programme
Wallace, L. M., Evers, K. E., Wareing, H., Dunn, O. M., Newby, K., Paiva, A., & Johnson, J. L. (2007). Informing school sex education using	Study did not generate qualitative data
the stages of change construct: sexual behaviour and attitudes towards sexual activity and condom use of children aged 13–16 in	
England. Journal of health psychology, 12(1), 179-183	
Westwood, J., & Mullan, B. (2006). Knowledge of secondary school pupils regarding sexual health education. Sex Education, 6(02), 151-	Study did not generate qualitative data and the
162	study focused explicitly on sexual health
Whittington, E. (2019). Co-producing and navigating consent in participatory research with young people. Journal of Children's Services.	The study focused explicitly on consent
Whittington, E. (2021). Rethinking consent with continuums: sex, ethics and young people. Sex Education, 21(4), 480-496	The study focused explicitly on consent and
	participants were too old (13-25 years)
Wight, D., & Abraham, C. (2000). From psycho-social theory to sustainable classroom practice: developing a research-based teacher-	The study evaluated a sex education
delivered sex education programme. <i>Health education research, 15</i> (1), 25-38	programme

CASP Checklist	Strange et al (2003)	Forrest et al (2004)	Hirst (2004)	Sundaram & Sauntson (2016)
Was there a clear statement of the aims of the research?	+ yes explicit	 no clear statement of aims, instead general improving evidence base 	 no clear statement, instead enhancing understanding 	+ yes explicit
Is a qualitative methodology appropriate?	+ yes seeks participants experiences	+ yes seeks participants experiences	+ yes seeks participants experiences	+ yes seeks participants experiences
Was the research design appropriate to address the aims of the research?	? no justification of methods	+ yes needs assessment seems appropriate to explore discrepancies and gaps	+ yes needs assessment seems appropriate and justified research strategies with reference	+ yes needs assessment seems appropriate and justified
Was the recruitment strategy appropriate to the aims of the research?	 no explanation as to how the participants for the focus groups were selected, one brief sentence on wider recruitment to study 	 no detail of number of young people who gave their thoughts, facilitated by Year 12 students question suitability, one sentence on wider recruitment to study 	+ detailed description, purposive sample, range of ages, experience and genders – volunteered	+ detailed description, snowball sample based on cognition and emotional capability
Was the data collected in a way that addressed the research issue?	+ data collection justified, explicit how collected, form of the data e.g. transcripts, not said how long it would be kept for	? no justification of method, was clear how collected, not said how long it would be kept for	+ research method justified, clear explanation as to how conducted but didn't mentioned how long they would keep the data	+ research method justified, clear explanation as to how conducted
Has the relationship between researcher and participants been adequately considered?	- no discussion of own role or bias, were involved in data collection	- no discussion of own role	- no discussion of own role	- no discussion of own role, potential feminist stance
Have ethical issues been taken into consideration?	+ yes confidentiality and anonymity but no consent mentioned or ethics approval	 no mention of ethics, consent, confidentiality, approval 	- no mention of ethics, consent, confidentiality, approval	+ yes information sheet, consent and purpose explained
Was the data analysis sufficiently rigorous?	? detailed description of process but no clear analysis method, sufficient evidence in the form of quotes to support findings, did analysis separate then collated ideas	? detailed description of process but no clear analysis method, have integrated a few original quotes of questions in the results	- no description of how data was analysed	? data analysed through narrative but not explicitly explained
Is there a clear statement of findings?	+ findings very detailed, are related to original research questions but no clear single summary statement	+ findings are explicit and discussed in relation to broad research question but no clear summary statement	+ findings very detailed, are related to original research questions	+ findings very detailed, are related to original research questions with short summary paragraph
How valuable is the research?	+ links to contributions from other research, has mentioned implications of research and suggested research	+ exploratory in nature, links to other research, mentioned implications of research and future suggestions	+ exploratory in nature, explores a range of experiences and links to political contexts	+ some links to other research, very relevant to current research question

Appendix 4. Thematic Synthesis of Descriptive and Analytical Themes Generated During the Systematic Literature Review (Chapter Two – Page 28)

Stage 1 – Line by Line Coding	Stage 2 – Descriptive Themes	Stage 3 – Analytical Themes		
Sexists and defamatory names	Derogatory language	Pressures on CYP		
Judgement of clothing and appearance				
Accusations damage reputations				
Misuse of words				
Support to deal with name calling				
Interest vs. sexual status	Confidence to participate in			
Girls tailor behaviour to avoid being labelled	lessons			
Girls disinclined to engage				
Ridicule				
Maturity levels of older/ability sets				
Pressured to act on sexual advances	Sexual harassment and			
Harassment	objectification			
Girls' responsibility to protect themselves				
Greater levels of support needed				
Objectification				
Single sex classes reduce harassment				
Genders discourse around pleasure	Role of women in providing			
Pressure to engage in sexual talk	pleasure			
Pleasure – boys confident and girls' judgement				
Unconscious bias teachers				
Girls 'perform' 'doing'				
Pleasure absent from curriculum				
Favourable male focus				
Content irrelevant, repetitive	Unsatisfactory content	Teaching Pedagogies		
Support too late				
Does not teach language				
Content differs across class/school				
Disconnect between experiences and constructions				
Need for earlier SRE				
Content heteronormative				
Content gendered				
Binary perception of sex				
Missing topics				
Marginalised minority voices				
Prefer interactive - discussions				
Single sex vs. mixed sex classes				
Constructed – scary, risky and dangerous	Discourse that sex is risky			
Told not to have sex				
Negative implications of sex				
Videos unsuitable				
Boys disruptive	Classroom management and			
Time spent on discipline	favourable traits			
Boys deal with anxiety and fear				
Boys find it difficult to ask questions in front of girls				
Male teachers manage discipline				
Personal characteristics are more important than sex				
Authoritarian style – fair				
Empower CYP voices				
Respect confidentiality				
Trustworthy				
Teachers credible source of information				

Appendix 5. Example Extract from the Researcher's Reflexive Log (Chapter Three – Page 55)

03/11/22/ Intervice one I was a nece perous about me interview tonight as I fut the pous group the prevous been worked wer gives me group composition ! nowcour I remnated myoup mar Fello was given autonomy t chose mis apprough. During the interview Felis survey some quice pushal sources about his gender, which I found hipp out not over answas as I was maple I an a no, outder to him. There are anarrance me fet unsupported assess newson is was reasoned to new ne was now getting suppor is and. His expenses of rest highlighed quice a boy (give curricum, in me serve ways and gives each appent maps, which I for sa Smile to my copence of RSE at smool. Fello and shere a visit and souchy, Union some on the be indunad by the permis dess; purato fect a president for tapi offered pour everyoner Support + movicage + any word NSE. For un priveres diant seen as prosecouse one is alignent to most from fours group are are build a run asout prends as compose support

16/11/221 Fous group two The fous goup oright file succession, eyp were able to share lains one another and lead on convesations with while in pure from me. There were a pus domnant doices , maning when and sendral and I whatter ipmis was beaux very put , or I more my fut, quee frustated with one list may have recicled caparel a lace of oppuances to cuscuss see positive topics a copics importe to CUP, inclusive, topics anget and fur to late as swere pairsapano shace my we'r acally acous know content had ben truget. Girlany reprietors lift noe feerna quite duscippinted that CUP fut let abon by the unient system, and the 00100 of any suggester to the rescenter man the near to be not supporting adulto t support as acask in small.

Appendix 6. Introductory Email Sent to Potential Youth Groups (Chapter Three – page 58)

Good morning/afternoon,

I hope you are well. My name is Sophie Cave, I am a Trainee Educational Psychologist at East Riding County Council. As part of my Doctorate in Educational Psychology, I am hoping to undertake some research which explores young people's experiences of the Relationship and Sex Education curriculum.

The research would involve focus groups or interviews with young people, who volunteer to take part. The research will advocate for young people to share their experiences of how consent is taught in secondary schools across East Riding. The research is important as very little is known about how young people learn about consent.

The research has been developed in conjunction with key stakeholders from the East Riding of Yorkshire's Educational Psychology Service and with the University of Nottingham.

If you are interested in more information, please could you send me an email and I will send you some more details.

Kind regards Sophie Cave

Y2 Trainee Educational Psychologist University of Nottingham

Appendix 7. Introductory Letter Sent to Potential Youth Groups (Chapter Three – page 58)

School of Psychology - Letter to Youth Group



A qualitative exploration of young people's experiences of how consent is taught as part of the Relationship and Sex Education curriculum.

Ethics Approval Number:

Researcher: Sophie Cave - sophie.cave@nottingham.ac.uk Supervisor: Russell Hounslow - russell.hounslow@nottingham.ac.uk

Dear X,

My name is Sophie Cave. I am a doctoral student at the University of Nottingham. I am kindly requesting your support in facilitating my Doctoral Educational Psychology research study.

The study aims to explore young people's (age 11-16) experiences of the Relationship and Sex Education curriculum, specifically how consent is taught in schools. Before you decide if you wish to support this research, please take time to read the following information carefully.

The Research

As a Trainee Educational Psychologist studying at the University of Nottingham, I am hoping to undertake a piece of research which will contribute to our understanding of how young people are taught about Relationship and Sex Education and sexual consent in school.

What is involved?

If you are interested in supporting this study, we will work together to facilitate communication to potential parents/ carers and young people who attend your youth group. I also hope to volunteer at your youth group to build rapport with potential participants. During this time, I may deliver a short 5-minute presentation which explains my study in an accessible way.

As part of the project, the young people will either take part in an individual interview, or in a focus group with 4 or 5 other young people. The young people will be able to choose which they prefer. I will ask a series of questions about their experiences of Relationship and Sex Education and being taught about sexual consent at school.

Young people are not obliged to take part in the study, even if they attend your youth group. Consent will be sought from parents/carers and young people. I hope that the focus groups and interviews will take around 1 hour, in a comfortable and private space within the youth group setting.

I will audio record the focus groups and interviews, so I can type up the discussions after. The recording will be stored securely and once transcribed, will be deleted. Any information which may be identifiable will be anonymised. Data will be stored in line with the University's Privacy Agreement.

I will work with you as a youth group to identify a designated safeguarding lead. I will also follow safeguarding policies and procedures outlined by the East Riding of Yorkshire's Local Authority. This may mean sharing information with the Local Authority, if a young person is deemed at risk of harm.

To support the young people, I hope there would be the opportunity for a member of staff to provide an emotional check-in after the focus group or interview. Throughout the process I will offer my full support and be free to contact.

If you are interested in supporting this research, please get in touch, so we can discuss arrangements further.

Email: sophie.cave@nottingham.ac.uk Phone: 07790 343174

Many thanks for taking the time to read this information.

Kind Regards,

Sophie Cave Y2 Trainee Educational Psychologist University of Nottingham

Appendix 8. Introductory Letter Sent to Parents and Carers Outlining the Research Project (with attached privacy statement) (Chapter Three – page 58)

School of Psychology - Parent/Carer Information Sheet



A qualitative exploration of young people's experiences of how consent is taught as part of the Relationship and Sex Education curriculum.

Ethics Approval Number: Researcher: Sophie Cave - sophie.cave@nottingham.ac.uk Supervisor: Russell Hounslow - russell.hounslow@nottingham.ac.uk

This is an invitation for you to give consent for your child to take part in a research study. The research hopes to find out more about young people's experiences of the Relationship and Sex Education curriculum, specifically how consent is taught in schools.

Who is undertaking the research?

My name is Sophie Cave and I am a Trainee Educational Psychologist studying at the University of Nottingham for a Doctorate in Educational Psychology.

What is involved?

The research aims to find out about young people's thoughts and experiences of the Relationships and Sex Education curriculum, and specifically how they have been taught about consent (if at all).

Young people who take part will be invited to join a small discussion group with other young people or, if they prefer, an individual interview with the researcher to share their views.

Discussion groups or interviews will last no longer than an hour. Discussions will be audio-recorded but will remain entirely anonymous. After the focus group or interview, the recording will be transcribed and then destroyed. It will not be possible to identify any young person as part of this study.

Does my child have to take part?

No. Taking part in this study is entirely voluntary. Even if you agree that your child can take part, they will also be asked to give consent and can refuse. If you have any concerns about your child taking part in the study (for example the risk or emotional distress or past experiences), then you should not give consent.

What if I change my mind?

Even if you and your child agree that they can take part now, you or your child can change your mind later and can withdraw up until the data is transcribed and anonymised. If you or your child decide to take part and later wish to withdraw, please email me, on the above details. You do not need to give a reason why.

Want to find out more?

Your child will also receive an information sheet, like this one. If you are happy for them to take part, please email me and I will send you both a consent form to sign. Once the form is completed please can you return this to XXXX (tbc).

Any questions?

You can email me if you have any concerns or questions. I am also hoping to volunteer at the youth group, so questions may also be answered in person.

Many thanks for taking the time to read this information sheet.

Sophie Cave

School of Psychology - Privacy Statement



Privacy information for Research Participants

For information about the University's obligations with respect to your data, who you can get in touch with and your rights as a data subject, please visit: www.nottingham.ac.uk/utilities/privacy/privacy.aspx.

Why we collect your personal data?

We collect personal data under the terms of the University's Royal Charter in our capacity as a teaching and research body to advance education and learning. Specific purposes for data collection on this occasion is to: fulfil the research requirements of the Doctorate in Educational Psychology course; empower the voice of children and young people; and add to the research in understanding children and young people's experiences of the Relationship and Sex Education Curriculum.

Legal basis for processing your personal data under GDPR

The legal basis for processing your personal data on this occasion is to obtain consent, in line with Article 6(1e), processing is necessary for the performance of a task carried out in the public interest.

Special category personal data

In addition to the legal basis for processing your personal data, the University must meet a further basis when processing any special category data, including: personal data revealing racial or ethnic origin, political opinions, religious or philosophical beliefs, or trade union membership, and the processing of genetic data, biometric data for the purpose of uniquely identifying a natural person, data concerning health or data concerning a natural person's sex life or sexual orientation. The basis for processing your sensitive personal data on this occasion is Article 9(2a) the data subject has given explicit consent to the processing.

How long do we keep your data?

The University may store your data for up to 25 years and for a period of no less than 7 years after the research project finishes. The researchers who gathered or processed the data may also store the data indefinitely and reuse it in future research. Audio recordings of group or interview discussions will be destroyed immediately once transcribed. All transcription data will be stored on a password protected encrypted device and will be entirely anonymised and following a pseudonymisation procedure.

Who do we share your data with?

Extracts of your data may be disclosed in published works that are posted online for use by the scientific community. Your data may also be stored indefinitely on external data repositories (e.g., the UK Data Archive) and be further processed for archiving purposes in the public interest, or for historical, scientific or statistical purposes. It may also move with the researcher who collected your data to another institution in the future.

Appendix 9. Recruitment Poster Placed in the Youth Group Settings (Chapter Three – page 58)



PARTICIPANTS NEEDED!

A qualitative exploration of young people's experiences of how consent is taught as part of the Relationship and Sex Education curriculum.

Why this study?

The aim of this research is to explore young people's experiences of the Relationship and Sex Education curriculum, specifically how sexual consent is taught in schools. The research is important as very little is known about this topic.

How can I find out more?

If you would like to take part in the study, please email me and I will send you and your parent or carer an information sheet, so you can find out more about the study.

Researcher: Sophie Cave sophie.cave@nottingham.ac.uk

What will the study involve?

You will be invited to join a small discussion group with other young people or, if you prefer, an individual interview with the researcher to share your views. I will ask a series of questions about your experiences of Relationship and Sex Education and being taught about sexual consent at school.

Discussion groups or interviews will last no longer than an hour and will take place in a comfortable and private space within the youth group setting.

You must:

- Be in Key Stage 3 or 4 (Year 7-11)
- Have been taught about sexual consent in school through Relationship & Sex Education
- Attend a youth group
- Have parental/carer consent when under the age of 16

Ethics Approval Number: Supervisor: Russell Hounslow russell.hounslow@nottingham.ac.uk

Appendix 10. Information Sheet Given to Potential Participants Outlining the Research Project (Chapter Three – page 58)

School of Psychology - Young Person Information Sheet



A qualitative exploration of young people's experiences of how consent is taught as part of the Relationship and Sex Education curriculum.

Ethics Approval Number: Researcher: Sophie Cave - sophie.cave@nottingham.ac.uk Supervisor: Russell Hounslow - russell.hounslow@nottingham.ac.uk

Giving you a voice

If you have any complaints about the study, please contact: Stephen Jackson (Chair of Ethics Committee) stephen.jackson@nottingham.ac.uk



research study. The research hopes to find out about your experience of the Relationship and Sex Education curriculum, specifically how consent is taught in schools.

This is an invitation to take part in a

Who is undertaking the research?

My name is Sophie Cave and I am a Trainee Educational Psychologist studying at the University of Nottingham.





What is involved?

The research aims to find out about your experience of the Relationships and Sex Education curriculum, and specifically how you experience of how consent it taught.

You will be invited to join a small discussion group with other young people or, if you prefer, an individual interview with the researcher to share your views.

Discussion groups or interviews will last no longer than an hour. Discussions will be audio-recorded but will remain entirely anonymous. After the focus group or interview, the recording will be transcribed and then destroyed. It will not be possible to identify any young person as part of this study.



Is this study for me?

Before deciding whether to take part, it is important to think your own experiences. We will be talking about consent, in the context of what you have learnt in school. It is important you only share information, personal experiences and memories you are comfortable sharing. At the start of the focus group we will co-construct some ground rules to keep everyone safe.

Do I have to take part?

No. Taking part in this study is entirely voluntary. To take part you will also need your parent or carers consent.

What if I change my mind?

Even if you decide to take part now, you can change your mind later and can withdraw up until the data is transcribed and anonymised. If you decide to take part and later wish to withdraw, please email me, on the above details. You do not need to give a reason why.



Want to find out more?

Your parent or carer will also receive an information sheet, just like this one. If they are happy for you to take part in the study, they can contact me, and I will send you a form to sign.

Any questions?

You can email me if you have any concerns or questions. I am also hoping to volunteer at the youth group, so questions may also be answered in person.

Many thanks for taking the time to read this information sheet. Sophie Cave

Appendix 11. Demographic Information Gathered from Participants (the template was constructed using categories from the Office for National Statistics) (Chapter Three – page 59)

School of Psychology - Young People Demographics



A qualitative exploration of young people's experiences of how consent is taught as part of the Relationship and Sex Education curriculum.

Ethics Approval Number:

Researcher: Sophie Cave - sophie.cave@nottingham.ac.uk Supervisor: Russell Hounslow - russell.hounslow@nottingham.ac.uk

First Name Last Name	Pseudonym		
Date of Birth dd/mm/yy			
Preferred Pronoun (please describe the pronouns you use)	Prefer Not to Say (tick here)		
Gender Identity (please describe your gender identity)	Prefer Not to Say (tlok here)		
Sexual Orientation (please describe your sexual orientation)	Prefer Not to Say (tick here)		
Ethnicity (please lick one)			
White	Prefer Not to Say		
Black/African/Caribbean/Black British	Other (Please Specify Below)		
Mixed/Multiple Ethnic Group			
Asian/Asian British			
School Setting (please tick one)	School Composition (please tick one)		
Mainstream	Mixed Sex		
Private	Single Sex		
Specialist			
Alternative			
Other (Please Specify Below)			
Would you identify yourself as having a Special Educational Need or Disability? (please tick one)			

Yes	If (Yes) and you feel comfortable to, please provide details below
No	
Prefer Not to Say	

Appendix 12. Semi-Structured Interview Schedule Used to Guide Discussions During the Focus Groups and Interviews (Chapter Three – page 62)

Rapport building:

• Can you tell me one thing you enjoy doing when you come to the youth group? *Main questions:*

1. Can you tell me about your experiences of the relationship and sex education curriculum in school to date?

Topics:

- What topics have you covered?
- How would you describe the quality of the lessons?
- Are there any topics you feel have been missed or you would like to have known more about?
- \circ $\;$ Are there any topics that you wish you had been taught about sooner?
- How relevant do the topics feel to real life?
- How sensitive are the topics to different cultures, sexualities and genders?

• Do you feel you have received enough support and signposting to services?

Teaching styles/approaches:

- How have you been taught? Videos, resources?
- Who has taught you? Have there been any guest speakers?
- How often are the lessons? Do you feel this is enough or would you like more? Teacher characteristics:
 - Can you tell me what makes a good teacher for these lessons?
 - Are there any characteristics which you think makes a less favourable teacher?
 - How would you describe the teachers skills to teach the lessons?

Classroom expectations:

- Were there any expectations or boundaries set before the lessons, similar to those we discussed today?
- How confident do you feel to participate in the lessons?
- Do you feel able to share your thoughts and feeling in the lessons?

Class dynamics:

- Are you taught in single or mixed sex classes? Which would you prefer if you had the choice?
- \circ Can you tell me a little about what students' behaviours are like in the classroom?
- \circ How would you describe the classroom environment?
- \circ $\;$ How able are the teachers in managing classroom behaviours?
- How would you describe the language used by others in class when discussing topics around sex and relationships?
- 2. What do you think I mean by the term, "sexual consent"?
 - \circ Do you think you could define the term consent for me?
 - Have your teachers taught you what sexual consent means? What kind of language have they used in school?
 - How would you describe consent to me, do you think it has been discussed in a positive or negative way in school?

- From the skills you have been taught in school, do you feel in being able to discuss consent with others, such as a partner or with your peers?
- 3. In school, can you recall any lessons or activities which have focused on sexual consent or healthy relationships?
 - What were they like?
 - How were you taught? see above themes (teaching style, teacher characteristics, classroom expectations and class dynamics)
 - Were you encouraged to share your voice and thoughts in these lessons?
- 4. What was the best way you feel that you have learnt about sexual consent?
 - Can you tell me a little about what made this a helpful learning process?
 - Is there anything you wish teachers knew when you were learning about this subject, which would have made the learning experience better?
- 5. How do you feel about the quantity and quality of the sex education you have received?
 - When were you first taught about sexual consent?
 - Do you feel like you were taught about this subject early enough? If not, what age do you think people should start learning about consent?
 - Can you remember if you have been taught anything about the law? For example, what the legal age of consent is or what the equality act does?
 - Do you feel like the lessons have been inclusive?
- 6. Is there anything else you would like to learn about in relation to sexual consent?
 - Do you feel you have received enough support and guidance?
 - Would you know who to go to if you wanted support in school?
 - How confident would you feel accessing this support?

Appendix 13. Written Debrief Given to All Participants After Data Collection (Chapter Three – page 64)

School of Psychology - Young Person Debrief Sheet



A qualitative exploration of young people's experiences of how consent is taught as part of the Relationship and Sex Education curriculum.

Ethics Approval Number: Researcher: Sophie Cave - sophie.cave@nottingham.ac.uk Supervisor: Russell Hounslow - russell.hounslow@nottingham.ac.uk

The aim of this research was to explore young people's experiences of the Relationship and Sex Education curriculum, specifically how consent is taught in schools. The research is invaluable as there is not a lot known about this topic.

Your rights

It is important to remind you that you can withdraw your data if you no longer wish to be part of the study. To do this please use the email the researcher.

Support and advice

It is hoped that the study has not caused any distress, however if you have any worries about what we discussed, you should seek advice and support from a charity or organisation. The following information might be useful:

Childline

Website: https://www.childline.org.uk/info-advice/friends-relationships-sex/sex-relationships/ Contact: https://www.childline.org.uk/get-support/

Brook

Website: https://www.brook.org.uk/topics/sex/ Contact: https://www.brook.org.uk/find-a-service/

Disrespect NoBody

Website: https://www.disrespectnobody.co.uk/ Contact: https://www.disrespectnobody.co.uk/need-help/

Rape Crisis

Website: https://rapecrisis.org.uk/get-informed/about-sexual-violence/sexual-consent/ Contact: https://rapecrisis.org.uk/get-help/want-to-talk/

You will also be able to seek support and guidance from youth group staff (contact details to be added once a youth group has been identified). If you have any remaining questions, please contact me via email. If you have any concerns about the study which you would rather not discuss with me, please contact my supervisor, Russell Hounslow.

I would just like to say a big thank you for taking part in the project!

Sophie Cave

Appendix 14. Written Consent Form Completed by All Parents and Carers of Participant Under the Age of 16, Prior to Data Collection (Chapter Three – page 64)

School of Psychology - Parent/Care	r Consent Form	Ľ	University of Nottingham UK CHINA MALAYSIA		
A qualitative exploration of young people's experiences of how consent is taught as part of the Relationship and Sex Education curriculum.					
Ethics Approval Number: Researcher: Sophie Cave - sophie.cave@nottingham.a Supervisor: Russell Hounslow - russell.hounslow@nott					
The parent/carer should answer these questions independently:					
Have you read and understood the Information Sheet? Yes No					
Have you had the opportunity to ask questions about the study? Yes No					
Have all your questions been answered satisfactorily (if applicable)? Yes No					
Do you understand that you can withdraw your chil the study at any time and without giving a reason?	d from Yes No				
I give permission for my child's data (from this study) to be shared with Yes No No other researchers provided that my anonymity is completely protected.					
Do you agree to your child taking part in the study?	Yes No				
"This study has been explained to me to my satisfa that I am free to withdraw my child at any time."	ction, and I agree for my child to	take part.	I understand		
Name (in block capitals):					
Signature of the parent/carer:	Date:				
I have explained the study to the above parent/care	r, and he/she has agreed to take	part.			
Name (in block capitals):					
Signature of researcher:	Date:				
Appendix 15. Written Consent Form Completed by All Participants Prior to Data Collection (Chapter Three – page 64)

School of Psychology - Young Perso	on Consent Form		University of Nottingham UK CHINA MALAYSIA
A qualitative exploration of young people's the Relationship and Sex Education curric		nt is tauç	ght as part of
Ethics Approval Number: Researcher: Sophie Cave - sophie.cave@nottingham.a Supervisor: Russell Hounslow - russell.hounslow@not			
The young person should answer these questions	ndependently:		
Have you read and understood the Information She	eet? Yes No		
Have you had the opportunity to ask questions abo	out the study? Yes No		
Have all your questions been answered satisfactor	ily (if applicable)? Yes No		
Do you understand that you can withdraw from the at any time and without giving a reason?	study Yes No		
I give permission for my data (from this study) to be researchers provided that my anonymity is comple		o 🗌	
Do you agree to taking part in the study? Yes	Νο		
"This study has been explained to me to my satisfa to withdraw at any time."	ction, and I agree to take part. I	understand	l that I am free
Name (in block capitals):			
Signature of the young person:	Date:		
I have explained the study to the above young pers	on, and he/she has agreed to tak	ke part.	
Name (in block capitals):			
Signature of researcher:	Date:		

If you have any complaints about the study, please contact: Stephen Jackson (Chair of Ethics Committee) stephen.jackson@nottingham.ac.uk

Appendix 16. Approval of Ethics Dated 5th May 2022 (comments were addressed) (Chapter Three – page 64)



UNITED KINGDOM · CHINA · MALAYSIA

School of Psychology

The University of Nottingham University Park Nottingham NG7 2RD

tel: +44 (0)115 846 7403 or (0)115 951 4344

SJ/tp

Ref: S1425

Thursday 5th May 2022

Dear Sophie Cave and Russell Hounslow,

Ethics Committee Review

Thank you for submitting an account of your proposed research 'A qualitative exploration of

young people's experiences of how consent is taught as part of the Relationship and Sex

Education Curriculum

That proposal has now been reviewed and we are pleased to tell you it has met with the Committee's approval.

However:

Please note the following comments from our reviewers;

Reviewer One:

I'm happy to approve this with minor revisions without further submission. My comments are: Information sheet

Participants can withdraw from the study anytime.

Reviewer Two:

In the recruitment poster, participants' age is 7-11, but elsewhere it is 11-16. Please rectify

Final responsibility for ethical conduct of your research rests with you or your supervisor. The Codes of Practice setting out these responsibilities have been published by the British Psychological Society and the University Research Ethics Committee. If you have any concerns whatever during the conduct of your research then you should consult those Codes of Practice. The Committee should be informed immediately should any participant complaints or adverse events arise during the study.

Independently of the Ethics Committee procedures, supervisors also have responsibilities for the risk assessment of projects as detailed in the safety pages of the University web site. Ethics Committee approval does not alter, replace, or remove those responsibilities, nor does it certify that they have been met. Appendix 17. An Example of a Group Confidentiality Agreement Produced by Participants of Focus Group One (Chapter Three – page 65)



Appendix 18. An example extract of unannotated transcript (Chapter Three – page 70)

To begin all datasets were transcribed; pseudonyms were assignment and line numbers were added.

An example extract from focus group two's transcript

- 59 Researcher: So confidentiality seems important, how else would you describe these lessons?
- 60 Saul: In the polite way possible a waste of time
- 61 Wendy: They don't teach us actual valid things, they're just like, they're just like, don't force people to have sex, either go on the pill or use a condom and that's about it. 62
- 63 Saul: They kind of just in, in the meantime in Apex we just got taught RE instead
- 64 Sandra: Or they just tell us not to have sex.
- Saul: Yeah like they were teaching it to us as if we, like when they were, they were teaching it to us 65
- 66 as if we were people who they deemed weren't old enough and mature enough to have sex but this 67
- was four years ago now.
- 68 Trevor: A lot of the things my teachers talked about in the school I went to was, don't watch porn
- 69 because it ruins sex and all that I saying that it teaches you wrong how to do it and it like fucks up
- 70 your head basically.

- 71 Wendy: yeah that's what we've, that's we, they did that one form program. They're like, they did
- 72 one on contraception, one on consent, but there weren't really that much on it to be honest, this
- 73 was like, this was like the past few weeks and then one on pornography. Like I get that we need to
- know like what it is and why it's bad for young people to view it but I don't get why it's more 74
- 75 important than teaching us like more about consent and stuff that actually applies to us in real life.
- 76 Sandra: Especially in this generation of consent
- 77 Saul: (inaudible)
- 78 Wendy: But it's cos no one gets taught, but obviously you can't, you can't be apologetic for people
- 79 who don't respect the idea of, of consent but to a certain extent if people aren't taught about it, 80 they're not gonna know, so they're not gonna know it's wrong necessarily.

Researcher: Sorry did you say it's pressured? 81

- Saul: Like if, yeah, like to an extent if, if a girl didn't want to have sex proceeded to have sex with, 82
- 83 and then like she might feel pressured into talking about it because of what or how the boyfriend might react. 84
- 85 Wendy: There is a lot of stuff nowadays to do with, um, not, it's not necessarily like we get taught if
- the don't say yes, don't do it, but we don't really get taught about situations like for example, if 86
- someone was really drunk, like say a girl was really drunk, we don't get taught like how, like it's not 87 88 okay to accept consent from someone if they're that drunk.
- 89 Saul: If you are at a level where you are also that drunk, then it's not really, yeah, there's nothing
- 90 you can do but if, if you are relatively sober and you take that as consent, you're basically taking 91 advantage of them.
- 92 Wendy: But we don't, we don't, they don't tell us, there's nothing, don't get told about, like why 93 that's not okay
- 0.4 Researcher: Is there anywhere that you could go to for support? So I know you mentioned before
- 95 about the school nurse?

Appendix 19. Stage one: '*Familiarising yourself with the data* - examples of transcribed interviews and focus groups with initial comments (Chapter Three – page 70)

Initial comments were made for all datasets down the left-hand side of the transcripts. Quotes which would later be assigned an initial code were highlighted yellow for the main research question and green for responses regarding sexual consent.

Focus Group 1

	Sid – her/she Keying – her/she Jeffery – him/he Lewis – him/he Jack – him/he Group agreement, consent and rapport all completed off the <u>recording</u>			
	Researcher - can you tell me about your experiences of the relationship and sex education curriculum in school to date?			
-lack of teaching -disparity in primary vs secondary education	Sid – I've been <mark>taught very little</mark> but that was in <mark>junior school I haven't been taught about</mark> anything yet in <u>seniors</u>			
-topics: consent, respectful relationships, friendship vs	Keyina – erm we've learned consent, we've learnt how to show respect to other people, so other people so you know the difference between different relationships like friendships			
romantic - use of technology/videos - teaching unsatisfactory	between people and like actual relationships between two people and a relationship or link bond with the teachers or a pet or sommet like that			
× ,	Sid - I got a video and that was it Researcher – could you tell me more about the video please?			
-biology/biological	Sid - it was just about sex and babies that was it, like just biology and stuff like that (giggling)			
	Researcher - thank you for sharing that, I know this a different topic to what we would usually discuss at the youth group. Remember if we need to take a break at any point we can do. Can			
-disparity across quality of	you tell me how would you describe the quality of your sex education lessons?			
lessons / not equal - reliance on videos not fit for	Keying - some of them are in like too much detail and then some of them aren't in a lot of detail			
purpose -copying information/passive	so in like some lessons you'll be like putting on one or two videos and it will be like that's the			
teaching styles	information you have to write about and that was it, so it can be quite mixed			
-video/cartoon	Lewis - in one of my lessons they put on like a <u>cartoon</u>			
-reliance on videos	Sid - that's all they do put on videos, they put on a video about girls, a video about boys and			
 -societal segregation based on gender 	then they put a sex video on			
- binary view of sex?	Lewis - and when your in like any of the lessons, sometimes it can be like, it's really boring cos			
- reliance on videos not fit for	they just do put the video and it is really boring, and I'd rather it be more like interactive so, if			
purpose/boring - passive teaching styles /not interactive	you had any questions instead of just one person putting their hand up, like a bunch of people would put their hands up because people actually do have questions they just don't want to			
-one dominant person asks question barriers to asking questions	share them and I want to feel like you would be able to share it with a teacher you would feel comfortable sharing with			
(discomfort?) -importance of teaching/pupil relationships	Keying – you learn about in like primary school they put on like a video and the boys go outside and do PE and we will, we'll learn all about periods and all the mood swings and they'll pass			
-primary: girls taught more than boys (periods/mood swings) -hand on learning in primary	and do PE and we will, we il learn all about periods and all the mood swings and they'll pass around like a product like a pad or a tampon, and then when it's the boys turn the girls have to stay in but they'll like split the room up so like half the girls, so like you'll stay in the same room			

Focus Group 2

-some more open with parents	Trover: So impring that's company that really didn't want their parents to know that they were
than others	Trevor: So imagine that's someone that really didn't want their parents to know that they were
-annoyed it wasn't kept	doing that.
confidential	Wendy: Yeah cos there'll be a lot of parents out there who will get vexed.
-some more open with parents than others	Researcher: <u>So</u> confidentiality seems important, how else would you describe these lessons?
	Saul: In the polite way possible a waste of time
-parents frustrated/annoyed	Wendy: They don't teach us actual valid things, they're just like, they're just like, don't force
	people to have sex, either go on the pill or use a condom and that's about it.
-quality of lessons poor	Saul: They kind of just in, in the meantime in Apex we just got taught RE instead
-content is not relevant	Sandra: Or they just tell us not to have sex.
Content around 'force' and 'contraception'	Saul: Yeah like they were teaching it to us as if we, like when they were, they were teaching it to
-taught content in different	us as if we were people who they deemed weren't old enough and mature enough to have sex
lessons	but this was four years ago now.
-content: teaching abstinence	Trevor: A lot of the things my teachers talked about in the school I went to was, don't watch
-teacher attributions	porn because it ruins sex and all that I saving that it teaches you wrong how to do it and it like
-age and maturity factors	fucks up your head basically.
	Wendy: <u>yeah</u> that's what we've, that's we, they did that one form program. They're like, they
-negative narrative around porn	did one on contraception, one on consent, but there weren't really that much on it to be honest,
-teacher perceptions seen as a source of knowledge	
- taught content in different	this was like, this was like the past few weeks and then one on pornography. Like I get that we
lessons/contents	need to know like what it is and why it's bad for young people to view it but I don't get why it's
-lack of information	more important than teaching us like more about consent and stuff that actually applies to us in
	real life.
-some topics seem more taught about than others	Sandra: Especially in this generation of consent
-topics not applicable to real life	Saul: (inaudible)
	Wendy: But it's cos no one gets taught, but obviously you can't, you can't be apologetic for
-generation of consent/societal shift	people who don't respect the idea of, of consent but to a certain extent <mark>if people aren't taught</mark>
	about it, they're not gonna know, so they're not gonna know it's wrong necessarily.
-lack of teaching may explain	Researcher: Sorry did you say it's pressured?
why we experience more non-	Saul: Like if, yeah, like to an extent if, <mark>if a girl didn't want to have sex proceeded to have sex</mark>
consensual	with, and then like she might feel pressured into talking about it because of what or how the
	boyfriend might react.
-pressure to have sex -pressure to talk about sex	Wendy: There is a lot of stuff nowadays to do with, um, not, it's not necessarily like we get
-reaction of partners	taught if the don't say yes, don't do it, but we don't really get taught about situations like for
	<mark>example, if someone was really drun</mark> k, like say a girl was really drunk, <mark>we don't get taught like</mark>
-consent taught binary 'yes/no'	how, like it's not okay to accept consent from someone if they're that drunk.
-effects of alcohol -not relevant to real life	Saul: If you are at a level where you are also that drunk, then it's not really, yeah, there's
situations	nothing you can do but if, if <mark>you are relatively sober and you take that as consent, you're</mark>
	basically taking advantage of them.
	Wendy: But we don't, we don't, they don't tell us, there's nothing, don't get told about, like why
-possible experienced non-	that's not okay.
consensual sex	Researcher: Is there anywhere that you could go to for support? So I know you mentioned
-effects of alcohol, loss of sense -effects of alcohol, taking	before about the school nurse?
advantage	We add The address is a sticle sticle with a second back to the unser's the second surger

Wendy: The school nurse is confidential but the person I spoke to who wasn't the school nurse,

Focus Group 3

	Researcher: That makes sense thank you. Thinking specifically about consent, can you
	remember when you first taught about it?
	Lila: <u>Definitely high</u> school. Yeah, <mark>in high school, yeah I didn't reall</mark> y like properly know what
	consent was until I was like, I don't know, maybe a few years ago. I wish it was more talked
	about maybe in primary or something, even if it was just simple just get it out there.
	Julie: Primary was mostly just talking about how it was reproduction, like I mean I know we're all
	like ten, eleven at that age but still like I feel like it needs to be mentioned.
	Lila: Yeah and as well like <mark>when they did that lesson, they separated the boys and the girls, and</mark>
-feel know enough about consent	the girls and learn about their bodies. I know it sounds weird but I like to learn about the other
consent	sex as well.
	Julie: It is important cause like not many boys, <mark>I feel like not a lot of boys actually know about</mark>
	female reproductive systems and stuff.
 first taught about consent in secondary school 	Lila: Definitely.
-would like to be taught about consent earlier	Julie: Like at the grammar school, I'd imagine they probably learn about like female reproductive
-talking helps with levels of	systems and like biology and stuff.
camfort	Lila: Yeah, definitely biology cos you have too
-primary heavily focused on reproduction	Julie: Going back to like sex education, I know we talking about consent but I feel like um, it's
-lessons on reproduction	important that you know saying about, talk about pleasure and stuff, it's important that you
separated by gender -boys and girls not taught	learn about both sides, like if you're a girl you should learn about both yours and male and then
together in primary school	like vice versa, and then like learning about it too late too.
-boys not knowledgeable about	Lila: Just adding to that learning from a younger age I think as well with learning later on, that's
female anatomy want for mixed sex lessons	what makes people like zone out and makes it uncomfortable is because you not, if you talk
-want for mixed sex lessons	about it from earlier age on, you're more comfortable with the topic.
-different content taught in	Researcher: Can you remember if you have been taught anything about the law? For example,
different schools -notion biology is most	what the legal age of consent is?
important	Lila: They haven't taught you, you just kinda.
	Julia: <u>Sixteen</u> isn't it?
-pleasure should learn about	Lila: They don't teach you, you kind of just know yourself, do you know what I mean?
both genders	Researcher: Could you tell me a little more about that?
-taught RSE too late Julie: <u>Well my mum</u> .	
 -if taught earlier may be more engaged 	Lila: I feel like I just picked from it like books and TV shows over the years that
-if taught earlier may be more comfortable	Julie: I <mark>feel like X (young person) probably tell us a <u>lot</u></mark>
(peed to shift attitudes)	

Interview 1

-reliance on videos -teachers awkward/ uncomfortable when having to

-CYP don't ask questions feel awkward (reflection: construct oj awkward?)

-reliance on videos -complicated explanation, word

-facus on scientific terminology -delivery in science not Apex

-not taught about how sex actually works/nbysical process

-tokenistic <u>base_to</u> do it -confusing delivery -not learnt anything

-would like to have guest speakers

-less reliance on videos when younger -spoken more about topics when younger

very scientific terminology content not accessible to CYP

-boring -want to get lessons over

primary school boys taught less -confusion as to why boys/girls taught different things -frustration girls have to go through and learn but boys don't -girls get twice content -narrative that it is 'staggid' -content should be taught '<u>fairly'</u>

-different teaching approach in secondary school _thankful' mixed sex

-societal view that <u>boy's</u> don't need to learn about periods -fostering narrative periods are 'gross' LICIALICON, CIONA

Researcher: Thinking back in terms of teaching styles, how have you been taught about relationship and sex education? What are the lessons like?

Felix: Uh, mostly we just watch videos, uh, mostly cause the teachers would've been like awkward if we like actually talked about it, uh, none the kids really wanted to ask questions because they were all awkward about it (laughed) um, and yeah, mostly it was just videos and then complicated explanations about like how it worked, like scientifically, it was all in science class, it wasn't in like Apex. Yeah, it was all in science. We all talking about like the scientific way, I also thought we would've done it in Apex, yeah, it's like that type of thing, but it was all like scientific, just, uh, just talking about the scientific way not like how it actually like happens, in just like really complicated words, it kind of felt like, uh, they had to do it so they just did it in the most confusing way possible so we didn't actually learn anything from it

Researcher: So, just to check your science teachers taught you. Has anyone else taught you? Felix: Uh, I don't think I can remember anyone coming in, not that I can remember anyone like coming in and speaking but it would have been good, like when we were younger, uh, like in year six, year five, um, yeah, they didn't play videos because we were younger and we got bored a lot easier uh, so they did talk to us about it but like yeah, it was just all of the top scientific words that no one knew what they meant, so it didn't really mean anything to us, it was just, oh, just a boring in science lesson and you just wanna get it over with it really if you think about it

Researcher: thank you for sharing that, in terms of thinking about like classes, were your classes single or mixed sex? I think you briefly mentioned this before. Felix: Well, when I was uh, in four and five it was uh, just the girls were pulled aside, none of the boys learnt about it in year four and five, uh, like they didn't teach the boys about it (periods) [

don't understand why, it's because like, like this is about the period thing by the way, I would've thought like it's weird that they don't want boys to learn about it, but the girls have to learn about it and go through it yeh so the girls literally get twice the amount of it and then the boys get nothing, it's just a bit stupid like I think it would be fair if the girls have to go through it and learn about it, then the boys would have to learn about it too thankfully in like secondary, senior school, secondary school, yeah, uh, it is mixed sex uh but I don't understand why a lot of people are like, don't want boys to know about periods, I just think it's really strange because like they are going to think it's like gross or something, but like if they do then you gotta like teach them that it's not okay to be grossed out by that because it's nature, It just happens, like, and if you think it's weird it is like well, a lot of like, uh, misogynist men uh, go on about like saying women owe everything to them because without them they couldn't be able to make children without

Interview 2

seek support from someone of the same gender

 -therapy dogs in school
 -therapy dog helps with feelings of comfort

-teachers skills support CYP confidence -teacher personality -balance between discipline/ seriousness and being fun -importance of CYP having opportunities to share stories -confidence to continue to lessons (disparities)

-teacher sharing personal stories and reflection -teachers feeling safe to share / nothing too personal

-creating classroom where CYP can share reflections if they want

-teachers promoting confidentiality -behaviourist approach if found disclosing information

---EYP encouraged to coconstruct their own classroom rules -space for rules to be discussed -rules: confidentiality and respect -respect one another and the teacher -rules are well followed -consequences/ authoritarian approach if rules broken Researcher: can you give me any examples of who you would be able to speak too? Mia: Um well in school you'd normally talk to your head of year, which for me is um luckily a female, and she's also got like a, we've also got like a support dog who like, is like little dog called Marlo who goes around he's like this little like, I think he's like a golden labrador or something like that and he's quite young, he only looks like two years old and um, our head of year, normally got him on a lead and because our tutor um, has got three labradors and he's always got dog treats so um, every morning, Marlo just runs in to our classroom and um, and goes up to the teacher and she'll open the door and give him a dog treat so like you would go up to the head of year and Marlo would be with, Marlo would be with you and you'd like stroke him and he'd like comfort you and he is a trained therapy dog so it's quite useful

Researcher: that is so lovely to hear. Just going back to what you mentioned before about joining in in lessons, can you tell me a little more about that?

Mia: Uh <mark>I feel pretty confident because our teachers like a really good teacher</mark> cos she's like, she's like one of those teachers where like she's serious if you do something wrong but she's also really fun at the same time, so, and um, like <mark>I'm usually contributing <u>in</u> lessons</mark> and <mark>we</mark> usually share little stories about this kind of stuff

Researcher: can you tell me a little bit more about the stories if you feel comfortable to share? Mia: The teacher, well when we're doing that kind of lessons, like the teacher shared stories about like, like nothing like super suggr, personal, but once we were talking about, um cause our teachers got some kids, we were talking about um, giving birth and and one of the people in the class put gut her hand, she put her hand up and said my mom was in labour with me for, for four days and we were just discussion stuff like that those blue babies who had like umbilical <u>core</u> wrapped around the neck and there's another girl in my class who um, turns out she, they thought that she was blind when she was born cos one of her eyes was closed and it didn't open until she was two years old and it's always a bit blurry in that eye and um, on our first PSHE lesson, the teacher was talking about um, like how classified this is and she said if anyone's seen sharing these stories outside of the classroom, then you'll get detention

Researcher: can you tell me any more about that?

Mia: Yeah we have to write like a thing on the front of book saying you put, you put I then your name and then you then it's like, then you have to tick, then you have to like write your own rules that you'd, that you follow but we all discuss them as a class so they're rules like I will not share this information outside of the classroom, I will not like mock anyone else when they're sharing the stories, I'll be respectful of um, the teacher and the students and all that and it's like helpful, because yes, because everyone follows them because they know the punishments that um. like are available if you if you don't follow them and it's like really like, well kept the rules

Interview 3

-use of videos as teaching tool	Researcher: Can you tell me a little more about that?
-how to sport signs of a abuse/controlling relationship	Sage: Um, we watched a video which was like, um, this girl and like her boyfriend was like toxic
-signposting to services	and was like hitting her and stuff, but she felt like she couldn't speak how she felt, like she
	thought it was like a good relationship and he wasn't letting her go on her phone, and like really
	like cramping her, but she felt it was a good relationship and at the end she like disappeared cos
	she felt like she would disappear, if she wasn't there, he <mark>wasn't letting her talk to her friends</mark>
	and stuff like that so it was like how to be like aware of that and at the end of the video it was
	like all, like all the slides and stuff of like the numbers to call
	Researcher: Okay thank you for sharing that. I am just wondering how helpful did you find
	these lessons?
 -videos are relatable / relevant -videos informative and 	Sage: like I feel like if I was in a toxic relationship and I was watching that, I definitely feel like I'll
important -CYP want to be taught about	be able to say like, oh well that's, that's like, that's what my boyfriend's doing or stuff like that.
these topics	Like it felt life, I guess relevant, like <mark>relevant to real life</mark> even though I haven't been in a
	relationship, like I can <mark>see how important, like um, like how important it is to tell us these things</mark>
	Researcher: That's helpful to know. Can you tell me a little about how you were taught? I
	know you mentioned the cup of tea video, can you remember anything else?
-interactive teaching styles	Sage: In the LGBTQ thing we did like quizzes of like they'd showed, they showed us all the flags
	or like some of the flags and they asked us to draw them and then like label them underneath
 use of worksheet and visuals appropriateness of role play 	which was good what we thought they were like so we did quizzes in some of them um, in, in
-heavy emphasis on note taking	the, <mark>in like the peer and peer I think we did a lot of worksheets which was good,</mark> I don't think, I
the any empirical solution easing	don't think <mark>we did any like actual like hands on stuff because you can't really with that subject</mark>
	and we had like a, a lot of boring note taking as well on like what to yeah, stuff like that

Appendix 20. Stage two: '*Coding'* – extract of codes from focus group two (Chapter Three – page 70)

At stage two the entire datasets were coded in response to the two research questions. Initial codes in response to the main research question are shown in yellow and initial codes in response to consent are shown in green.

153	FOCUS GROUP 2	FOCUS GROUP 2	FOCUS GROUP 2	FOCUS GROUP 2
	Code Sweep 1 -	Code Sweep 2 -	Quotes	Initial Subtheme
154	Familiarisation	Research Question 1		
155	taught content in different lessons	Learning about RSE in other lessons	in the meantime in Apex we just got taught RE instead	Disparity education setting
156	-content: teaching abstinence	Discourage sexual activities	they just tell us not to have sex	Discouraging sexual activities
157	-age and maturity factors	Hindering teacher skills	they were teaching it to us as if we were people who they deemed weren't old enough and mature enough to have sex	Teacher perceptions
158	-negative narrative around porn	Negative narratives around porn	don't watch porn because it ruins sex and all that I saying that it teaches you wrong how to do it and it like fucks up your head basically	Negative narratives
159	 taught content in different lessons/contents 	Learning about RSE in other lessons	they did that one form program	Disparity education setting
160	 taught content in different lessons/contents 	Learning about RSE in other lessons	they did it more in biology than in Apex	
161	-lack of information	Lack of teaching	there weren't really that much on it to be honest	Teaching quality
162	-topics not applicable to real life	Topic not relevant to experience	stuff that actually applies to us in real life.	Topic relevance
163	-school nurse as a trusted adult	Nurse as preferred educator	school nurse is confidential	Teaching delivery
164	-role of friends as support	Friends as support networks	ever really talk about stuff like that is just friends to other friends	Role of friends
165	-lack of adults in school can speak too	Opening up to teachers	there's a few teachers who like I know in the school I could go and talk to	Support in school

153	FOCUS GROUP 2	FOCUS GROUP 2	FOCUS GROUP 2	FOCUS GROUP 2
	Code Sweep 1 -	Code Sweep 2 -	Quotes	Initial Subtheme
154	Familiarisation	Research Question 1		
155	taught content in different lessons	Learning about RSE in other lessons	in the meantime in Apex we just got taught RE instead	Disparity education setting
156	-content: teaching abstinence	Discourage sexual activities	they just tell us not to have sex	Discouraging sexual activities
157	-age and maturity factors	Hindering teacher skills	they were teaching it to us as if we were people who they deemed weren't old enough and mature enough to have sex	Teacher perceptions
158	-negative narrative around porn	Negative narratives around porn	don't watch porn because it ruins sex and all that I saying that it teaches you wrong how to do it and it like fucks up your head basically	Negative narratives
159	 taught content in different lessons/contents 	Learning about RSE in other lessons	they did that one form program	Disparity education setting
160	 taught content in different lessons/contents 	Learning about RSE in other lessons	they did it more in biology than in Apex	
161	-lack of information	Lack of teaching	there weren't really that much on it to be honest	Teaching quality
162	-topics not applicable to real life	Topic not relevant to experience	stuff that actually applies to us in real life.	Topic relevance
163	-school nurse as a trusted adult	Nurse as preferred educator	school nurse is confidential	Teaching delivery
164	-role of friends as support	Friends as support networks	ever really talk about stuff like that is just friends to other friends	Role of friends
165	-lack of adults in school can speak too	Opening up to teachers	there's a few teachers who like I know in the school I could go and talk to	Support in school

Example initial codes for sub research question

94	FOCUS GROUP 2	FOCUS GROUP 2	FOCUS GROUP 2	FOCUS GROUP 2
95	Code Sweep 1 - Familiarisation	Code Sweep 2 - Research Question 2	Quotes	Initial Subtheme
96	-some topics seem more taught about than others	Consent is not prioritised as a topic	I don't get why it's more important than teaching us like more about consent	missing information
97	-consent is about asking / have to check with the person	Asking/seeking permission	You ask it to the person you intend on having sexual intercourse with, just check if it's, if they're okay	seeking permission
98	-permission (-without don't do anything)	Asking/seeking permission	Making sure you've got permission and that you don't do anything without it	seeking permission
99	-consent should be verbal	Consent should be verbal	making sure it's verbal like	definition
00	-consent should be verbal	Consent should be verbal	someone might seem like they want to, but if they haven't specifically said don't do anything	definition
01	-consent can be redacted during activities, pay attention, non verbal cues	Being able to redact consent	pay attention because midway through they might not say anything but if someone don't wanna do it anymore, the chance are you'll be able to tell	redacting consent
02	-video (cup of tea)	Cup of tea video - tea analogy for consent	We got shown the cuppa tea video	teaching method - video

103	-tea as an analogy for sex	Cup of tea video - tea analogy for consent	If they don't want teaDon't give them tea	teaching method - video
104	-protection priority over consent	Consent is not prioritised as a topic	they prioritise really is making sure that you use protection, they talk about that a lot more than consent	protection
105	-consent key word 'yes' (binary)	Binary definition	we've learned if someone doesn't say yes, don't do anything	binary definition
106	content lacking	Lack of content	but nothing else like other than that really	topic relevance
107	-content is not useful/relatable	Content not meaningful or relevant	not a lot of useful stuff	topic relevance
108	-video (cup of tea)	Cup of tea video - tea analogy for consent	Tea is the key word for sex	teaching method - video
109	-tea as an analogy for sex	Cup of tea video - tea analogy for consent	there's a man who's offering someone tea and it's like if the person doesn't ask for tea, don't give them tea, if the person is unconscious, don't try to feed them tea	teaching method - video
110	-tea as an analogy for sex	Cup of tea video - tea analogy for consent	basically tea means sex	teaching method - video
111	-tea as an analogy for sex	Cup of tea video - tea analogy for consent	if they want the tea they're allowed to have the tea	teaching method - video

Appendix 21. Stage two: '*Coding*' – list of all initial codes (Chapter Three – page 70)

A table of all the initial codes was created for both research questions. In total there were 92 initial codes for the main research question and 48 initial codes for the sub-research question.

Initial codes for main research question

Code Sweep 2 - Initial subthemes	Count of Code Sweep 2
Alternative arrangements	7
Avaliability of contraception	2
Barriers to asking questions	8
Biological focus	1
Books source of information	2
Boys lack knowledge	7
Comedy videos help comfort levels	3
Consequences of confidential information being s	
Content not clear	
Content repetative	4
Content too simplisitic	6
CYP disengaged	7
CYP feel able to speak to parents	6
CYP want to learn	6
Discomfort around curriculum specific terminolog	
Discomfort around sanitary products	,
Discourage sexual activities	
Exposure to topics helps comfort levels	7
Exposule to topics helps control thevers	8
Facilitating personal characteristics of teacher	19
Facilitating teacher skills	22
Friends as educators	20
Friends as support networks	1
Gendered curriculum	15
Gendered views in society	
	7
Hetronormative agenda	
Hindering personal characteristics of teacher	17
Hindering teacher skills	
Impact of COVID	6
Importance of conversations	1
Incidental conversations	5
Inconsistency in teaching quality	
nternet source of information	
Keeping information confidential	13
Lack of communication between teachers	3
Lack of parental support	6
Lack of support and signposting	3
Lack of teaching	9
Learning about RSE in other lessons	15
Lessons boring	8
Lessons can be uncomfortable for CYP	1
LGBTQ+ agenda	9
Mental health	1

Narrative around sexual activites is negative	3
Negative narrative around masturbation	
Negative narrative around periods	3
Negative narratives around porn	2
Not taught about kinks	2
Not taught about masturbation	5
Not taught about pleasure	ĩ
Not taught how to have sex	E
Not taught how to improve sex life	ź
Nurse as preferred educator	12
Opening up to teachers	12
Parents as educator	2
Passive teaching style	2
Preference interactive lessons	E
Preferred ways to seek support	E
Prewarning about lesson content	12
Reliance on videos	8
Respecting and fostering confidentiality in the clas	12
Seating arrangements important	15
Social media source of information	Ę
Social media teaching tool	2
Support is not individualised	10
Support services in school	7
Teacher characteristic same sex	11
Teacher perceptions of accessing support	7
Terminology accessible	4
Topic not relevant to experience	8
Topic taught too late	7
Trusting teachers	6
TV source of information	4
Video content gendered	4
Videos inadequate	8
Teaching curriculum specific terminology	8
Knowledgeable, skilled educator	6
Facilitating participation	13
Behaviour management	6
Maturity	7
Learning about the opposite gender	14
Mixed classes	3
LGBTQ+ peer support is tokenistic	7
Content not memorable	6
Agelyear content is taught is important	12
Topic not inclusive of different cultures	2
Consequences of laughter	13
Poor behaviour hinders learning	4
Poor behaviour from minority	8
Chataging to make CVD feel more comfortable	4

Poor behaviour from minority Strategies to make CYP feel more comfortable

Protecting wellbeing of teacher

Generational shift

4 3 2

Initial codes for sub research question

Code Sweep 2 - Initial subthemes Count of Code Sweep	
Cup of tea video - tea analogy for consent	18
Binary definition	13
Lack of content	12
	11
CYP have experienced unhealthy relationships	9
Content not meaningful or relevant	9
Consent applies to different circumstances	8
Being able to say no	7
Missed topics - how to manage situations	7
Media source of information	6
Content taught too late	6
Pressures to have sex	6
Videos/scenarios as teaching tools	5
Parents source of information	5
Not taught about coercive and controlling relations	5
Consent linked to nature of relationship	5
Un/healthy relationships - identifying signs	5
Curriculum specific terminology	5
Effects of alcohol - lack of teaching	5
Strategies to make CYP feel more comfortable	4
Consent should be verbal	4
ack of knowledge around legal aspects of conser	4
Lack of support	4
Unhealthy relationships - how to support others	4
Being able to redact consent	4
Supportive parents	4
How to utilise videos	4
Content not memorable	4
Uncertainty around if it is consent	4
Negative narrative around relationships	3
Consent is not prioritised as a topic	3
Effects of alcohol - giving consent	3
Effects of alcohol - grining consent	5
Content repetative	3
Un/healthy relationships	3
Feeling ready	3
Not taught about cheating	3
Comfortable being single	3
Effects of alcohol - taking responsibility	3
Videos/scenarios relevant to CYP	3
Missed topics - what is right and wrong	2
Not taught how to act in a relationship	2
Negative expereinces	2
RSE should not be assessed	2
Signposting to support	2
Lack more knowledge around legal aspects more	1
CYP feel they know the answers	1
Prewarning	1
Comfortable being your own person	1

Appendix 22. Stage three: 'Generating initial themes' (Chapter Three – page 70)

At this stage the researcher began to cluster and collate codes into subthemes and themes. To aid this process the researcher created multiple thematic maps. After the initial generation of themes, the researcher realised they were too descriptive and not analytical.



Initial thematic maps (V.1)





* Not taught - how to improve sex life / pleasure / masturbation



* TV / internet / books / social media





*alcohol and unhealthy relationships could be combined with real life skills



*alcohol and unhealthy relationships could be combined with real life skills

Appendix 23. Stage four: '*Developing and reviewing themes*' (Chapter Three – page 70)

At this stage the researcher reviewed the themes and subthemes and referred to the original quotes and datasets. The research used pen and paper to allow fluidity to this process.

Code Sweep 2	T Quotes					
Topic not relevant to experience	Exactly no twelve year old is gonna wanna sit and listen about sex					
	I'm in year ten and they just like I don't know, they don't feel that relevant					
	like I don't know whether we need to know these things					
	like I've been on and off with my girlfriend, back and forth, back and forth and like they don't really tell you how to manage that so yeah it's just confusi					
	stuff that actually applies to us in real life.					
	they just don't seem to get that like everything isn't as easy as they make it out to be					
	they just tell you about things that aren't really real life, like they tell you about things that we just haven't done yet					
	They tell us when we're like twelve, it's like we're not gonna go around having sex when we're twelve					
Topic not relevant to experience Total						
Nurse as preferred educator	it's rather for your safety to go to a GP or your local doctors					
	Definitely a nurse					
	I think I preferred the nurse					
	I'd want nurses					
	in year five we had nurses coming to junior school to talk about it instead of the actually teachers					
	it will be like that's the information you have to write about and that was it					
	like in primary school you were taught by a nurse and then now in year seven or year eight or whatever year you are in, it's kind of like not as good					
	nurses because erm, they like, that's what they do, they look after you					
	school nurse is confidential					
	someone that's maybe like, like a nurse					
	that is good, that makes it better					
	like a nurse					
Nurse as preferred educator Total						
Negative narratives around porn	don't watch porn because it ruins sex and all that I saying that it teaches you wrong how to do it and it like fucks up your head basically					
Negative narratives around porn Total	why watching porn could be bad for young people like cause of the stuff it shows					
Learning about RSE in other lessons	, remembered doing an assembly on forced marriage, like, like we have our assemblies every Thursday morning					
Ecarning about HSE In other ressons	, remembered doing an assembly of norded manage, inc, ince we have our assemblies every musicagemoning I also thought we would be done in Apex					
	a also though we would be done it in Apex Dicked child development. I had to learn about the girls stuff like the periods and the contraception					
	in biology we're learning about different contraceptive methods at the moment					
	in the meantime in Apex we just adjudted the instead					
	in the mean mile in Apex we pay go taught he instead					
arning about RSE in other lessons To	tal					
Lash of tracking						
Lack or teaching	I haven't been taught about anything yet in seniors					
Lack of leacning	I haven't been taught about anything yet in seniors in PSHE one lesson we did the puberty but that was it					
Lack of teaching	in PSHE one lesson we did the puberty but that was it					
Lack of teaching	in PSHE one lesson we did the puberty but that was it one a week every half term or every other half term or something like that, not much at all					
Lack of teaching	in PSHE one lesson we did the puberty but that was it one a week every half term or every other half term or something like that, not much at all taught very little					
Lack of teaching	in PSHE one lession we did the puberty but that was it one a week every half term or every other half term or something like that, not much at all taught very little that was just like a lesson want it					
Lack or leaching	in PSHE one lession we did the puberty but that was it one a week every half term or every other half term or something like that, not much at all taught very little that was just like a lesson want it they don't like specifically teach it					
Lack of teaching	in PSHE one lession we did the puberty but that was it one a week every half term or every other half term or something like that, not much at all taught very little that was just like a lesson want it they don't like specifically teach it they teach it like once, I think they should teach it every year					
Lack of teaching	in PSHE one lession we did the puberty but that was it one a week every half term or every other half term or something like that, not much at all taught every little that was just like a lesson want it they don't like specifically teach it they teach it like once, I think they should teach it every year Uh, well not much					
	in PSHE one lession we did the puberty but that was it one a week every half term or every other half term or something like that, not much at all taught very little that was just like a lesson want it they don't like specifically teach it they teach it like once, I think they should teach it every year					
ck of teaching Total	in PSHE one lession we did the puberty but that was it one a week every half term or every other half term or something like that, not much at all taught very little that was just like a lesson want it they don't like specifically teach it they teach it like once, I think they should teach it every year Uh, well not much there weren't really that much on it to be honest					
Lack of teaching Total Hindering teacher skills	in PSHE one lession we did the puberty but that was it one a week every half term or every other half term or something like that, not much at all taught every little that was just like a lesson want it they don't like once, I think they should teach it every year Uh, well not much there weren't really that much on it to be honest actually he is being strict, it is just like not helpful, he's got a certain way of teaching					
ck of teaching Total	in PSHE one lession we did the puberty but that was it one a week every half term or every other half term or something like that, not much at all taught very little that was just like a lesson want it they don't like specifically teach it they teach it like once, I think they should teach it every year Uh, well not much there weren't really that much on it to be honest actually he is being strict, it is just like not helpful, he's got a certain way of teaching don't know if they're like shouling at you for talking or whatever					
ck of teaching Total	in PSHE one lession we did the puberty but that was it one a week every half term or every other half term or something like that, not much at all taught very little that was just like a lesson want it they don't like specifically teach it they teach it like once. I think they should teach it every year Uh, well not much there weren't really that much on it to be honest actually he is being strict, it is just like not helpful, he's got a certain way of teaching don't know if they're like shouting at you for talking or whatever he says like you can't talk in my classes, and he'll say I'm not being strict your just not allowed to talk					
ck of teaching Total	in PSHE one lession we did the puberty but that was it one a week every half term or every other half term or something like that, not much at all taught every little that was just like a lesson want it they don't like once, I think they should teach it every year Uh, well not much there weren't really that much on it to be honest actually he is being strict, it is just like not helpful, he's got a certain way of teaching don't know if they're like shouting at you for talking or whatever he says like you can't talk in my classes, and he'll say I'm not being strict your just not allowed to talk he'd be like let's not do this and we can move on					
ck of teaching Total	in PSHE one lession we did the puberty but that was it one a week every half term or every other half term or something like that, not much at all taught very little that was just like a lesson want it they don't like specifically teach it they don't like once, I think they should teach it every year Uh, well not much there weren't really that much on it to be honest actually he is being strict, it is just like not helpful, he's got a certain way of teaching don't know if they're like shouting at you for talking or whatever he says like you can't talk in my classes, and he'll say I'm not being strict your just not allowed to talk he'd be like let's not do this and we can move on if you've got a cover in sex education it's just diamatic					
ck of teaching Total	in PSHE one lession we did the puberty but that was it one a week every half term or every other half term or something like that, not much at all taught every little that was just like a lesson want it they don't like once. I think they should teach it every year Uh, well not much there weren't really that much on it to be honest actually he is being strict, it is just like not helpful, he's got a certain way of teaching don't know if they're like shouting at you for talking or whatever he says like you can't talk in my classes, and he'll say I'm not being strict your just not allowed to talk he'd be like let's not do this and we can move on if you've got a cover in sex education it's just dramatic on the other hand he's really strict					
ck of teaching Total	in PSHE one lession we did the puberty but that was it one a week every half term or every other half term or something like that, not much at all taught very little that was just like a lesson want it they don't like specifically teach it they don't like once, I think they should teach it every year Uh, well not much there weren't really that much on it to be honest actually he is being strict, it is just like not helpful, he's got a certain way of teaching don't know if they're like shouting at you for talking or whatever he says like you can't talk in my classes, and he'll say I'm not being strict your just not allowed to talk he'd be like let's not do this and we can move on if you've got a cover in sex education it's just diamatic					
ck of teaching Total	in PSHE one lession we did the puberty but that was it one a week every half term or every other half term or something like that, not much at all taught every little that was just like a lesson want it they don't like once. I think they should teach it every year Uh, well not much there weren't really that much on it to be honest actually he is being strict, it is just like not helpful, he's got a certain way of teaching don't know if they're like shouting at you for talking or whatever he says like you can't talk in my classes, and he'll say I'm not being strict your just not allowed to talk he'd be like let's not do this and we can move on if you've got a cover in sex education it's just dramatic on the other hand he's really strict					
ck of teaching Total	in PSHE one lession we did the puberty but that was it one a week every half term or every other half term or something like that, not much at all taught very little that was just like a lesson want it they don't like specifically teach it they teach it like specifically teach it they teach it like once, I think they should teach it every year Uh, well not much there weren't really that much on it to be honest actually he is being strict, it is just like not helpful, he's got a certain way of teaching don't know if they're like shouting at you for talking or whatever he says like you can't talk in my classes, and he'll say I'm not being strict your just not allowed to talk he'd be like let's not do this and we can move on if you've got a cover in sex education it's just dramatic on the other hand he's really strict					
ck of teaching Total	in PSHE one lession we did the puberty but that was it one a week every half term or every other half term or something like that, not much at all taught very little that was just like a lesson want it they don't like specifically teach it they don't like once, I think they should teach it every year Uh, well not much there weren't really that much on it to be honest actually he is being strict, it is just like not helpful, he's got a certain way of teaching don't know it they're like shouting at you for talking or whatever he says like you can't talk in my classes, and he'll say I'm not being strict your just not allowed to talk he'd be like let's not do this and we can move on if you've got a cover in sex education it's just dramatic on the other hand he's really strict some teachers who do it really babyishly and there are always like giggling everything and that's not like good Strict					
ck of teaching Total	in PSHE one lession we did the puberty but that was it one a week every half term or every other half term or something like that, not much at all taught every little that was just like a lesson want it they don't like once, I bink they should teach it every year Uh, well not much there weren't really that much on it to be honest actually he is being strict, it is just like not helpful, he's got a certain way of teaching don't know if they're like shouting at you for talking or whatever he says like you can't talk in my classes, and he'll say I'm not being strict your just not allowed to talk he'd be like let's not do this and we can move on if you've got a cover in sex education it's just dramatic on the other hand he's really justic.					
ck of teaching Total	in PSHE one lession we did the puberty but that was it one a week every half term or every other half term or something like that, not much at all taught very little that was just like a lesson want it they don't like specifically teach it they teach it like specifically teach it they teach it like specifically teach it they teach it like specifically teach it there weren't really that much on it to be honest actually he is being strict, it is just like not helpful, he's got a certain way of teaching don't know if they're like shouting at you for talking or whatever he says like you can't talk in my classes, and he'll say I'm not being strict your just not allowed to talk he'd be like let's not do this and we can move on if you've got a cover in sex education it's just dramatic on the other hand he's really strict some teachers who do it really bayishly and there are always like giggling everything and that's not like good Strict teachers and supplies and when it's supplies its awful there's a bunch of really s ^{mer} ones					
ck of teaching Total	in PSHE one lession we did the puberty but that was it one a week very half term or every other half term or something like that, not much at all taught very little that was just like a lesson want it they don't like specifically teach it they teach it like specifically teach it they teach it like once, I think they should teach it every year Uh, well not much there weren't really that much on it to be honest actually he is being strict, it is just like not helpful, he's got a certain way of teaching don't know if they're like shouting at you for talking or whatever he says like of u can't talk in my classes, and he'll say I'm not being strict your just not allowed to talk he'd be like let's not do this and we can move on if you've got a cover in sex education it's just dramatic on the other hand he's really strict some teachers who do it really babyishly and there are always like giggling everything and that's not like good Strict teachers and supplies and when it's supplies its awful there's a bunch of really s ^{****} ones they were teaching it to us as if we ware people who they deemed weren't old enough and mature enough to have sex they each reals.					
ck of teaching Total	in PSHE one lession we did the puberty but that was it one a week every half term or every other half term or something like that, not much at all taught every little that was just like a lesson want it they don't like specifically teach it they don't like specifically teach it they teach it like once. I think they should teach it every year Uh, well not much there weren't really that much on it to be honest actually he is being strict, it is just like not helpful, he's got a certain way of teaching don't know if they're like shouting at you for talking or whatever he says like you can't talk in my classes, and he'll say I'm not being strict your just not allowed to talk he'd be like let's not do this and we can move on if you've got a cover in sex education it's just dramatic on the other hand he's really strict some teachers who do it really bayishly and there are always like giggling everything and that's not like good Strict teachers and supplies and when it's supplies its awful there's a bunch of really s ^{me} ones they were teaching it to us as if we were people who they deemed weren't old enough and mature enough to have sex the teacher yells at the entire class they used the only on give you verbal's or written's or whatever they don't actually tell you what to do2					
ck of teaching Total	in PSHE one lession we did the puberty but that was it one a week every half term or every other half term or something like that, not much at all taught very little that was just like a lesson want it they don't like specifically teach it they don't like once, I think they should teach it every year Uh, well not much there weren't really that much on it to be honest actually he is being strict, it is just like not helpful, he's got a certain way of teaching don't know if they're like shouting at you for taking or whatever he says like you can't tak in my classes, and he'll say I'm not being strict your just not allowed to tak he'd be like let's not do this and we can move on if you've got a cover in sex education it's just dramatic on the other hand he's really strict some teachers who do it really babyishly and there are always like giggling everything and that's not like good Strict teachers and supplies and when it's supplies its awful there's a bunch of really somes they were teaching it to us as if we were people who they deemed weren't old enough and mature enough to have sex the teacher yells at the entire class they just tell you off or give you verbal's or written's or whatever they don't actually tell you what to do2 if you don't how what to do you'll just get a written for it like they don't help					
ck of teaching Total	in PSHE one lession we did the puberty but that was it one a week every half term or every other half term or something like that, not much at all taught very little that was just like a lesson want it they don't like specifically teach it they don't like specifically teach it they teach it like once, I think they should teach it every year Uh, well not much there weren't really that much on it to be honest actually he is being strict, it is just like not helpful, he's got a certain way of teaching don't know if they're like shouling at you for talking or whatever he says like you can't talk in my classes, and he'll say I'm not being strict your just not allowed to talk he'd be like let's not do this and we can move on if you've got a cover in sex education it's just dramatic on the other hand he's really strict some teachers who do it really bainship and there are always like giggling everything and that's not like good Strict teachers and supplies and when it's supplies its awful there's a bunch of really s ^{***} ones they were teaching it to us as if we were people who they deemed weren't old enough and mature enough to have sex the teacher yealls at the entire class they just tell you off or give you verbal's or written's or whatever they don't actually tell you what to do2 if you don't know what to do you'll just get a written for it like they don't help in the teachers head it's like if you don't look at them you can't here them, it's like not always easy when I feel uncomfortable					
ck of teaching Total	in PSHE one lession we did the puberty but that was it one a week every half term or every other half term or something like that, not much at all taught very little that was just like a lesson want it they don't like specifically teach it they don't like specifically teach it they teach it like once, I think they should teach it every year Uh, well not much there weren't really that much on it to be honest actually he is being strict, it is just like not helpful, he's got a certain way of teaching don't know it they're like shouting at you for talking or whatever he says like you can't talk in my classes, and he'll say I'm not being strict your just not allowed to talk he'd be like let's not do this and we can move on if you're got a cover in sex education it's just dramatic on the other hand he's really strict some teachers who do it really babyishly and there are always like giggling everything and that's not like good Strict teachers and supplies and when it's supplies its awful there's a bunch of really strict some teachers who do it really babyishly and there are always like giggling everything and that's not like good Strict teachers and supplies and when it's supplies its awful there's a bunch of really set'' ones they were teaching it to us as if we were people who they deemed weren't old enough and mature enough to have sex the teacher yells at the entire class they use they use of or you verbal's or written's or whatever they don't actually tell you what to do? if you don't know what to do you'll just get a written for it like they don't help in the teachers who at like it's out don't look at them you can't hear them, i's like not always easy when I feel uncomfortable when I'm not looking at the teacher they think I'm not listening					
ck of teaching Total Hindering teacher skills	in PSHE one lession we did the puberty but that was it one a week every half term or every other half term or something like that, not much at all taught very little that was just like a lesson want it they don't like specifically teach it they don't like specifically teach it they teach it like once, I think they should teach it every year Uh, well not much there weren't really that much on it to be honest actually he is being strict, it is just like not helpful, he's got a certain way of teaching don't know if they're like shouling at you for talking or whatever he says like you can't talk in my classes, and he'll say I'm not being strict your just not allowed to talk he'd be like let's not do this and we can move on if you've got a cover in sex education it's just dramatic on the other hand he's really strict some teachers who do it really bainship and there are always like giggling everything and that's not like good Strict teachers and supplies and when it's supplies its awful there's a bunch of really s ^{***} ones they were teaching it to us as if we were people who they deemed weren't old enough and mature enough to have sex the teacher yealls at the entire class they just tell you off or give you verbal's or written's or whatever they don't actually tell you what to do2 if you don't know what to do you'll just get a written for it like they don't help in the teachers head it's like if you don't look at them you can't here them, it's like not always easy when I feel uncomfortable					
ck of teaching Total Hindering teacher skills ndering teacher skills Total	in PSHE one lession we did the puberty but that was it one a week every half term or every other half term or something like that, not much at all taught very little that was just like a lesson want it they don't like specifically teach it they don't like specifically teach it they teach it like once, I think they should teach it every year Uh, well not much there weren't really that much on it to be honest actually he is being strict, it is just like not helpful, he's got a certain way of teaching don't know if they're like shouting at you for talking or whatever he says like you can't talk in my classes, and he'll say I'm not being strict your just not allowed to talk he'd be like let's not do this and we can move on if you've got a cover in sex education it's just dramatic on the other hand he's really strict some teachers who do it really bainshy and there are always like giggling everything and that's not like good Strict teachers and supplies and when it's supplies its awful there's a bunch of really s ^{mor} ones they were teaching it to us as if we were people who they deemed weren't old enough and mature enough to have sex they ever teaching it to us as if we were people who they deemed weren't old enough and mature enough to have sex they user teaching it to us as if we written's or whatever they don't actually tell you what to do2 if you don't know what to do you'll just get a written's or whatever they don't actually tell you what to do2 if you don't know what to do you'll just get a written for it like they don't here, it's like not always easy when I feel uncomfortable when I'm not looking at the teacher they think I'm not listening you have to look at them to hear them, but then you get told off for looking at them					
ck of teaching Total findering teacher skills	in PSHE one lession we did the puberty but that was it one a week every half term or every other half term or something like that, not much at all taught very little that was just like a lesson want it they don't like specifically teach it they don't like specifically teach it they teach it like once, I think they should teach it every year Uh, well not much there weren't really that much on it to be honest actually he is being strict, it is just like not helpful, he's got a certain way of teaching don't know it they're like shouting at you for talking or whatever he says like you can't talk in my classes, and he'll say I'm not being strict your just not allowed to talk he'd be like let's not do this and we can move on if you're got a cover in sex education it's just dramatic on the other hand he's really strict some teachers who do it really babyishly and there are always like giggling everything and that's not like good Strict teachers and supplies and when it's supplies its awful there's a bunch of really strict some teachers yells at the entire class they were teaching it to us as if we were people who they deemed weren't old enough and mature enough to have sex the teacher yells at the entire class they use the low of now in some there's or whatever they don't actually tell you what to do? if you don't know what to do you'll just get a written's or whatever they don't help in the teachers head it is like if you don't low. At them you can't hear therm, it's like not always easy when I feel uncomfortable when I'm not looking at the teacher they, but hink 'm not listening you have to look at them to hear them, but then you get told off for looking at them					
ck of teaching Total findering teacher skills ndering teacher skills Total	in PSHE one lession we did the puberty but that was it one a week very half term or every other half term or something like that, not much at all taught very little that was just like a lesson want it they don't like specifically teach it they teach it like specifically teach it they teach it like specifically teach it there weren't really that much on it to be honest actually he is being strict, it is just like not helpful, he's got a certain way of teaching don't know if they're like shouting at you for talking or whatever he says like you can't talk in my classes, and he'll say I'm not being strict your just not allowed to talk he'd be like et's not do this and we can move on if you've got a cover in sex education it's just dramatic on the other hand he's really strict some teachers who do it really babyishly and there are always like giggling everything and that's not like good Strict teachers and supplies and when it's supplies its awful there's a bunch of really s ^{****} ones they were teaching it to us as if we were people who they deemed weren't old enough and mature enough to have sex they teachers head it's like if you don't lok do you'll just get a writen for it like they don't help in the teachers head it's like if you don't lok at them you can't hear they don't help in the teachers head it's like if you don't lok at them you can't hear they don't help in the teachers head it's like if you don't lok at them you can't hear then, it's like not always easy when I feel uncomfortable when I'm not loking at the teacher they think I'm not listening you have to look at them to hear them, but then you get told of for looking at them and my best friend too cos you're like same age and you feel more comfortable					
ck of teaching Total Tindering teacher skills	in PSHE one lession we did the puberty but that was it one a week every half term or every other half term or something like that, not much at all taught very little that was just like a lesson want it they don't like specifically teach it they don't like specifically teach it they teach it like once, I think they should teach it every year Uh, well not much there weren't really that much on it to be honest actually he is being strict, it is just like not helpful, he's got a certain way of teaching don't know it they're like shouting at you for talking or whatever he says like you can't talk in my classes, and he'll say I'm not being strict your just not allowed to talk he'd be like let's not do this and we can move on if you're got a cover in sex education it's just dramatic on the other hand he's really strict some teachers who do it really babyishly and there are always like giggling everything and that's not like good Strict teachers and supplies and when it's supplies its awful there's a bunch of really strict some teachers yells at the entire class they were teaching it to us as if we were people who they deemed weren't old enough and mature enough to have sex the teacher yells at the entire class they use the low of now in some there's or whatever they don't actually tell you what to do? if you don't know what to do you'll just get a written's or whatever they don't help in the teachers head it is like if you don't low. At them you can't hear therm, it's like not always easy when I feel uncomfortable when I'm not looking at the teacher they, but hink 'm not listening you have to look at them to hear them, but then you get told off for looking at them					

Example of thematic maps for RSE and consent (V2)



	2.91/20 440	Seachailtean		Contraction Contraction		
quarity of consent		dispary down	Anon of come and the - more of an particle in the - cane of the for	Sources of induced	tools	hearing I un relationsips
auriaun.	saduly	ethos of aread	- one have to be add	come or support		- no so an con
speafic Econology	arond Regard	fear of anoi - lare	the couper and to are in	- up of the arms and	Vicceolsonios racune to	un incomy incompos
Consent is hot provinsem	noe tangre	teaning	- me par mere and 1 - one a	no - Juno / Summer Country of UM many I underning tearmings more no 107 June view mereorys	how to utilise	regatur
as a topic	oncarrig	of ng consent	- Lautor many - Port		Urceos	around inations
CONTENT	- now to manage au	ffers of ing			Uraceos 1 scenarios as tecenny baois	mi harry
concent Thught too late.		DRUNJAINY	apic	Sources	cup of tea	how to sugar others
conent not meaningful	right i wong	supr	and the second	of internation	chaiogy for consent	uniheertry i ciotararas - iantegray
or recent	not tage how to ase	Schapping to		medica as Disa		CYP have
content not memorrable	na matomip cocicient	signpoore	Mines to make the something	a source conser of information parer	no.	copeinie on unneutry record horizs
CONSENT	controlling relationships					
	New Market Concerne	11125 M 10 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1				

Appendix 24. Stage five '*Refining, defining, and naming themes*' (Chapter Three – page 70)

At this stage the researcher gave each theme and subtheme a clear, specific and unique label to allow boundaries between themes. The thematic maps were revised for the third time. To support transparency of the study, theme names were slightly tweaked during stage 6, the write up.

Revised thematic map (V.2)



Appendix 25. Dissemination letter sent to the youth group staff to distribute to parents and guardians of the young people who took part in the study.

School of Psychology - Guardian Debrief Sheet



A qualitative exploration of young people's experiences of how consent is taught as part of the Relationship and Sex Education curriculum.

Ethics Approval Number: S1425 Researcher: Sophie Cave - sophie.cave@nottingham.ac.uk Supervisor: Russell Hounslow - russell.hounslow@nottingham.ac.uk

The aim of this research was to explore young people's experiences of the Relationship and Sex Education curriculum, with an additional focus on how consent is taught in schools. The research is invaluable as there is not a lot known about this topic.

Findings

It felt important to share the findings of this study with you as parents, carers, and youth group staff. Sharing a summary of the research findings allows for transparency of knowledge, as well as offering an opportunity for further signposting and support.

Overall, it was suggested by the young people who took part in the study that the Relationship and Sex Education curriculum which is currently taught in schools remains unsatisfactory.

The main findings suggested that aspects of the curriculum that are important to young people is not the same as that written in government policy. Many young people spoke about wanting a curriculum which is inclusive, age appropriate and discusses relationships in a more positive way.

Many young people also discussed a disconnect between teaching approaches, instead aspiring for lessons which are engaging and delivered by confident and knowledgeable educators. Young people also spoke about the need for a learning environment which fosters feelings of safety and comfort, and a school system which allows for young people to seek support and guidance from trusting adults.

Older young people were asked about their understanding of sexual consent and how it has been taught in schools. The findings suggested that there are discrepancies in young people's knowledge of sexual consent, thus suggesting a possible need for a greater education around healthy relationships and keeping young people safe.

Support and advice

We hope that young people enjoyed taking part in the study, and we are grateful for the contribution that they made about this important topic. As was described in the original study information sheet, young people were provided with an opportunity to discuss any concerns that they might have held after taking part in a focus group of interview and a list of charities or organisations that could provide further advice or support was made available. I have listed this information again below, in case it is useful for your as a parent or guardian

Childline

Website: https://www.childline.org.uk/info-advice/friends-relationships-sex/sex-relationships/ Contact: https://www.childline.org.uk/get-support/

Brook

Website: https://www.brook.org.uk/topics/sex/ Contact: https://www.brook.org.uk/find-a-service/

Disrespect NoBody

Website: https://www.disrespectnobody.co.uk/ Contact: https://www.disrespectnobody.co.uk/need-help/

Rape Crisis

 $Website: https://rapecrisis.org.uk/get-informed/about-sexual-violence/sexual-consent/\ Contact: https://rapecrisis.org.uk/get-help/want-to-talk/$

I hope the following helps to summarise the research findings and offers further support to you as a parent or guardian. If you have any remaining questions, please contact me via the email at the top of this page.

Sophie Cave

If you have any complaints about the study, please contact: Stephen Jackson (Chair of Ethics Committee) stephen.jackson@nottingham.ac.uk